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MESSAGE FROM THE CHAIRMAN 
 
 

Terreïs reported another year of double-digit growth in its key value 

creation indicators in 2014. The NAV for liquidation purposes rose 

16.8%, to €31.83 per share. This rise reflects and validates the 

strategy of focusing on assets in the Central Business District (CBD) 

of Paris. 

 

Thus, in 2014, we disposed of €35.4 million of residential and regional 

assets. At the same time, we bought commercial property worth 

€84.5 million in the Paris CBD. 

 

Now more than ever, Terreïs is positioned as the Parisian real estate 

company, with 98% of its assets in Paris and the Paris region. 

 

Thanks to our sound financial structure (LTV of 48%), combined with 

the disposal of non-strategic assets (Ile de France, regional and 

residential), we will be able to reinvest in the Paris CBD, at the same 

time keeping to our golden rule: buying premium-quality commercial 

real estate at the best price. 

 

 

 

Jacky Lorenzetti 

Chairman of the Board of Directors 
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HISTORY AND STRATEGIC POSITIONING 
 
History 

 
Established on 17 April 2000 with the name 

‘Foncière Foncia’, Terreïs was a subsidiary of the 

Foncia Group until its shares were listed on the 

Euronext Paris market in December 2006.  

 

Terreïs was originally set up to manage the real 

estate assets acquired by the Foncia Group as it 

bought up businesses and property management 

companies. 

 

Some of the property management companies which 

owned their premises wanted to sell their business 

and the premises at the same time. If the location 

and quality of the real estate were considered good 

enough, the Foncia Group, through its dedicated 

subsidiary, would buy the business premises of 

property management firms in addition to the 

business itself. These transactions were 

systematically financed based on fixed-rate loans. 

The premises would then be leased back to the 

property management company, by now a Foncia 

Group subsidiary. 

 

After its shares were listed on the Euronext Paris 

market in December 2006, and until mid-2008, 

Terreïs invested in small and mid-sized office and 

retail premises, mainly in city centre locations in 

Paris and in major cities throughout France. The 

Company has grown on the back of, in particular, the 

commercial leases currently managed by the 

network of Foncia Group companies, and through 

acquisitions facilitated by the ability of this network to 

introduce new business.  

 

In early 2009, the Company stepped up its 

acquisition strategy to take advantage of numerous 

market opportunities, and acquired mixed-use 

properties in the Paris CBD. 

 

Two corporate structuring transactions marked the 

beginning of 2011: (i) the absorption of the DAB 

Expansion and its subsidiary Avenir & Investment, 

the real estate portfolio of which was mainly 

comprised of Haussman-style residential buildings in 

the best Paris neighbourhoods, and (ii) a capital 

increase in cash of €96.3 million.  

 

In 2014, the Company continued (i) its shift into the 

services sector with the gradual refocusing of its 

asset base towards Paris commercial real estate and 

(ii) the divestiture of its regional assets to focus 

exclusively on Paris and its close suburbs.  

 

At the end of 2014, 98% of the Company’s real 

estate portfolio was located in Paris and the Paris 

region. Its value was estimated at €1.6 billion. 

 
Strategic positioning 

 
Terreïs is characterised by its positioning as a long-
term and proactive investor, structured around two 
main areas: 

1°) Value creation, starting from the time of 

acquisition: property is acquired on 

advantageous terms and investments are 

geared toward top-of-the range assets in Paris, 

selected according to strict criteria (multi-

tenancy, occupancy rate, etc.). The value 

created since 2009 therefore stands at over 

€410 million, of which €118 million in 2014, 

according to the estimates of valuers. 

2°) Adapting structures to the 

development strategy, by keeping costs to a 

minimum. Terreïs is therefore a majority 

shareholder of: 

 Terreïs Real Estate, an asset management 

subsidiary in charge of renting and selling 

Terreïs assets, 

 Imodam, a property management company. 
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ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

SIIC scope 

 

0.11% 

0.10% 

0.10% 

1.00% 

0.01% 

100% 

100% 

TERREÏS INVEST 

 

TERREÏS 

VALORISATION 

SCI des 11 à 15 

avenue Lebrun 

SCI de 20 rue Louis 

Philippe in Neuilly 

SCI 102, rue du 
Faubourg Saint 

Honoré 

SCI Les Fleurs de 

Damrémont 

SCI de 29 Taitbout 

Immobilier 

 

Transfer of core target real 
estate assets 

Directly held assets 

TERREÏS REAL 

ESTATE 

99.99% 

99.89% 

99.90% 

99.90% 

99.00% 

51% 

  Ovalto Investissement is the Lorenzetti family’s wealth management company.  

  Terreïs Valorisation, a property trading company, is a vehicle created to ensure that Terreïs achieves its targets and 

profitability objectives.  

  The main business of Terreïs Real Estate is selling residential assets from the Terreïs real estate portfolio. 

  The main business of Imodam is the rental management of Terreïs' real estate portfolio. 

IMODAM 
60% 

 

54.38% 
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KEY FIGURES 
 

 2010 
2011 

published 
2011 

restated 
2012 2013 2014 

Key figures       

Real estate portfolio (in m2) 97,723 199,650 199,650 197,310 212,308 213,620 

Number of properties 167 189 189 143 128 125 

Occupancy rate 98.6% 92.1% 92.1% 93.1% 95.5% 95.3% 

       

Adjusted valuation of the real estate portfolio 
(€ 000s) 

458,437 1,085,267 1,085,267 1,138,326 1,426,509 1,595,542 

Adjusted NAV for liquidation purposes (€ 
000s) 

146,204 497,464 497,464 602,605 689,553 817,048 

Adjusted NAV for replacement purposes (€ 
000s) 

174,627 564,571 564,752 673,181 777,997 918,592 

       

Investments, including taxes (€ 000s) 146,937 375,852 375,852 41,695 257,051 95,074 

Disposals (€ 000s) 1,122 33,776 33,776 56,155 42,099 35,379 

Shareholders’ equity (€ 000s) 72,314 230,093 172,568 195,020 230,432 207,312 

Net debt (€ 000s) 300,245 536,293 535,810 517,152 726,321 772,057 

       

Rental income (€ 000s) 21,240 41,540 41,540 58,311 61,798 71,923 

Current operating cash flow (€ 000s) (1) 18,787 35,540 35,540 50,672 54,743 66,087 

Group net income (€ 000s) 2,308 35,616 9,613 59,686 32,164 33,794 

Cash flow (€ 000s) 10,743 25,886 25,886 26,288 30,169 36,968 

Current cash flow (€ 000s) (2) 10,743 34,920 16,518 9,119 29,111 37,390 

       

Key figures per share       

NAV for liquidation purposes (€) 18.28 19.70 19.70 23.86 27.31 31.83 

NAV including tax (€) 21.83 22.36 22.36 26.66 30.81 35.78 

Cash flow (€) 1.34 1.03 1.03 1.04 1.19 1.45 

Dividend (€) 0.49 0.57 0.57 0.61 0.64 0.70(3) 

Number of shares in issue at 31/12 7,871,693 25,127,568 25,127,568 25,259,750 25,259,750 
25,469,750(4

) 
Number of diluted shares at 31/12, 
excluding treasury shares (see Note 13, 
page 66) 

7,998,975 25,254,750 25,254,750 25,254,423 25,252,918 25,671,095 

 
(1) current operating income + allocation to depreciation and provisions 

(2) cash flow restated of other operating income and expenses 

(3) submitted to the vote of the General Meeting of 6 May 2015 

(4) of which 210,000 Series 2 Preference Shares with a par value of €2 each. 
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FACT SHEET 
 
 

ISIN Codes: FR0010407049  

Mnemonic TER 

Market Euronext Paris - B Compartment 

Eligible for PEA share savings plan Not eligible (except for shares acquired prior to 21 October 2011) 

Capitalisation as at 31/12/2014 €657,569,000 

Number of listed shares 24,945,702 

% float as at 31/12/2014 45.2% 

 
 

Annual stock market data 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 

Highest price (€) 12.88 14.53 14.84 20.85 29.55 

Lowest price (€) 9.16 11.30 12.60 13.20 19.50 

Last price of the financial year (€) 12.28 13.00 13.55 20.40 26.70 

      
Number of listed shares as at 31 December 7,871,693 24,785,499 24,926,739 24,942,762 24,945,702 

      
Volume traded  500,785 1,501,682 1,331,424 2,006,762 1,934,067 

Average daily volume 1,964 5,843 5,201 7,901 7,614 

 
 

Monthly 
data 2014 

Jan Feb Mar Apr May Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec 

Highest 21.60 23.60 24.80 24.47 24.40 27.99 29.55 26.80 27.20 26.30 26.00 26.80 

Lowest 19.50 21.20 22.80 23.88 23.93 24.25 24.80 25.75 25.50 24.55 24.16 25.26 
Volume 
traded 153,619 55,117 339,413 141,859 49,697 212,082 101,674 22,970 75,657 60,577 685,788 41,675 
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LEGAL AND FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

MANAGEMENT REPORT FOR 2014 

 

 

OPERATING HIGHLIGHTS .................................................................................................Erreur ! Signet non défini. 

ANALYSIS OF RESULTS AND FINANCIAL SITUATION ....................................................Erreur ! Signet non défini. 

CORPORATE EARNINGS & DIVIDEND PROPOSAL .........................................................Erreur ! Signet non défini. 

OUTLOOK ............................................................................................................................Erreur ! Signet non défini. 

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHAREHOLDERS ..........................................................................Erreur ! Signet non défini. 

ADMINISTRATION AND MANAGEMENT ...........................................................................Erreur ! Signet non défini. 

RISK FACTORS ...................................................................................................................Erreur ! Signet non défini. 

OTHER INFORMATION ABOUT THE BUSINESS ..............................................................Erreur ! Signet non défini. 

STATEMENT OF RESULTS FOR THE LAST FIVE FINANCIAL YEARS ............................Erreur ! Signet non défini. 
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OPERATING HIGHLIGHTS 
 

 

 
 

 

 

 Revalued real estate portfolio    €1.596 million (x 3.5 in 4 years) 

 Rental income    €71.9 million (up 16.4%) 

 Net income   €34.3 million (up 5.8%) 

 Current cash flow before disposals    €37 million (up 22.5%) 

 EPRA Liquidation NAV      €31.83 per share (up 16.8%) 

 Proposed dividend for 2014*   €0.70 (+9.4%) 

 % of assets in Paris    87%  

 Value created since 2009 in revaluation of assets €410 million 

 

* Subject to the approval of the General Meeting of 6 May 2015 

 

 

 

 

  



 

Terreïs 2014 Annual Report 
12 

ANALYSIS OF RESULTS AND FINANCIAL SITUATION 
 
 
Rental & property management 

 

Terreïs continued its strategy of refocusing and developing its portfolio of office space in Paris by careful 

management of its leases.  

Management indicators thus remained at high levels: 

 the occupancy rate of its commercial portfolio was 95.3%. 

 tight control of property charges enabled the re-invoicing rate to be maintained at a high level: ‘triple 

net’ leases, i.e. net of property charges, management fees and re-letting fees, accounted for 99.6% of gross 

rents. 

 

 

Investments and disposals in 2014 

 

 Trading in the property assets of the Terreïs group: 

Terreïs continued to pursue its strategy of gradually refocusing its real estate portfolio on top quality commercial 

property in the Central Business District of Paris (the ‘Paris CBD’). For example, it has disposed of part of its 

provincial real estate and continues to sell off its residential assets as and when they are vacated.  

 

During the year, disposals amounted to €35.4 million, at prices exceeding 2013 valuations. They generated a book 

gain of over €26.5 million. 

 

 Increased investments in the Paris CBD 

Terreïs increased its commercial property portfolio in the Paris CBD by buying a 6,157 sq.m office building (with 40 

parking lots) in the heart of the CBD, at 41 avenue de Friedland (Paris 8th arrondissement) and 900 sq.m of office 

space (+24 parking lots), at 43-47 Avenue de la Grande Armée (Paris 16e). 

 

 
Re-structuring its property management 

 
At the end of 2013 Terreïs acquired a 60% stake in Imodam, traditionally the manager of its real estate portfolio. Its 
CEO, Olivier Lafosse, has kept the remaining 40%. This “vertical integration” has enabled Terreïs to ensure continuity 
in the management of its buildings.  
 
The main impact on consolidated income was as follows: 

- Cancellation of management fees paid to Imodam (- €1,509,000 in 2013) 

- Absorption of the company's revenue and expenses (a net impact of -€168,000 in 2014) 

 

(in € 000s) 31/12/2014 31/12/2013 

Rental income 1,754 0 

Imodam management fees 0 -1,509 

Payroll costs -1,152 0 

External charges -326 0 

Miscellaneous -34 0 

Corporation taxes -410 0 

Impact on profit (loss) -168 -1,509 

 
The acquisition of Imodam on 31 December 2013 generated net savings of €1,341,000 for the group in 2014. 
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Real estate portfolio 

 
At end 2014, Terreïs’s property assets were made up of 87% in Paris-based property, 11% in assets in Ile-de-France 
and 2% in regional assets. At the end of 2011, the comparable weighting of the assets was 78%, 15% and 7% 
respectively. 
 

 

 
 

As a result of Terreïs maintaining its policy of moving into the commercial property sector, 86% of the real estate 

portfolio is now in office and retail property. 

 
These changes illustrate the strategy, which was launched four years ago, of refocusing on office property in Paris, 
and more particularly in the CBD. 
 

These photographs of the asset portfolio are based on the valuations prepared each year by BNP Real Estate. At 

end 2014, an expert assessment of Terreïs' assets resulted in another positive revaluation (up 8%).  

 

Since its listing on the Stock Exchange, Terreïs has always received positive revaluations from valuers.  

 

Since 2009, a total of €410 million of value has been created, €118 million of which was created in 2014. 
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Overall, the real estate portfolio (excluding tax) changed as follows: 

 

 
 

Based on the estimates used by valuers, the total return on the office and retail portfolio stands at 5.34% and 

residential buildings at €9,131/m2. 

 

 

EPRA adjusted net value  

 

In 2014, thanks to the positive assessment of valuers, the Group's EPRA adjusted net asset value per share for 

liquidation purposes rose once again by 16.8% to €31.83. Adjusted net asset value per share for replacement 

purposes, which includes theoretical acquisition costs, totalled €35.78. 

 

(in € 000s) 31/12/2014 31/12/2013 

Investment property 1,595,542  1,426,509  

Net debt -772,057  -726,321  

Other -6,438  -11,831  

Net Asset Value adjusted for liquidation 817,048  688,357  

Theoretical acquisition costs 101,544  88,444  

Net Asset Value adjusted for replacement 918,592  776,801  

Number of diluted shares excluding treasury shares 25,671,095  25,252,918  

NAV per share of EPRA revalued for liquidation €31.83 €27.26 

NAV per share revalued for replacement  €35.78 €30.76 

 

 

Financing and changes in borrowing 

 

Terreïs continued to finance its investments through long-term bank debt. All borrowings were arranged either at a 

fixed rate or a swapped floating rate. 

 

Net financial debt stood at €772 million compared with €726 million as at 31 December 2013, while the Loan to Value 

(LTV) ratio fell below 50%, to 48%. 

  

The main reasons for this difference are as follows: 
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- Signing new 15-year loans, with repayment by instalments, to finance this year's acquisitions. 

- Refinancing the overdraft and loan from Ovalto Investissement (€120 million) and a €30 million line of credit 

from Banque Privée 1818, via a bullet loan (50%, 5 years; 50%, 7 years) at an average hedged floating rate 

of 2.69%, signed with Natixis; 

- Early repayment of a €2.3 million bullet loan which had been taken out to finance the acquisition of premises 

located in Chartres, which was sold during the year. 

(in € 000s)   31/12/2014 31/12/2013 

Fixed-rate loans, with repayment by instalments 22,940 38,430 

Hedged floating-rate loans, with repayment by instalments 492,383 480,225 

Fixed-rate bullet loans  24,900 24,900 

Hedged floating-rate bullet loans  165,400 17,700 

Finance Lease   1,653 2,161 

Lines of credit 0 20,000 

Arrangement expenses for net loans -5,143 -3,004 

Loans (non-current part) 702,134 580,411 

Fixed-rate loans, with repayment by instalments 3,998 4,500 

Hedged floating-rate loans, with repayment by instalments 39,552 31,630 

Finance Lease  507 487 

Accrued interest on loans 1,396 1,025 

Lines of credit 38,364 125,288 

Loans (non-current portion) 83,817 162,930 

Total financial liabilities 785,950 743,341 

Cash and cash equivalents (current and non-current) -13,894 -17,020 

Net debt 772,057 726,321 
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2014 Profit/loss 

 

(€ millions)     2014 2013 

Rental income   71.9 61.8 

Current operating income 37.0 31.2 

Net income     34.3 32.5 

of which, from rental business   9.0 8.1 

of which, from asset disposals   25.3 23.4 

of which, from exceptional items 0.0 1.0 

Cash flow (before disposals)   37.0 30.2 

Cash flow (after disposals)   72.3 72.3 

Investments   95.1 257.1 

NAV /share of EPRA for liquidation purposes €31.83 €27.26 

NAV /share of EPRA for replacement purposes €35.78 €30.26 

Dividend /share*   €0.70 €0.64 

* Subject to the approval of the General Meeting of 6 May 2015 

 

The consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2014 were prepared in accordance with IFRS standards and 

principles, according to the historical cost method, with the exception of certain financial assets and liabilities 

assessed at their fair value when this is required by IFRS.  

 

Thanks to maintaining a sustained growth policy, coupled with strict management of rental assets, Terreïs posted 

excellent results in 2014 with a 16.4% increase in rental income to €71.9 million, and an 18.7% increase in current 

operating income to €37 million, and cash flow of €37 million excluding disposals, up 22.6%. 

 

 
2014 

 
As a % of 

rental income 
2013 

 
As a % of 

rental income 
Change 

 

Rental income 71.9 100% 61.8 100% 16.4% 

Other income 1.8     

Rental expenses incurred -1.5  -2.5   

Management and rental fees -0.6  -2.0   

“Triple net” rents 71.6 99.6% 57.3 92.8% 24.9% 

Operating expenses -5.6  -2.6  112.8% 

Gross operating surplus 66.1 91.9% 54.7 88.6% 20.7% 

Depreciation -29.1  -23.5  23.4% 

Current operating income 37.0 51.5% 31.2 50.5% 18.7% 

 

 
Terreïs’s rental income reached €71.9 million in 2014, up 16.4% compared with 2013. This increase is primarily due 
to the net increase in the real estate portfolio. 
 

By category: 
Offices / 

Commercial 
Residential Total 

31/12/2014 
Rent (€ thousand) 66,830 5,093 71,923 

As a percentage 93% 7% 100% 

31/12/2013 
Rent (€ 000s) 55,783 6,015 61,798 

As a percentage 90% 10% 100% 
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By geographic region: Paris Paris region Outside Paris Total 

31/12/2014 
Rent (€ 000s) 56,245 12,434 3,245 71,923 

As a percentage 78% 17% 5% 100% 

31/12/2013 
Rent (€ 000s) 45,615 12,443 3,740 61,798 

As a percentage 74% 20% 6% 100% 

 
Rent from Terreïs’s core business, Office/Commercial, was €66.8 million, i.e. 93% of total rental income. The 
increase of 19.8% from one year to the next was primarily due to the acquisition of 50-52, boulevard Haussmann 
(Paris 9th arrondissement) at the end of 2013 and of 41 avenue de Friedland (Paris 8th arrondissement) in the second 
quarter of 2014. 
 
Like for like, Office/Commercial rents rose 0.3% thanks to strict management of leases, against a backdrop of falling 
indices. 
 
Residential rents stood at €5.1 million. This planned decline reflects the policy to sell residential assets as and when 
they are vacated. 
 
Net property expenses accounted for 2.77% of gross income in 2014 and underline the strict management of 

expenses and the drop in management fees following Imodam’s entry within the scope of consolidation on 31 

December 2013. 

 

Staff costs rose €1.2 million between 2013 and 2014 as a result of absorbing Imodam’s employees. The FTE of the 

group was 22 persons at 31 December 2014, compared with 19 persons at 31 December 2013. 

 

Overheads for the year were €2.5 million compared with €1.7 million.  

 

Current operating income was €37 million, up 18.7% compared with 2013. 

 

Income from the rental business was €9 million, up 12% after taking financial income into account.  

 

(€ millions)     2014 
As a % of rental 

income 
2013 

As a % of rental 
income 

Current operating income 37.0 51.5% 31.2 50.5% 

Income from disposals   26.5   23.7   

Other     -0.4   1.0   

Operating income   63.1   55.9   

Financial income   -28.1   -23.0   

Tax     -0.7   -0.4   

Net income     34.3   -0.4   

Group share   33.8   32.2   

Minority interests   0.5   0.3   

Net income /share   €1.33   €1.27   

 
 
Disposals amounted to €35 million. They exceeded the values assessed in 2013 and generated €27 million of net 
capital gain. 
 

 

Non tax-deductible expenses 

 
Expenses for the year do not include expenses which the tax authorities do not accept as deductible, as defined by 
the provisions of Article 39-4 and 223(iv) of the French General Tax Code. 
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CORPORATE EARNINGS & DIVIDEND PROPOSAL 
 

Terreïs generated net income of €31.7 million in 2014, compared with €32.25 million in the previous year. Earnings 

available for distribution were as follows: 

Net profit €31,727,255.09 

Retained earnings €53,316,232.06  

Legal reserve  -€1,586,400.00 

Distributable maximum profit €83,457,087.15 

 

The maximum number of shares entitled to a dividend for the year ended 31 December 2014 is 25,469,750. This 

represents the 25,259,750 shares which comprise the Company's share capital at 31 December 2014 + the 210,000 

Ordinary Shares obtained from the conversion of the Series 2 Preferred Shares. Based on this, a proposal will be 

made to the Annual General Meeting to distribute a total dividend of €17,828,825 (an annual dividend of €0.70 

/share), which is up 9.3% compared with 2013, bearing in mind that an interim dividend of €0.34 per share has 

already been paid on 14 November 2014. 

 

The outstanding dividend to be paid, together with the cumulative preferred dividend of €0.18 per share which will be 

paid to shareholders of preferred shares in accordance with the provisions of Article 11.2 of the Articles of 

Association, resulting from profits exempted from corporate income tax in application of the SIIC regime, will not be 

eligible for the 40% rebate mentioned in paragraph 3.2° of Article 158 of the French General Tax Code. 

 

 

Dividends paid for the last three financial years:  

 

Financial year 2011 2012 2013 

Total annual dividend €14,322,713.76 €15,408,447.50 €16,166,240.00 

Dividend per share €0.57 €0.61 €0.64 

Amount per ordinary share entitled to the rebate provided 

for in Article 158 3.2° of the French General Tax Code.  
€0.018 €0.03 - 

Total cumulative preferred dividend €60,858.00 €59,915.52 €57,057.84 

Amount per preference share entitled to the rebate 

provided in Article 158 3.2° of the French General Tax 

Code.  

€0.006 - - 
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OUTLOOK 
 

Terreïs’s objective is to substantially increase its Paris commercial property portfolio, focusing on the Paris CBD, 

which represented two thirds of its total assets at the end of December 2014. It is therefore remains on the lookout for 

acquisition opportunities that turn up on the premium commercial property market in Paris, and continues to sell, on 

excellent terms, its non-strategic assets (residential, regional and Ile-de-France), which represent nearly 25% of its 

total real estate portfolio. The net proceeds of these disposals will be reinvested in commercial property in the Paris 

CBD. 

 

 

  



 

Terreïs 2014 Annual Report 
20 

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHAREHOLDERS 
 

Share capital 

 

Share capital stood at €76,199,250 at 31 December 2014, divided into: (i) 25,259,750 shares with a par value of €3 

each, divided into 24,945,702 Ordinary Shares and 314,048 Preferred Shares; and (ii) 210,000 Series 2 Preferred 

Shares with a par value of €2 each.  

 

Following the conversion of the Preferred Shares and the level 2 preferred shares, share capital stood at 

€76,619,250 as at 10 March 2015 and is divided into (i) 25,469,750 shares with a par value of €3 each, divided into 

25,156,584 Ordinary Shares and 313,166 Preferred Shares, and (ii) 105,000 Series 2 Preferred Shares with a par 

value of €2 each (hereinafter the ‘S2PFs’). 

 

The specific characteristics and rights of the Preferred Shares and the Series 2 Preferred Shares are defined in 

Article 11 of the Articles of Association and set out in pages 107 and 108 of this Registration Document. 

 

There are no securities which do not represent share capital. 

 

Except for the Series 2 Preferred Shares, the Company has not issued any convertible, exchangeable or cum-

warrant securities during this financial year. 

 

 

Voting rights 

 

Each of the Company’s shares carries one voting right.  

 

 

Changes in the share capital over the last three years 

 

Date Transaction 

Number of 

shares 

issued 

Nominal 

amount of 

change in 

share 

capital 

(€) 

Capital 

contribution 

premium, 

share 

issuance 

premium and 

paid-in capital 

premium  

(€) 

Accumulated 

share capital  

 

(€) 

Number of 

shares 

31/12/2010     23,615,079 7,871,693 

10/01/2011 
Merger with DAB Expansion 

and Avenir & Investissement 
8,880,549 26,641,647 10,304,087.19 50,256,726 16,752,242 

18/02/2011 
Capital increase with free 

allotment of equity warrants 
8,375,326 25,125,978 71,190,271.00 75,382,704 25,127,568 

13/05/2012 
Final allocation of bonus 

shares 
132,182 396,546 - 75,779,250 25,259,750 

30/06/2014 
Issue of Series 2 Preferred 

Shares (‘S2PFs) 

210,000 

S2PF 
420,000 128,120.00 76,199,250 

25,259,750+  

210,000 S2PF 

 

The Combined General Meeting of 10 January 2011 approved the acquisition by merger of DAB Expansion and 

Avenir & Investissement and created 8,880,549 new shares in payment for the contributions in shares. 

 

This same Meeting gave the Board of Directors the authority, for a period of twenty-six (26) months, to increase the 

share capital by a maximum nominal amount of €30,000,000, by the issuing Company shares and/or securities 

(including warrants for new or existing shares) granting immediate or future access, by whatever means, to the 

Company's share capital, with maintenance of pre-emptive subscription rights. 

 

On 21 January 2011, the Board of Directors used this authority and decided to issue and allot free equity warrants to 

all the Company's shareholders based on one warrant per share, given that 1,590 equity warrants relating to treasury 

shares were automatically cancelled. These warrants entitle holders to subscribe to a maximum of 8,375,326 new 

Ordinary Shares in the Company with a par value of €3 ach, on the basis of 2 warrants for one new share, resulting in 

a maximum capital increase of a total nominal amount of €25,125,978. On 18 February 2011, Fabrice Paget-Domet – 
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to whom the Board of Directors had granted all powers to issue and allot the free equity warrants and to record the 

capital increase relating to the exercise of these warrants – reported the finalisation of the capital increase for a 

nominal amount of €25,125,978. 

 

On 13 May 2012, 132,182 bonus shares were definitively allocated to the salaried staff and corporate officers of the 

Company and of its affiliated Companies as defined by Article L.225-197-2 of the French Commercial Code, in 

accordance with the Bonus Shares Allocation Plan of 13 May 2008. 

 

The Combined General Meeting of 29 April 2014 gave the Board of Directors the authority, for a period of three (3) 

months, to increase the share capital by a maximum nominal amount of €500,000 by issuing Series 2 Preferred 

Shares of the Company, without pre-emptive subscription rights. 

 

On 11 June 2014, the Board of Directors used this authority and decided to issue 250,000 Series 2 Preferred Shares 

with a par value of €2. On 30 June 2014, Fabrice Paget-Domet – to whom the Board of Directors had granted all 

powers to report the capital increase – reported the subscription of 210,000 Series 2 Preferred Shares and the 

finalisation of the capital increase for a nominal amount of €420,000. 

 

On 10 March 2015, the Board of Directors reported the conversion of 105,000 Series 2 Preferred Shares into 

210,000 new Ordinary Shares. 

 
Breakdown of share capital   

 

 31/12/2012 31/12/2013 31/12/2014 10/03/2015 

 
Number of 

shares 
% capital 

Number 
of shares 

% capital 
Number of 

shares 
% capital 

Number of 
shares 

% capital 

Ovalto 
Investissement 

13,813,500 54.69 
13,813,50

0 
54.69 13,813,500 54.38 13,813,500 54.01 

Jacky Lorenzetti 628,705 2.49 634,009 2.51 1 NS 1 NS 

Treasury shares 5,327 0.02 6,832 0.03 8,655 0.03 12,120 0.05 

Employee 
shareholders 

- - - - - - - - 

Other 
shareholders 

10,812,218 42.80 
10,805,40

9 
42.78 

11,647,595 
45.58 11,749,129 45.94 

Total 25,259,750 100.00 
25,259,75

0 
100.00 25,469,750(1) 100.00 25,574,750(2) 100.00 

 

In accordance with the European regulation implementing the ‘Prospectus Directive’ (European Commission Regulation no. 

809/2004 of 29 April 2004), the Company made sure that its control was not exercised unlawfully in terms of its Corporate 

Governance Charter. 

(1) of which 210,000 S2PFs 

(2) of which 105,000 S2PFs 

 

Shareholder disclosure requirements 

 

In respect of the year ended 31 December 2014, Manon Lorenzetti and François Lepicard notified the Group that on 

20 November 2014 they withdrew from the concert party they had formed with Ovalto Investissement, Jacky 

Lorenzetti and Fabrice Paget-Domet and declared that they had dropped below the thresholds of 5%, 10%, 15%, 

20%, 25%, 30%, 1/3 and 50% of the Company's capital and voting rights. 

 

 

Restrictions on the transfer of shares or exercise of voting rights 

 

The Company is not aware of any agreement between shareholders, whether directors or not, which may give rise to 

restrictions on the transfer of shares or the exercise of voting rights for the year just ended. 
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Agreements liable to give rise to a change in control 

 

There are no agreements which might at a later date result in a change in control of the Company. However, the 

shareholding structure as mentioned above will make any takeover difficult. 

 

 

Authorised but not issued capital 

 

The Combined Shareholders’ Meeting of 29 April 2014 granted authority to the Board of Directors as follows: 

 

No. Term Type  

Maximum nominal 
amount 

(€) 

1 26 
months 

Authority to the Board of Directors to issue securities, which grant immediate or 
future access to the Company's share capital, with pre-emptive subscription 
rights. 

60,000,000 

2 26 
months 

Authority to the Board of Directors to issue securities, which grant immediate or 
future access to the Company's share capital, without pre-emptive subscription 
rights. 

60,000,000 

3 26 
months 

Authority to the Board of Directors to issue securities that grant immediate or 
future access to the Company's share capital, without pre-emptive subscription 
rights through a public offer, by an offer specified at paragraph II of Article L. 411-
2 of the French Monetary and Financial Code. 

60,000,000 

4 26 
months 

Authority to the Board of Directors, in the event of a capital increase with or 
without pre-emptive subscription rights, to increase the number of securities to be 
issued to 

 

5 26 
months 

Authority to the Board of Directors to decide on a capital increase by 
capitalisation of premiums, reserves, profits or otherwise. 

1,000,000  

6 26 
months 

Authority to the Board of Directors to decide on a capital increase by means of an 
issue of share capital reserved to the Company's employees and to employees of 
the Terreïs Group who have subscribed to a company savings plan. 

500,000 

7 38 
months 

The Board of Directors decided to issue bonus shares to corporate officers and 
employees of the Company or of its associated companies. 

2% of the share 
capital 

8 3 
months 

Authority to the Board of Directors to issue Series 2 Preferred Shares with no pre-
emptive subscription rights 

500,000 

 

The Board of Directors used authority No. 8 by deciding to issue Series 2 Preferred Shares, 210,000 of which were 

subscribed representing a capital increase in a nominal amount of €420,000. 

 

 

Purchase by the Company of treasury shares 

 

The Ordinary General Meeting of 29 April 2014 authorised the Board of Directors to implement a share repurchase 

scheme on the Company’s shares, as provided for in Article L.225-209 of the French Commercial Code and in 

accordance with the General Regulations of the Autorité des marchés financiers. 

 

In respect of the year ended 31 December 2014, the sole purpose of the share repurchase scheme launched by the 

Board of Directors was to stimulate the share price under the liquidity contract granted to Exane. 
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The key data for the period are as follows: 

 Accumulated flows 

 Purchases Sales 

Number of securities 89,078 87,255 

Average transaction price €25.03 €24.51 

Number of shares held at 31.12.2014 8,655 

Purchase price €228,242 

Value as at 31/12/2014 €231,089 

% of corresponding capital  0.03% 
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ADMINISTRATION AND MANAGEMENT 
 

Composition of the Board of Directors  

 

Directors 
Date of 

appointment 

Expiry of 
term of 

office: year 
ended 31/12 

Jacky Lorenzetti 29/09/2006 2014 

Du Thi Two 31/08/2010 2014 

Valérie Guillen 11/03/2014 2014 

Fabrice Paget-Domet 13/05/2008 2016 

Michelle Pédel 29/09/2006 2014 

François Lepicard 29/04/2014 2016 

Jacques Soyer 29/09/2006 2014 

Ovalto Investissement 29/09/2006 2014 

 

The Company's independent directors are Valérie Guillen, Michelle Pédel, Jacques Soyer, and the company Du Thi 

Two 

 

To the Company’s knowledge: 

 there is no family relationship between the Company’s directors. However, there is a financial relationship 

between Ovalto Investissement and Jacky Lorenzetti; 

 no director has been convicted of fraud in the last five years; 

 no director has been involved in bankruptcy, receivership or liquidation proceedings in the last five years; 

 no director has been charged with an offence or publicly and officially sanctioned by statutory or regulatory 

authorities (including designated professional bodies) in the last five years; 

 no director has been disqualified by a court from acting as a member of an administrative, management or 

supervisory body of an issuer or from helping to manage or conduct the affairs of an issuer in the last five years. 

 

The rules governing the appointment and replacement of members of the Board of Directors are laid down in the 

Articles of Association. 

 

 

Chief Executive Officer 

 

Since 1 September 2007, the Company’s CEO has been Fabrice Paget-Domet. 

 

 

Chairman  

 

Since 29 September 2006, the Chairman of the Board of Directors has been Jacky Lorenzetti. 

 

 

Conflicts of interest on administrative and senior management bodies 

 

To the Company’s knowledge, no members of the Board of Directors have any potential conflicts of interest between 

their duties towards the Company and their private interests and/or obligations, in particular with respect to the 

related-party transactions mentioned in pages 39 and 40 of this Registration Document.   
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Remuneration of corporate officers 

 Summary of remuneration (in €) 

 2013 2014 

Jacky Lorenzetti, Chairman of the Board of Directors   

Remuneration due in the financial year 255,835 276,942 

Value of stock options granted during the financial year   

Value of performance shares granted during the financial year   

Fabrice Paget-Domet, Chief Executive Officer   

Remuneration due in respect of the financial year 154,993 154,993 

Value of stock options granted during the financial year   

Value of performance shares granted during the financial year   

 

 Total remuneration paid during the 2014 financial year by the Company and, if applicable, by any parent or 

subsidiary companies (in €) 

 Terreïs Subsidiaries Parent company 

Jacky Lorenzetti   276,942 

Valérie Guillen    

François Lepicard    

Olivier Froc 60,008  227,004 

Fabrice Paget-Domet 154,993   

Michelle Pédel    

Jacques Soyer    

Yves Thibault    

 

 Remuneration of corporate executive officers (in €) 

 
 2013 financial year 2014 financial year 

 Amounts due and paid Amounts due and paid 

Jacky Lorenzetti fixed pay (1) 176,653 188,324 

 performance-related pay   

 exceptional bonus   

 directors’ fees   

 benefits in kind(1) 79,182 88,615 

 TOTAL 255,835 276,942 

Fabrice Paget-Domet fixed pay 154,993 154,993 

 performance-related pay   

 exceptional bonus   

 directors’ fees   

 benefits in kind   

 TOTAL 154,993 154,993 

(1) Remuneration received from Ovalto Investissement, the parent company of Terreïs within the meaning of Article L 233-16 

of the French Commercial Code. 
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 Directors’ fees paid to non-executive corporate officers (in €) 

Members of the Board of Directors Amounts paid in 2013 Amounts paid in 2014 

Jacky Lorenzetti   

Valérie Guillen   

François Lepicard 20,000 15,000 

Fabrice Paget-Domet   

Michelle Pédel   

Jacques Soyer 35,000 30,000 

Du Thi Two (Yves Thibault)  35,000 30,000 

 

 Bonus shares and warrants to subscribe for or purchase shares allocated to corporate officers 

N/A. 

 Information about the existence, for corporate executive officers, of: (i) a contract of employment, in addition 

to their corporate mandate; (ii) supplementary pension schemes; (iii) obligations assumed by the Company 

in respect of allowances or benefits due or likely to be due as a result of the termination of, or change in, 

employment of a corporate executive officer or, subsequent to this position; and (iv) non-compete 

allowances. 

Corporate executive 
officers 

Contract of 
employment 

Supplementary 
pension scheme 

Allowances or 
benefits due or 
likely to be due 

as a result of the 
termination of, or 

change in, 
employment  

Allowances 
relating to a non-
compete clause 

Jacky Lorenzetti NO NO NO NO 

Fabrice Paget-Domet NO NO NO NO 

 

 

Aggregate statement of transactions referred to in Article L. 621-18-2 of the French Monetary and Financial 

Code declared during the financial year ended 31 December 20114 

 

 

Members of the Board of Directors  
and related parties 

Type of transaction Quantity Amount (in €) 

Jacky Lorenzetti Disposal 634,008 15,695,370.69 
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Management expertise and appointment of corporate officers 

 

Jacky Lorenzetti 

 

Chairman of the Board of Directors of Terreïs 

 

Business address:  

11, avenue Paul Langevin – 92350 Le Plessis 

Robinson 

 

Founding chairman of the Foncia Group from 1972 

until 2008. 

Founding chairman of Ovalto Investissement since 

2000. 

 

 Other group appointments:  

 Chairman of Terreïs Valorisation 

 Joint Manager of the SCI des 11 à 15 avenue 

Lebrunn 

 

 Non-group appointments: 

 Chairman of Ovalto Investissement 

 Chairman and CEO of RCF Rugby 

 Chairman of Château Lilian Ladouys 

 Chairman of Racing Aréna 

 Chairman of Racing Rugby 1882 

 Chairman of Zenlor 

 Chairman of Sea Air 

 Permanent representative of Sea Air within Sea 

Air Transport 

 Manager of SCEA Château Pédesclaux 

 Manager of SCI 35 rue Houdan 

 Manager of SCEA Les Claux 

 Manager of Racing Rugby Plessis Robinson 

 Management of Racing Plessis Hôtellerie 

 

 Main mandates that have expired in the last 

five years: 

 Manager of Lorinvest 

 Representative of Lorinvest within Valorisation 

Patrimoine Foncier 

 Joint Manager of SCI Le Clos du Moulin 

 Joint Manager of SCI Mansol 

 
 

Fabrice Paget-Domet 

 

CEO and Director of Terreïs 

 

Business address:  

11, avenue Paul Langevin – 92350 Le Plessis 

Robinson 

 

Degree (major in finance) from the HEC Business 

School. 

Founding chairman of Intégrale Math from 1994 to 

1998. 

Founding chairman of Immobytel.com from 1998 to 

2002. 

In 2002 joined the Foncia Group, where he was 

Senior Vice President of Trading until June 2008. 

He was also Chairman of Foncia Valorisation from 

2003 to 2010 and Foncia Franchise from 2006 to 

2009. 

 

 Other group appointments 

 Chairman of Terreïs Real Estate 

 

 Non-group appointments 

 Manager of Roques 

 Manager of SCI Paget-Domet 

 CEO of Valorisation Patrimoine Foncier 

 

 Main mandates that have expired in the last 

five years: 

 Manager of JFG 

 Manager of S.C.I. 3BM 

 Manager of Terreïs Building AGV 

 Manager Terreïs Rue de la Paix 

 Manager EURL 103 rue Réaumur 

 Manager of S.C.I. 6 rue de Chabannes 

 Manager of S.C.I. La Palmeraie 

 Manager of S.C.I. Le Foch 

 Joint Manager of S.C.I. Dupaty 

 Chairman of Avenue Friedland Holding 

 Chairman of 41 avenue Friedland 
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Yves Thibault 

 

Permanent representative of Du Thi Two 

 

Business address:  

96, boulevard Maurice Barrès – 92200 Neuilly sur 

Seine 

 

A graduate of the Paris-based business school, École 

des Cadres et des Affaires Economiques, he started 

his career with Union Immobilière-UCIP Group, where 

he held several management positions before 

becoming the Manager of Unibanque (a subsidiary of 

Crédit Agricole) in 1982, and then a director. From 

1987, he also served as a Head of mission in the 

Inspection Department of Crédit Agricole. 

In 1990, he joined the Union Financière de France, a 

bank specialising in long-term savings, where he held 

the position of Real Estate Manager until 2006. 

Co-founder of the company Du Thi Two. He is 

currently its Chairman and has no mandate other than 

that of permanent representative of that company on 

the Board of Directors of Terreïs. 

 

 

 

Du Thi Two 

 

Director of Terreïs 

 

 Non-group executive appointments 

 

Representative of Du Thi Two in Sepimo 

 

Olivier Froc 

 

Permanent representative of Ovalto Investissement 

 

Business address: 

11, avenue Paul Langevin - 92350 Le Plessis 

Robinson 

 

Post-graduate diploma from Rouen Business School 

(ESC). Qualified accountant (D.E.C.S.).  

After three years working as an auditor for Price 

Waterhouse, he joined L’Union Financière de France 

in 1989 as a management auditor. He became its 

Finance Manager in 1994. 

He joined the Foncia Group in June 2003 as Vice 

President of Finance, Accounting and Legal Affairs. 

He then performed the functions of Chief Executive 

Officer from April 2006 to June 2013. 

He has been CEO of Ovalto Investissement since July 

2013. 

 

 Non-group appointments 

 Chairman of Stadôme 

 CEO of the Racing Arena 

 Manager of Olga 

 Manager of S.C.I Mansol 

 Manager of S.C.I. Le Clos du Moulin 

 Manager of S.C.I. Le Clos Fanny 

 

 Main mandates that have expired in the last 

five years 

 CEO of the Foncia Group 

 CEO of Foncia Holding 

 Chairman of Constatimmo 

 Chairman of the Le Réseau Constatimmo 

 Chairman of Assurimo 

 Chairman of Assurimo Paris 

 Chairman of Foncia Entreprise 

 Chairman of Compagnie Nationale d’Expertise et 

de Mesurage 

 Chairman of CNEM Prod 

 Chairman of Foncia Franchise 

 Chairman of Foncia Valorisation 

 Chairman of the Board of Directors of Foncia 

Pierre Gestion 

 Chairman of Foncia Transaction Var Est 

 Chairman of Cabinet Docher 

 Director of Agmo 

 Director of Foncia Massena 

 

 

Ovalto Investissement 

 

Director of Terreïs 

 

 Non-group executive appointments 

 

 Director of RCF Rugby 
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Valérie Guillen 

 

Independent director of Terreïs 

 

Business address:  

173, boulevard Haussmann – 75008 Paris 

 

Postgraduate degrees in Corporate Finance – Paris 
IX Dauphine. 
Deputy treasurer in the Financial Division of the 
Générale des Eaux (later, Vivendi) group between 
1987 and 1990, she then joined the Finance Division 
of  Compagnie Générale de Santé in 1991, where she 
was appointed Head of the Real Estate Division five 
years later.  
She was Chairman of Masséna Property from 2001 to 
2007, and is now continuing her career with the La 
Française AM group (Crédit Mutuel Nord Europe) 
where she is the Manager of Institutional Real Estate 
Development, after having been Manager of 
Commercial Real Estate Investments and Trading in 
2007/8. 
 

 

Michelle Pédel 

 

Independent director of Terreïs 

 

Business address:  

47, avenue George V – 75008 Paris 

 

Graduate of the School of Property Management 

(ESPI).  

In 1983 she joined the State-subsidised Offices des 

HLM (Habitation à loyer modéré or Regulated Rental 

Housing) for the Manche region, before joining the 

Foncia Group in 1986. She had various positions 

there before becoming Vice President and Head of 

Rent Management and Group Leasing.  

In early 2003 she became Senior Vice President of 

Foncia. She then occupied the positions of Chairman 

and CEO from 2005 to 2010 and CEO of the Foncia 

Group from 2006 to 2010. 

She is currently the Chairman of Ammonitia. 

 

 Non-group appointments 

 Chairman of Ammonitia 

 Chairman of Ammonitia Investissement 

 

 Main mandates that have expired in the last 

five years 

 Chairman of the Union Générale Immobilière 

Parisienne - U.G.I.P 
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François Lepicard 

 

Director of Terreïs and Chairman of the Audit 

Committee 

 

Business address:  

11, avenue Paul Langevin – 92350 Le Plessis 

Robinson 

 

Graduate of the HEC business school. Law degree. A 

former Statutory Auditor.  

From January 1973, he worked as an accountant for 

Franco Suisse Bâtiment and Franco Suisse Gestion. 

In 1991 he decided to sell his 50% stake in an 

accountancy and auditing firm with 25 employees, 

which he had set up with a friend from HEC, to join 

Foncia. 

Until July 2007 he was advisor to the Foncia Group 

chairman on company law, taxation and finance. 

He was chairman of Terreïs from the time it was 

founded until it became a limited company in 

September 2006. He then became CEO of Terreïs 

until August 2008. 

 

 Other group appointments 

 Manager of Terreïs Invest 

 

 Non-group appointments 

 Director of RCF Rugby 

 Manager of SCI Ostréa 

 Manager of SCI Valève 

 

 Main mandates that have expired in the last 

five years 

 CEO of RCF Rugby 

 Chairman of the Board of Directors of Société 

d’Immeubles du Parc des Princes Cours 

Dupanloup 

 

Jacques Soyer 

 

Independent director of Terreïs 

 

Business address:  

4 rue des Marronniers – 75016 Paris 

 

Postgraduate degrees in Economics and in 

Management. 

He previously worked for the Paribas Group and later 

BNP Paribas, where he held the following posts: 

Head of the Paris Branches of Banque Paribas 

Vice President of Banque Parisienne Internationale 

Manager of Corporate and Institutional Clients and 

Member of the Group Management Committee of 

Crédit du Nord 

Deputy Manager of the Paris Branches (in charge of 

Business and Institutional Customers of BNP Paribas) 

until 2005. 

Adviser to the French Foreign Trade Office from 1996 

to 2006. 
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RISK FACTORS 
 

The Company has reviewed the risks which could 

have a significant adverse impact on its business 

activity, its financial position or earnings, and 

considers that there are no significant risks other than 

those set out below and, under the heading 

‘Management of Sectoral and Financial Risks’, on 

pages 58 to 61 of the Notes to the consolidated 

financial statements. These risks are updated and are 

specific to the Company and its business activity. 

 

 

Business risks 

 

Market risks 

 

Risks relating to changes in the property market 

The property market is driven by supply and demand 

and has historically tended to experience rising and 

falling phases. These changes can affect property 

prices, demand, rents and service charges. 

 

Changes in the property market may have a material 

adverse effect both on the Company’s investment and 

trading policy as well as on the development of new 

assets and, more generally, on its business activities, 

its financial position, its earnings and on its outlook. 

 

In particular, operating income results from rent 

collected from the tenants who occupy its properties. 

These results are therefore subject to: 

 changes in the indices on the basis of which rents 

are indexed, namely: 

 for commercial premises, the construction cost 

index (‘CCI’); 

 for residential premises, the rent reference 

index (‘IRL’), which replaced the CCI on 1 

January 2006 and which, since Law no. 2008-

111 of 8 February 2008, corresponds to the 

average consumer price index for the previous 

12 months, excluding tobacco and rent. 

 changes in vacancy rates and rental prices on the 

market. 

 

The impact of a change in rents is given on page 59 

of the Notes to the consolidated financial statements. 

 

Furthermore, the value of Terreïs' real estate portfolio 

is linked to price changes in the property market and 

to the criteria used by valuers in terms of yield. The 

impact of a change in the average rate of return is 

given on page 72 of Note 28 to the consolidated 

financial statements. 

 

 

 

Economic risks 

Changes in the economic environment are likely to 

influence demand for new office and retail space. 

They may also have a long-term impact on the 

occupancy rate and on the ability of tenants to pay 

their rent and service charges. In addition, the level of 

rent and asset values is strongly influenced by the 

supply and demand for property. A negative change in 

demand relative to supply is likely to affect the ability 

of landlords to increase or even maintain rent levels 

when renewing leases. This might affect the 

Company’s business activity, earnings, real estate 

portfolio value and financial position. 

 

A downward movement in the CCI (published by 

French National Institute of Statistics and Economic 

Studies), to which the Company's rents are indexed, 

might also limit growth in the Company’s rental 

income. 

 

If the Company were legally obliged to adopt a less 

favourable index than the CCI, this might also affect 

growth in the Company’s rental income. 

 

Operating risks 

 

Risk of dependence on certain tenants 

Since the Company has a diffuse portfolio of clients, 

both in terms of number and of sectoral breakdown, 

Terreïs has a secure commercial portfolio and low 

tenant risk even though we cannot exclude payment 

defaults or occasional late payments.  

 
Risks related to quality control of services provided by 

subcontractors 

The appeal - and the valuations - of the Company’s 

property portfolios and rental income may be affected 

either by potential tenants’ perception of the buildings 

(the risk that they may consider the buildings to be of 

insufficient quality, cleanliness and/or security) or by 

the need to carry out restructuring works, renovations 

or repairs. The costs of maintenance resulting from 

the upkeep and insurance of the property portfolios 

might also affect rental income which they generate. 

Besides, when units are vacant, these costs, which 

cannot then be passed on to tenants, will be borne 

directly by the owner. 

 

The Company employs subcontractors and suppliers 

for its rental business who are paid by either the 

lessee or the lessor, depending on the terms of the 

lease. If the lessee is responsible for appointing its 

own subcontractors and suppliers, the lessor/owner 

must be satisfied as to the quality of the services 

provided, having regard to the particular 

characteristics of the each property’s specifications, in 

order to maintain the building’s appeal, both for the 

current tenant and for any future tenant. 
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Risks associated with the regulations governing 

leases 

In France, the laws governing commercial leases are 

very strict as regards the lessor. Contractual 

provisions relating to the term, the renewal, the 

security deposit, the termination clause or the 

indexing of rent are public policy and, in particular, 

restrict the flexibility of owners to increase rents to 

match changes in the market and thereby to optimise 

their rental income. 

 

Nevertheless, it should be remembered that all the 

rents in the Company’s current real estate portfolio 

are uncapped, since they concern offices and retail 

premises. 

 

In any event, the tenant has the right to vacate the 

premises on the expiry of the lease, as well as, in 

principle, at the end of each three-year period, unless 

otherwise agreed. 

 

There is also the risk that, when the leases are up for 

renewal, the Company may be faced with a different 

and unfavourable market environment or, although 

highly unlikely for commercial property, with changes 

in legislation, regulations or case law which could 

impose new or more stringent restrictions on rent 

reviews.  

 

Changes in the rules governing commercial leases, 

particularly in terms of term, indexation and capping of 

rent, and the calculation of compensation owed to 

tenants in the event of eviction, could have negative 

consequences on the valuation of the real estate 

assets, on earnings, on operations or on the financial 

position of the Company. 

 

The Company cannot rule out the possibility that 

when leases expire, some or all of the existing tenants 

may decide not to renew their leases. Also, if a lease 

is not renewed, the Company cannot guarantee that it 

will be able to re-let the properties in question quickly 

and on similar terms and conditions. 

 

The absence of income from vacant units and the 

corresponding fixed charges could have a significant 

impact on the operating income and financial situation 

of the Company. 

 

Insurance premiums could increase in future and the 

insurance policies may not cover all operating risks. 

 

The cost of insurance premiums paid by the Company 

for mandatory and voluntary insurance represents a 

tiny fraction of its operating costs, since its leases 

have so far been classed as triple net leases where 

premiums are paid by the tenants. 

 

Nevertheless, the cost of this insurance could 

increase in future, potentially having negative 

consequences for the Company’s financial position 

and earnings. In addition, certain types of risk to 

which the Company is exposed might no longer be 

covered by the insurance companies because of a 

change in the regulations or the absence of insurance 

policies offering adequate cover. 

 

 
Risks related to information systems 

In the course of its rental management activity, the 

Company and/or its service providers use a number of 

IT tools and information systems. Should these 

systems be destroyed or damaged in any way, the 

rental management activity of the Company and/or its 

service providers could be disrupted. 

 

Asset risks 

 

Risks related to the Company’s acquisition strategy 

As part of its development strategy, the Company 

envisages the selective acquisition of real estate 

assets.  

 

The Company cannot guarantee that these acquisition 

opportunities will arise, or that the properties acquired 

will generate the profit initially expected. 

 

These acquisitions entail a number of risks associated 

with: (i) conditions in the property market; (ii) the 

presence of a large number of investors in this 

market; (iii) asset price; (iv) the potential rental yield of 

these assets; (v) the impact on the Company’s 

operating results; (vi) the work of directors and key 

personnel towards these operations; and (vii) the 

discovery of problems relating to these acquisitions, 

such as the presence of dangerous or toxic 

substances or other environmental or regulatory 

problems. 

 

If no acquisitions are made, or if the acquisitions do 

not fully satisfy the Company's criteria, this could have 

a significant impact on the Company’s earnings and 

outlook. 

 

Risks linked to the implementation of the Company’s 

investment strategy 

When valuing the property portfolio which the 

Company intends to establish, the Company could 

find that it has to incur additional and potentially 

significant expenses, particularly for refurbishments, 

and has to make additional investments. 

 

These expenses and investments may have an 

impact, at least in the short term, on the Company’s 

capacity for growth and its earnings. 
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Risks relating to the competitive environment 

The Company faces tough competition from a number 

of operators both in its asset management and its 

rental business. 

 

In the course of its asset management activity, the 

Company competes with other operators, some of 

whom have greater financial strength and/or a larger 

real estate portfolio, as well as their own property 

development capability. This financial strength and 

this ability to undertake major development projects 

on their own, enables the biggest players to compete 

in bidding for the acquisition of potentially highly 

profitable properties at prices that do not necessarily 

correspond to the investment criteria and objectives 

which the Company has set itself. 

 

In view of the increasing maturity of the market in 

which it is positioned, and faced with this competition, 

the Company may be unable to implement its 

development strategy as swiftly as it would like, which 

could have a negative impact on growth, operations 

and future earnings. 

 

Property valuation risks 

The Company has its property portfolio valued each 

year by independent valuers. The valuations are 

carried out in accordance with French industry 

standards enshrined in the Property Valuation Code 

drawn up under the guidance of the French Property 

Valuation Institute (IFEI), with the joint CNC/COB 

recommendations of February 2000, with the 

TEGoVA standards and the principles of the Royal 

Institution of Chartered Surveyors (RICS), as well as 

with any other equivalent standards which may 

replace them. 

 

However, in the event of disposal, the property 

valuations may not correspond to the real sale price. 

 

In addition, the Company, based on the valuer’s 

estimate, may have to set aside provisions for 

depreciation, following approved accounting 

procedures, if the net asset value calculated by the 

Company based on the market value should prove 

less than the net book value. 

 

The valuation criteria adopted in the consolidated 

financial statements for the year ended 31 December 

2014 are based on a dual approach: by applying a 

capitalisation rate (taking into account the impact of 

registration fees on yield) on actual and/or estimated 

rental income; and by direct comparison with the 

average market price per m2.  

 

Risks related to constraints resulting from the tax 

status applicable to listed property investment 

companies, from possible changes in the application 

of this status or from the loss of the benefits of this 

status. 

On 1 January 2007, the Company opted for the tax 

status of SIIC (Article 208 C of the French General 

Tax Code) in order to be exempt from corporation tax 

on rental income, on capital gains from the disposal of 

properties to unrelated parties, and on the disposal of 

shareholdings in partnerships or subsidiaries with the 

same SIIC tax status. The benefit of this tax status is 

subject to compliance with various conditions, 

including the obligation to redistribute a significant 

percentage of its revenue, and could be contested if 

these conditions are not respected. 

 

Furthermore, the obligation, to keep for five years the 

assets acquired that have enabled contributions or 

disposals by industrial or commercial companies to be 

placed under the regime of Article 210 E of the French 

General Tax Code, could represent a constraint for 

the Company, which might be penalised in terms of 

trading in its assets. 

 

Finally, the loss of SIIC tax status, and the 

corresponding tax saving or any substantial 

modifications to the provisions governing companies 

with SIIC status, could affect the earnings and 

financial position of the Company and its share price. 

 

Risks relating to applicable regulations 

In the conduct of its business activities of owning and 

managing real estate assets, the Company is required 

to respect not only the tax rules governing its SIIC 

status, but also the many specific or general 

regulations governing, inter alia, commercial land use, 

building construction, public health, the environment, 

safety, and commercial leases. Any substantial 

modification to these regulations is liable to affect the 

Company’s operating income or prospects in terms of 

expansion or growth. 

 

In addition, as is generally the case for other owners 

of commercial property, the Company cannot 

guarantee that all its tenants will abide strictly by the 

set of regulations that apply to them, particularly in 

terms of public health, the environment, safety, town 

planning or operating licences. Any infringement of 

these regulations could result in sanctions being 

imposed on the Company as the building owner, 

thereby affecting its earnings and financial position. 

 

 

Risks relating to the Company 

 

Risks relating to the Company's shares 

 

The Company has signed a liquidity agreement with 

Exane. The movements during the year and the 

position under the contract at 31 December 2014 are 

summarised in Note 23 to the consolidated financial 

statements at page 68, and in Note 12 to the 

corporate financial statements at page 87.  
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At end December 2014, the number of treasury 

shares held under this liquidity agreement totalled 

8,655 shares, at a total cost of €228,242. A 10% 

change in Terreïs’s share price would have an impact 

of €22,824 on the group's accounts.  

 

This amount is equivalent to less than 0.07%, 0.07% 

and 0.01%, respectively, of Terreïs’s corporate 

earnings, consolidated earnings, and consolidated 

capital at end 2014. 

 

At 31 December 2014, Jacky Lorenzetti and his 

holding company owned 54.38% of the capital. The 

two of them alone could influence the adoption of 

resolutions at general meetings of shareholders.  

 

Risk of operational dependence on Ovalto 

Investissement 

 

Employing the services of Ovalto Investissement does 

not create a risk of operational dependence. In this 

case, Ovalto Investissement acts as a simple service 

provider delivering legal, accounting, financial, tax and 

payroll services. 

 

The service agreement was amended, with effect 

from 2011, to ensure that the invoiced costs 

correspond to real market conditions for this kind of 

service. It is therefore clear today that a breakdown 

with Ovalto Investissement should not be considered 

as a risk of operational dependency. 

 

Risks relating to the Company’s level of 

indebtedness 

 

Risks relating to the level of interest rates 

Implementation of the Company’s growth strategy 

could necessitate significant expenditure, either to 

acquire new property assets or to renovate the 

existing real estate portfolio. Some or all of the 

financing necessary for these acquisitions or 

renovations may be covered by borrowing, although 

the Company may also consider using the financial 

markets or its own capital to finance its growth 

strategy. 

 

As part of its investment policy, the Company took out 

a loan to finance its acquisitions during the year under 

review. Careful to avoid a negative impact on its 

earnings and its future solvency, it continued its policy 

of systematically hedging 100% of its interest rate risk 

(with the exception of the line of credit). The new 

loans taken out in 2014 were therefore covered by 

hedging contracts for their entire term, using interest 

rate swaps. 

 

Nevertheless, if banks clamp down on lending in 

future, this could have a negative impact on the pace 

of investment envisaged by the Company and thus 

jeopardise its asset acquisition strategy. 

 

Furthermore and in general terms, the value of the 

Company's property portfolio is influenced by interest 

rates, since it depends on its owner’s ability to resell 

its portfolio assets, and this ability, in turn, is 

dependent on the financing of buyers and therefore 

on their ability to borrow. 

 

Consequently, an increase in interest rates, 

particularly if it were significant, could have a negative 

impact on the valuation of the Company's real estate 

portfolio, since the yields applied to commercial rents 

by the market and by valuers are in large part 

calculated on the basis of interest rates. 
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Risks relating to the size of its equity capital 

The Company has a financial structure which it 

considers appropriate in view of its objectives, and 

which gives it a certain amount of flexibility in order to 

take advantage of investment opportunities. 

Moreover, the adoption of SIIC status obliges the 

Company to distribute a significant percentage of its 

profits. 

 

This could have an impact on the Company's cash 

flow, since it would then have to finance a large part 

of its growth strategy by borrowing or through the 

financial markets. 

 

Liquidity risk 

The Company's policy in terms of liquidity risk is to 

ensure that the amount of rent always exceeds the 

amount which the Company requires to cover its 

operating expenses, its interest expense and the 

repayments due under all the financial debt (bank 

loans and bonds) which it may arrange as part of the 

implementation of its investment programme. 

 

The credit agreements signed by the Company are 

guaranteed by mortgages and by the rights of lenders 

to preferential payment, as well as by transfers or 

assignments of rent receivables.  

 

Some loans are covered by covenants or other 

commitments such as those mentioned at Note 24 to 

the consolidated financial statements and at Note 18 

of the corporate accounts.  

The €30 million line of credit taken out by Terreïs on 

30 September 2011 for a term of three years, at 3-

month Euribor + 1.05%, was repaid in full during the 

period. The €20 million line of credit taken out by the 

Company on 22 March 2013, for a term of two years, 

with a fixed interest rate of 1.59%, still appears as a 

liability of the Company. 

 

The Company has conducted a specific review of its 

liquidity risk and considers that it is in a position to 

meet its future commitments. 

 

Foreign exchange risk 

The Company generates all its sales revenue within 

the euro zone and pays all its costs (expenses and 

investment costs) in euros, and therefore has no 

foreign exchange risk. 

 

Equity risk 

The Company holds no equity investments in listed 

companies and is therefore not exposed to any equity 

risk. 

 

The Group's cash is held either in a bank account 

which earns interest at the average monthly money 

market rate less 0.4%, or in fixed-term deposit 

accounts. It is not invested in instruments which are 

sensitive to equity risk. 

 

Exceptional events and disputes 

Following the acquisition by merger of DAB 

Expansion and Avenir & Investissement, Terreïs has 

taken over the tax disputes of these companies with 

the tax authorities. All these disputes are monitored 

by the law firm CMS Francis Lefebvre, and all the 

risks have been included in the financial statements. 

 

 

Risk management 

 

The main risks to which the Company is exposed are 

investment risk, interest rate risk and tenant risk. 

Investment risk and tenant risk are monitored by the 

investment committee, while interest rate risk is 

monitored by Ovalto Investissement in its capacity as 

service provider under the service agreements signed 

with the Company. 

 

The tasks of the investment committee include the 

following:  

 managing investment risk, since its role is to 

examine every planned acquisition and its 

financial and economic implications; 

 controlling tenant risk by ensuring correct 

supervision of the re-letting of vacant premises 

and the processing of rent arrears. 

 

Ovalto Investissement, in its capacity as service 

provider, provides general financial assistance to the 

Company (assessments of the Company's financing 

requirements, the negotiation of funding, profitability 

calculations, etc.). In this respect, Ovalto 

Investissement is in charge of monitoring interest rate 

risk. 

 

 

Insurance and hedging risks 

 

Since the majority of the commercial leases signed by 

the Company with its tenants are ‘triple net’ leases, 

these provide for the tenant to pay all the insurance 

costs.  

 

Insurance cover policy 

The Company now uses the services of the insurance 

broking firm Gras Savoye. The Company’s main 

insurer is now Allianz. 
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In general, the Company considers that the insurance 

policies which it has taken out are sufficient to cover 

the value of the insured assets and with regard to the 

level of risk incurred. 

 

Comprehensive insurance policies 

The main insurance policy is an Allianz policy 

purchased from the insurance broker Gras Savoye. It 

covers most of the properties, with a specific rider for 

each building. 

 

The following table summarises the principal levels of 

cover, it being understood that this list is indicative, 

not exhaustive: 
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EVENTS AND INSURANCE 
AMOUNTS AND LIMITATIONS OF 

COVER 
INSURANCE 

EXCESS 

 Fire, lightning, explosion, smoke, aircraft crashes, 
leakage of fire fighting equipment, impact by land 
vehicles, climatic events, attacks, vandalism and 
similar cover 

  

 BUILDINGS  Replacement value, as new None 

 FURNISHINGS  Amount of the damage None 

 TREES AND PLANTATIONS  €15,000 None 

 SPECIFIC AMOUNTS:   

 Damage to electrical and electronic appliances  Amount of the damage None   

 Storm, hail and snow on roofs. Amount of the damage €1,000 

 Impact of unidentified vehicles  Amount of the damage None   

 Acts of vandalism, attacks  Amount of the damage None    

 Tags €15,000 €1,000 

 Relocation  €50,000  None   

 Falling trees  Amount of the damage None 

 Falling of various objects  Amount of the damage None 

 Subsidence  

€5,000,000 
 or €10,000,000 (loss limit €49 or €110 

million) 
€5,000  

 Avalanches  €2,000,000  €5,000 

 Water damage and damage from other liquids   

 BUILDINGS  Amount of the damage None 

 MATERIALS  Amount of the damage None 

 SPECIFIC AMOUNTS:   

 Search for leaks/ apparent path €100,000  None 

 Backflow of drains  €100,000  None 

 Buried pipes  €50,000 None 

 Infiltration through façades  €100,000 None 

 Accidental losses of water  €50,000 None 

 Accidental losses of other liquids  €25,000 None 

 Run-offs  €50,000 None 

 Other damage due to frost  €50,000 None 

 User civil liability  Amount of the damage None 

 Breakage of machines   

 GOODS INSURED  €500,000  €1,000 

 Breakage of glass    

 GOODS INSURED  Amount of the damage None 

 CURTAIN WALLS  €50,000  None 

 Theft   

 BUILDINGS, MATERIALS AND SUPPLIES  €100,000  None 

 SPECIFIC AMOUNTS:   

 Theft/embezzlement of rents and charges, 
packages  

€5,000  None 

 Key theft  €5,000 None 

 Cash transportation  €5,000 None 

 Theft without forced entry/theft in common areas €5,000  €1,000 
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EVENTS AND INSURANCE 
AMOUNTS AND 

LIMITATIONS OF COVER 
INSURANCE 

EXCESS 

 All risks cover    

 GOODS INSURED  

€1,000,000  
or €5,000,000 (Loss limit €49 

million or €110 million) 
€5,000 

 Natural disasters and Technological risks (2003-6999 Act)   

 BUILDINGS  Replacement value, as new defined by the 
latest 

interministerial 
order 

 FURNITURE AND GARDENS  Amount of the damage 

 Related expenses and losses resulting from guaranteed events:   

 LOSS OF RENT AND LOSS OF USE 3 years of rent NONE 

 SUB-LIMITS UP TO A MAXIMUM AMOUNT OF: 

 €5,000,000  
or €12,000,000 if Loss limit is 

€110 million 
 

Of which:   

 Loss of use  3 years of rental value None 

 Compliance costs per building €500,000  None 

 Demolition costs  Amount of costs None 

 Architect’s fees  Amount of the fees None 

 Expert’s fees  Amount of the fees None 

 Rescue costs  Amount of the costs None 

 Recovery/pumping costs  Amount of the costs None 

 Displacement/replacement costs  Amount of the costs None 

 Removal/reinstallation costs  Amount of the costs None 

 "Construction" insurance premiums  Amount of premiums None 

 Reconstruction costs  Amount of the costs None 

 Firefighting costs  Amount of the costs None 

 Interest expense Amount of the costs None 

 Additional costs  Amount of the costs None 

 Indirect losses  

10% of the amount of 
compensation for damage to 

insured property 
None 

 Other costs  Amount of the costs None 

 Liabilities   

 MATERIAL AND IMMATERIAL DAMAGE CAUSED TO THIRD PARTIES   

 Recovery by tenants  Amount of the damage None 

 Disturbances  €2,500,000  None 

 Recovery of Neighbours and Third Parties  

€8,000,000  
or €15,000,000 if loss limit is 

€110 million 
None 

 Consequential Immaterial Damage  €500,000  None 

 "OWNER" CIVIL LIABILITY   

 All damage included (physical, material and immaterial) of which 

 Material damage  

 Non-consequential immaterial damage 

 Theft civil liability 

€8,000,000 
2,500 times the index 
500 times the index 
500 times the index 

 

None 
 

€750 
€750 

 

  Accidental pollution damage   500 times the index 2 times the index 

  Gross negligence  
€1,000,000 per year of 

insurance 
None 

 Civil defence  
included in the guarantee 

amount 
None 

 Recovery  €30,000  None 

 Criminal-law protection  €30,000  None 

 "Caretaker" civil liability  €100,000 per claim per year €1,000   

 "Member of co-ownership management committee" civil liability  €100,000 per claim per year €1,000   
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OTHER INFORMATION ABOUT THE BUSINESS 
 

Related party transactions 

 

Service agreement with Ovalto Investissement 

 

A service agreement was signed with Ovalto 

Investissement with effect from 1 January 2008, under 

the terms of which Ovalto Investissement provides the 

Company with tax, accounting and financial services, 

and manages relations with the stock market on its 

behalf. A rider was added to this agreement to extend 

the term, to broaden the nature of services offered 

and to modify the remuneration accordingly, with 

effect from 1 January 2011. Since this date, the main 

characteristics of this agreement have been as 

follows: 

 

Description of the brief 

 

Assistance and advice for the performance of the 

activities listed below: 

 Accounting, payroll, management and taxation 

o Organisation and administration of financial 

accounting and cost accounting, approval of the 

annual accounts and preparation of balance sheets, 

income statements, notes, income tax returns and 

declarations, electronic management of transactions, 

and accounting procedures; 

o Payroll management, calculation and 

payment of social security contributions, management 

of pension and providence schemes, as well as 

employee profit-sharing and incentive schemes, 

assistance and advice in the event of inspections by 

the URSSAF (the government agency which collects 

social security contributions) and any other social 

security organisations, and the management of all 

disputes and claims on this subject; 

o Organisation and creation of management 

control systems (general procedures, design, 

preparation and monitoring of budgets, monitoring 

and follow-up of accounts payable and receivable, 

analyses and studies, interim reports, etc.); 

o General assistance with taxation, including 

monitoring changes in the regulations, providing 

advice for any specific problems or matters arising 

during day-to-day activities (depreciation, provisions, 

VAT, business tax, etc.) or particular projects 

(investments, restructuring, etc.), assistance and 

advice in the event of tax inspections and, more 

generally, in respect of any claim or contentious or 

non-contentious dispute. 

 

 Financial assistance 

o Financial services: 

Evaluation of cash flow and financing requirements, 

Preparation of profitability calculations and 

statements, 

Liaising with banks. 

o Relations with the stock market 

Organisation of press conferences to present financial 

earnings (SFAF meetings), 

Preparation of financial documents (Registration 

Document), 

Organisation of road shows to meet investors, 

Drafting of press releases and financial notices. 

 Legal assistance 

General assistance for the organisation, management 

and keeping of the corporate books and records 

required by law (notices to meetings, minutes and 

reports of board meetings and shareholders meetings, 

keeping of accounts and registers, written records 

with court registries and the trade and company's 

register, publications in legal gazettes, etc.). 

 

Fees 

 

Ovalto Investissement receives an annual lump sum 

payment of €250,000 excluding tax, pegged to the 

French construction cost index (‘CCI’) as payment for 

these services. 

 

Term of the agreement 

 

The term of the agreement was extended to 10 years 

starting on 1 January 2011. The agreement will then 

be renewed each year by tacit agreement, unless 

terminated by one of the parties two months before 

the expiry of the contractual period. Any such 

termination does not entitle either party to any 

compensation.  

 

Each of the subsidiaries, Terreïs Valorisation and 

Terreïs Real Estate, has also concluded an 

agreement with Ovalto Investissement for almost 

similar services for an annual fee of €15,000 

excluding tax. 
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Asset management agreement with Roques 

 

With effect from 1 January 2009, Terreïs Valorisation 

has entered into an asset management agreement 

with Roques, which is managed by Fabrice Paget-

Domet. 

 

Description of the brief 

 

Under the terms of this agreement, Terreïs 

Valorisation has appointed Roques to study all the 

means that might be used to market residential 

properties, as well as the corresponding basements 

and garages. 

 

This asset management service includes, in 

particular: 

 the establishment of co-ownership, 

 the optimisation of the marketing of apartments 

and its follow-up, particularly the setting up of 

tenants’ meetings in accordance with the 

legislative framework, 

 the appointment of lawyers, bankers, estate 

agents, etc., 

 the choice of architects, 

 the planning and supervision of approved 

renovations and improvements. 

 

There is no risk of operational dependence on 

Roques, which provides services to Terreïs 

Valorisation, the business of which is of secondary 

importance for Terreïs. 

 

Remuneration 

 

In payment for these services, Roques receives a fee 

of 20% of the net margin before corporation tax 

generated by Terreïs Valorisation. In 2014, Roques 

did not receive any remuneration. 

 

Term of the agreement 

 

This agreement was signed for a period of two years, 

renewable annually by tacit agreement, unless 

terminated by one of the parties two months before 

expiry of the then current contractual period. Any such 

termination does not entitle the other party to any 

compensation.

Collateral transfer agreement 

 

By the agreement dated 31 July 2009, Ovalto 

Investissement acquired 100% of the capital and 

voting rights of DAB Expansion. The acquisition 

agreement provided for the payment, if applicable, of 

two supplements to the price to the transferors in the 

event of final cancellation by the tax authorities of all 

or part of the amounts of tax assessed against DAB 

Expansion and Avenir & Investissement as a result of 

earlier tax inspections. Most of the corresponding 

amounts were paid in full prior to the merger. In 

exchange, the transferors provided Ovalto 

Investissement with all the usual representations and 

warranties, in particular, a seller’s guarantee of assets 

and liabilities.  

 

On 21 January 2011, the Board of Directors of Terreïs 

authorised the signing of an agreement between 

Ovalto Investissement, Terreïs and the transferors, 

the purpose of which was to define the terms and 

conditions on which: (i) Ovalto Investissement, as 

contractual surety for the value of the assets 

transferred pursuant to the merger on 10 January 

2011, would transfer to Terreïs the benefit of all the 

representations and warranties made by the 

transferors; and (ii) conversely and in exchange for 

the fact that it had not technically been possible to 

take account of the possible increase in the value of 

the assets arising from final cancellations of tax in 

determining the value of the assets transferred 

pursuant to the merger, Terreïs would bear all the 

expenses and obligations undertaken by Ovalto 

Investissement in favour of the transferors with regard 

to the price supplements. 

 

Thus, any sums due under the seller's guarantee of 

assets and liabilities granted initially to Ovalto 

Investissement would be paid to Terreïs.  

 

Conversely, Terreïs would, if applicable, have to 

repay to the transferors the product of the final 

cancellations of tax. 

 

 

Subordination agreement 

 

This agreement was signed on 21 October 2014 

between (i) a banking syndicate in its capacity as 

lenders to Terreïs and (ii) Ovalto Investissement, and 

its main purpose is to organise the way that the 

former exercise their respective rights as creditors of 

Terreïs, by providing that the sums due under the loan 

agreement signed between Terreïs and the banking 

syndicate are paid and reimbursed, in priority, 

preference and precedence over sums due to Ovalto 

Investissement. This agreement will remain effective 

until the loan taken out by Terreïs has been fully 

repaid. 
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Research and development, patents and licenses 

 

Since Terreïs is a property company set up to invest 

in, own, manage and operate a real estate portfolio 

mainly consisting of commercial property in Paris, it is 

not involved in any research and development activity 

and holds no patents. Furthermore, the Company is 

not dependent on any brand, patent or licence for its 

business or its profitability. 

The same applies to all its subsidiaries. 

 

 

Payment terms 

 

In accordance with Article D. 441-4, the year-end 

breakdown of the balance of trade payables by 

maturity for each of the last two financial years is as 

follows: 

 

(in € 000s) 31/12/2014 31/12/2013 

30-day payment 1,031 1,187 

 

 

Rules applicable to amendments to the Articles of 

Association 

 

Pursuant to Article L. 225-100-3-7° of the French 

Commercial Code, we refer you to the ‘Additional 

Information about the Share Capital and 

Shareholders’ found in this Registration Document. 

 

 

Subsidiaries 

 

Pursuant to Article L. 233-13 of the French 

Commercial Code, we refer you to the organisational 

chart found in this Registration Document.  

 

 

Social and environmental consequences of the 

Company's business and societal commitments 

 

Terreïs, which is a service company, is not exposed to 

any industrial risk. However, the Company must 

respond to risk prevention requirements both for the 

health and safety of people and for protection of the 

environment by applying the relevant regulations. 

 

General environmental policy 

 

In order to understand the environmental impact of its 

property assets in their entirety (i.e. in terms of all 

environmental aspects: energy, pollution, waste 

treatment, transportation, health, materials, etc.), 

Terreïs has decided to obtain BREEAM In Use 

Certification for all its buildings by 2017. The expert 

assessment will therefore concern 119,000 m2. The 

renovation work completed at 11 bis rue Roquépine in 

Paris has already obtained BREEAM Fit Out 

Certification, which specifically concerns the quality of 

the building’s fixtures and fittings. The Company has 

also obtained BREEAM In Use Certification, Part 1, 

Ranked ‘Good’, for its building located at 19, rue de 

Galilée in Paris (75016). BREEAM Certification is 

expanding fast in Europe and remains the certification 

tool most popular with European investors for the 

environmental performance of buildings. This 

certification concerns the operating of the building and 

not its construction and is based on the internal 

aspects of the building and/or on the management 

aspect of operations and/or the user aspect. 

Certification is valid for a renewable three-year period 

and may change, after an inspection, as and when 

works are carried out, operating methods are 

changed, or users become involved. 

 

Furthermore, in preparation for the energy efficiency 

upgrading of its commercial portfolio under the 

Grenelle 2 Law of 12 July 2010, and while waiting for 

the decree which will determine the nature of, and 

measures to be taken for, this obligation, Terreïs is 

taking care to make choices which deal with this 

problem when it carries out works on its property 

portfolio. 

 

Lastly, Terreïs' administrative offices are located in a 

building which is currently undergoing Bâtiment de 

Basse Consommation (‘BBC’ or Energy Efficient 

Building) certification. 

 

Regulation 

(a) Technical audit file 

In accordance with the provisions of Article 3-1 of Law 

no. 89-462 of 6 July 1989, Terreïs attaches a 

technical inspection file for each lease concerned, 

comprising: 

 The energy efficiency diagnosis 

 The exposure to lead risk report  

 The statement of natural, mining and 

technological hazards in the areas 

concerned. 

 

(b) Asbestos 

In accordance with the applicable regulations, Terreïs 

runs an asbestos technical diagnosis for each of its 

buildings. In certain buildings, these diagnoses have 

sometimes revealed the presence of asbestos in good 

condition which does not require removal or 

containment. 

 

Waste management  

 

In certain buildings, Terreïs has replaced the 

collection of non-selective rubbish bins with 

selectively-sorted bins, thus responding to 

environmental concerns as well as reducing costs for 

users. 
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Terreïs also educates contractors working on its sites 

so that they participate actively in the sorting of 

rubbish.  

 

Lastly, it provides its employees with the resources for 

sorting rubbish and recycling printing cartridges. 

 

Sustainable use of resources 

 

As part of the renovation work carried out on its 

properties, Terreïs chooses systematically to install 

facilities that reduce water and energy consumption 

(exterior thermal insulation, solar hot water 

production, double-glazed windows with increased 

insulation, sanitary facilities, lighting, etc.). 

 

Societal information 

The business of the Terreïs group generates no major 

significant health and safety risks. 

 

Nonetheless, Terreïs has taken the measures 

necessary to comply with the law on the safety of 

existing lifts. 

 

Decree no. 2004-964 of 9 September 2004 on lift 

safety provides for work to be carried out to ensure 

the safety of lifts in service prior to 27 August 2000, in 

accordance with the following timetable: 31 December 

2010, 3 July 2013 postponed to 3 July 2014, and 3 

July 2018, as well as the obligation to carry out a five-

year technical inspection to ensure compliance and 

detect any defects that could compromise the safety 

of persons or the operation of the lift.  

 

Terreïs has commissioned an independent 

organisation to carry out the five-year inspections as 

well as advisory audits on all the lifts in its buildings. 

These lifts comply with 2010 and 2013 standards. 

 

Human resources 

(a) Headcount 

Since it has entrusted to Ovalto Investissement the 

tasks of providing administrative, legal, financial and 

accounting services, and since the management of 

buildings has been transferred to property managers, 

the Company has only three people on its payroll. The 

group’s employees rose from 22 persons in 2013 to 

25 on 31 December 2014, 60% of which were women 

and 40% were men, working in Ile de France. 

 

At 31 December 2014 and with the exception of one 

person on an apprenticeship contract, all employees 

had permanent employment contracts, two of which 

were part-time. 

 

During 2014, the company recruited seven 

employees, six of whom had permanent employment 

contracts. Four employees left the company in 2014, 

one of which left after the end of a fixed-term contract. 

 

In accordance with the basic conventions of the 

International Labour Organisation, the Terreïs group 

only employs adult staff and does not practise any 

discrimination with respect to employment. As an 

operator of real estate assets, there are no problems 

directly related to the working conditions of 

employees.  

 

Today, the Terreïs group does not have any disabled 

employees among its staff. 

 

 
 

 
 

(b) Organisation and length of working hours 

The Terreïs group applies a collective working 

schedule of 39 hours per week, with a reduction of 

working hours in the form of rest days. 

 

At 31 December 2014, there were nine days’ 

absence, of which one day of sick leave and eight of 

days of paternity leave. 

 

(c) Labour relations 

The Terreïs group is subject to the French national 

collective bargaining agreement for real estate, 

property managers, real estate companies, estate 

agents, etc. 

Given their staff numbers, the Terreïs group 

companies do not have employee representative 

bodies. 
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(d) Health and safety 

Terreïs operates real estate assets Therefore it is not 

faced with problems directly related to the health and 

safety of its employees. No absence resulting from an 

occupational illness or work-related accident was 

recorded in 2014.  

 

Given the group's size and business activities, the 

other social, environmental and societal information 

required by the French Commercial Code does not 

seem relevant to us. 

 

(e) Remuneration, social security contributions, 

gender equality 

The gross, annual average remuneration of all the 

group's employees (excluding company officers) 

stood at €44,000. The women’s average gross annual 

remuneration was €44,100 while that of men was 

€43,900, a difference of €200. However, these 

averages are for information only and must be 

interpreted with care because of the nature of the jobs 

held and the differences in age, length of service and 

qualifications observed between the two genders. 

Nevertheless, the policy of the Terreïs group is to 

respect gender equality for equivalent terms and 

conditions of employment and qualifications. 

 

At 31 December 2014, Terreïs had €1,954,000 of 

payroll expenses. 
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STATEMENT OF RESULTS FOR THE LAST FIVE FINANCIAL YEARS 
 

 

Category 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 

Share capital at year-end      

Share capital 23,615,079 75,382,704 75,779,250 75,779,250 76,199,250 

Number of shares  7,871,693 25,127,568 25,259,750 25,259,750 25,469,750(1) 

Operations and revenue for the period      

Revenue, excluding tax  18,743,433 39,326,119 65,554,461 70,181,652 82,849,000 

Earnings before tax, employee profit-
sharing, depreciation and provisions 

10,649,193 44,199,536 56,464,788 56,934,327 59,896,670 

Income tax 9,645 0 1,694,943 121,370 89,132 

Employee profit-sharing during the 
period 

0 0 0 0 0 

Earnings after tax, employee profit-
sharing, depreciation and provisions 

4,070,607 35,768,342 34,681,249 34,306,964 31,727,255 

Distributed earnings for the period 
(excluding cumulative preferred 
dividend) 

3,857,130 14,322,714 15,408,448 16,166,240(*) 17,319,430 

Earnings per share      

Earnings before tax, employee profit-
sharing, depreciation and provisions 

1.35 1.76 2.24 2.25 2.35 

Earnings after tax, employee profit-
sharing, depreciation and provisions 

0.52 1.43 1.37 1.36 1.25 

Dividend per share 0.49 0.57 0.61 0.64 0.70(2) 

Staff      

Average headcount during the period 4 4 2 2 3 

Total wage and salary costs for the 
period 

165,350 271,222 272,440 255,951 287,116 

Amounts paid in respect of employee 
benefits 

65,870 106,121 98,425 108,645 125,599 

 
(1) of which 210,000 S2PFs with a par value of €2 
(2) proposed distribution 
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2014 CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

Consolidated income statement 

 

(in € 000s) Notes 31/12/2014 31/12/2013 

Gross rents 1 71,923 61,798 

Other revenue from ordinary activities  2 1,764 0 

Rental expenses incurred 3 -1,486 -2,499 

Management and rental fees 4 -558 -1,957 

Total of net triple rents   71,644 57,342 

Payroll costs  5 -1,954 -745 

External charges 6 -2,497 -1,740 

Taxes   -1,012 -687 

Allocation to depreciation and provisions 29 -29,063 -23,545 

Other operating income and expenses  7 -94 572 

Current operating income   37,024 31,198 

Profit/loss from disposals of investment property 8 26,546 23,667 

Profit on sales of short-term assets 9 -19 -35 

Other operating income and expenses  10 -422 1,057 

Operating income   63,129 55,888 

Net cost of financial debts   -27,803 -22,780 

Other financial income and expenses   -283 -239 

Financial income 11 -28,086 -23,019 

Tax expense  12 -721 -416 

Net income   34,322 32,452 

Group share 13 33,794 32,164 

Minority interests   527 289 

Net income /share   €1.33 €1.27 

Diluted net income per share   €1.32 €1.27 
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Other items of comprehensive income 

 

(in € 000s) Notes 31/12/2014 31/12/2013 

Net income   34,322 32,452 

Profit/loss items allocated to shareholders’ equity:       

 - Change in fair value of hedging instruments 24 -38,680 18,394 

Sub-total of other items which may subsequently be reclassified as 
net profit 

  -38,680 18,394 

Sub-total of other items which may not subsequently be 
reclassified as net profit 

  0   

Comprehensive income   -4,359 50,846 

Minority interests   527 289 
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Consolidated balance sheet 

 

ASSETS (in € 000s) Notes 31/12/2014 31/12/2013 

Non-current assets:       

Intangible assets 14 373 448 

Investment property 15 1,054,224 996,087 

Works in progress 16 15,018 10,785 

Other non-current assets 17 8,258 10,183 

Total non-current assets   1,077,872 1,017,503 

Current assets:        

Inventory 19 3,722 2,905 

Trade receivables and related accounts payable 20 5,703 3,210 

Other current assets  21 5,903 4,011 

Cash and cash equivalents 22 6,254 7,426 

Buildings held for sale 18 772 3,654 

Total current assets   22,354 21,206 

TOTAL ASSETS   1,100,229 1,038,709 

        

SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES (in € 000s) Notes 31/12/2014 31/12/2013 

Shareholders’ equity:        

Issued share capital   76,200 75,780 

Share premiums and reserves   96,411 121,429 

Treasury shares 23 -102 -136 

Profit/(loss) for the year   33,794 32,164 

Minority interests   1,009 1,196 

Total equity 28 207,312 230,432 

Non-current liabilities:        

Non-current loans 24 702,134 580,411 

Non-current derivative instruments 25 60,004 22,186 

Provision   40 60 

Article I. Exit Tax (non-current part) 
26 2,214 255 

Total non-current liabilities   764,391 602,912 

Current liabilities:        

Trade payables and related accounts payable   777 856 

Deposits received   14,795 14,014 

Current loans 24 83,817 162,930 

Current derivative instruments 25 15,083 13,993 

Article II. Exit Tax (non-current part) 
26 1,362 10,509 

Other current liabilities 27 12,691 3,062 

Total current liabilities   128,524 205,363 

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY AND LIABILITIES   1,100,229 1,038,709 
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Consolidated cash flow statement 

 

(in € 000s) Notes 31/12/2014 31/12/2013 

Net consolidated profit   34,322 32,452 

Net allocation to depreciation and provisions  29 29,346 22,679 

Capital gains and losses on assets sold net of income tax 30 -26,699 -24,963 

Current cash flow after net finance cost and tax 31 36,968 30,168 

Net cost of financial debts 11 27,803 22,780 

Tax liability (including deferred taxes)  12 721 416 

Cash flow before net finance cost and tax    65,492 53,364 

Tax paid    -1,074 -3,390 

Change in working capital requirement 32 -10,427 -9,864 

Net cash flow from operating activities (A)   53,991 40,110 

Cash outflows linked to acquisitions of investment property 33 -95,074 -257,051 

Cash inflows linked to assets sold 8 35,379 42,099 

Change in loans and advances made on agreements to purchase   2,428 1,841 

Change in unavailable cash equivalents 17 1,955 -350 

Impact of changes in consolidation scope (1)     1,674 

Net cash flow linked to investment transactions (B)   -55,312 -211,787 

Sums received from shareholders during capital increases    548   

Purchases and sales of treasury shares 23 71 -39 

Dividends paid to shareholders of the parent company   -16,721 -15,899 

Dividends paid to minority interests of consolidated companies   -715 -278 

Cash inflows linked to new borrowings 24 207,900 130,700 

Repayment of borrowings (2) 24 -41,679 -33,088 

Net interest expense paid 11 -27,803 -22,780 

Other flows linked to financing transactions 34 -121,452 108,248 

Net cash flow linked to financing transactions (C)   149 166,864 

Change in cash position (D) = (A) + (B) + (C)   -1,173 -4,813 

Cash and cash equivalents – opening balance   7,426 12,240 

Cash and cash equivalents – closing balance   6,254 7,426 

        

Cash and cash equivalents   6,254 7,426 

Bank overdrafts       

Cash 22 6,254 7,426 

 
(1) Negative goodwill of €1,061,000 from the acquisition of SAS Imodam; 

(2) excluding financing made by Ovalto Investissement, lines of credit and repayment of bullet loan. 
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Statement of changes in consolidated shareholders’ equity 

 

(in € 000s) 
Share 

capital 

Share 
premiums 

and 
reserves 

Treasury 
shares 

Income 
Group 
share 

Minorities Total 

                

Shareholders’ equity at 
31/12/2012 

75,780 59,251 -71 59,687 194,646 374 195,020 

Net income        32,164 32,164 289 32,453 

Expenses and revenue directly 
recognised in shareholders’ 
equity 

  18,394     18,394   18,394 

Comprehensive income   18,394   32,164 50,558 289 50,847 

Dividends (2012 balance)       -7,889 -7,889 -294 -8,183 

Dividends (2013 interim dividend)   -8,010     -8,010   -8,010 

Appropriation of income 
31.12.2012 

  51,797   -51,798       

Treasury shares      -65   -65   -65 

Other changes   -3     -3 827 824 

Shareholders’ equity at 
31.12.13 

75,780 121,429 -136 32,164 229,236 1,196 230,432 

Net income        33,794 33,794 527 34,322 

Expenses and revenue directly 
recognised in shareholders' 
equity 

  -38,680     -38,680   -38,680 

Comprehensive income   -38,680   33,794 -4,886 527 -4,359 

Dividends (2013 balance)       -8,138 -8,138 -714 -8,852 

Dividends (2014 interim dividend)   -8,584     -8,584   -8,584 

Appropriation of income 
31.12.2013 

  24,026   -24,026 0   0 

Capital increase 420 128     548   548 

Treasury shares    37 34   71   71 

Other changes   -1,945     -1,945   -1,945 

Equity at 31.12.14 76,200 96,411 -102 33,794 206,302 1,009 207,311 
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements  

 

Unless otherwise specified, all figures are expressed in thousands of euros (€ 000s). 

I. Accounting principles 

(a) Rules applied 

The consolidated financial statements as at 31 December 2014 have been prepared in accordance with IFRS 

standards and principles, according to the historical cost method, with the exception of some financial assets and 

liabilities assessed at their fair value when this is required by IFRS. They are presented in comparison with the 

financial statements of 31 December 2013.  

Pursuant to European Regulation no. 1126/2008 of 3 November 2008 on International Accounting Standards, the 

consolidated financial statements of the Terreïs group at 31 December 2014 was prepared in compliance with 

International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) published by the IASB as adopted by the European Union and 

applicable on this date. 

The IFRS benchmark adopted by the European Union comprises the IFRS (International Financial Reporting 

Standards), IAS (International Accounting Standards) and their interpretations (SIC and IFRIC). 

The accounting principles applied for the consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2014 are identical to 

those used in the consolidated financial statements at 31 December 2013, with the exception of the new standards, 

amendments to standards and interpretations of the standards in force in the European Union at 31 December 2013 

and required to be applied on that date: 

 Main IFRS standards, amendments and interpretations in force inside the European Union and of mandatory 

or applicable early application on or after 1 January 2014: 

- IFRS 10: Consolidated financial statements 

- IFRS 11: Partnerships, 

- IFRS 12: Disclosures of interests in other entities 

- IFRS 21: Taxes levied by a public authority, 

- Revised IAS27: Company financial statements 

- Revised IAS28: Holdings in affiliates and joint ventures, 

- Amendment to IAS 32: Offsetting financial assets and liabilities, 

- Amendment to IAS 36: Disclosures of the recoverable amount of non-financial assets, 

- Amendment to IAS 39: Novation of derivative instruments and maintenance of hedge accounting. 

These texts had no special impact on the accounts of Terreïs group.  

 The main other standards, amendments and interpretations published by the IASB and approved by the 

European Union before 31 December 2014 but not mandatory at 31 December 2014: 

These rules, which concern the following items, should not have any special impact for the Terreïs group.   

Standards Date of application 

IFRS 15  Taxes levied by a public authority 1 January 2017 
 

(b) Basis of assessment, judgement and use of estimates 

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of estimates and assumptions which affect the amounts 

presented.  
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The estimates which may have a material impact on the valuation of the assets, liabilities and results are as follows:  

 Inventory value of investment properties: 

After they are placed in portfolio, investment properties are valued on the basis of their amortised cost in accordance 

with the option offered by IAS 40. 

Twice a year, an independent valuer values the entire portfolio. These valuations are conducted during the half-year 

review at 30 June and at the financial year-end at 31 December each year. 

The property valuation indicated by the valuer is a mid-range value (assessed for each individual property) based on 

the values obtained from: 

- the capitalisation of rental income; the yield is based on observations of rates applied on the property 

market; 

- direct comparison with similar transactions on the market. 

This valuation may lead to the recognition of provisions for impairment when the value of the asset determined by the 

valuer is lower than its net book value. 

These fair values are determined in accordance with the valuation rules described in IFRS 13. According to the 

criteria of this standard, Terreïs has chosen a level 3 classification of the parameters used in estimating fair value (at 

least one significant component of fair value is based on non-observable data). 

 Market value of financial instruments:  

Derivative financial instruments are recognised at their fair value. As the group has opted for hedge accounting, the 

changes in their fair value from one financial year to another may have a significant impact on consolidated 

shareholders’ equity.  

(c) Consolidation methods 

The consolidated financial statements of the Terreïs group combine the financial statements of Terreïs S.A. and its 

subsidiaries. All the consolidated companies included in the scope of consolidation are controlled exclusively by the 

group and therefore are consolidated by the full consolidation method. 

All consolidated companies end their financial year on 31 December. 

All internal transactions and positions are eliminated on consolidation. 

Reciprocal balances and intercompany transactions are eliminated. 

The various group companies present their financial statements according to uniform principles. Restatements may 

be made, in particular for newly consolidated companies. 

The list of fully consolidated companies is presented in Part IV ‘Scope of Consolidation’. 

(d) Sectoral reporting  

The Terreïs group’s main business is property, which consists in owning real estate assets for rental purposes and in 

trading these assets. 

Sectoral revenue is the revenue from this business, divided into types of asset and geographic regions. 

(e) Business combination  

Business combinations are treated in accordance with revised IFRS 3. 

During the first consolidation of an entity for which the group acquires exclusive control, the assets acquired and the 

liabilities, including contingent liabilities, are recognised at their fair value on the acquisition date.  
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Any difference between the cost of acquisition and the acquirer's portion in the fair value of the assets and liabilities 

acquired is carried into income, except where the Company's business activity would enable the justification of 

positive goodwill, which would be recorded in the assets and valued at cost.  

The companies acquired by the group are primarily involved in holding and operating property assets. By buying the 

shares of these companies, the group is in fact buying property assets. The fair value of the buildings within the 

scope of consolidation is generally determined by reference to the purchase price of the shares, from which we 

deduct or add the fair value of the other assets or liabilities acquired.  

Consequently, no goodwill or negative goodwill is, in principle, recognised on the balance sheet when acquired 

companies come within the scope of consolidation for the first time. 

The acquisition costs incurred in connection with these business combinations are recorded as expenses.  

(f) Intangible assets 

An intangible asset is an identifiable non-monetary asset without physical substance constituting a resource 

controlled by the enterprise as a result of past events and from which future economic benefits are expected. An 

intangible asset is identifiable if separated from the acquired entity or if resulting from legal or contractual rights. 

Intangible assets primarily comprise temporary rights to real estate income. Temporary rights to real estate income 

are measured at cost (purchase price, including all ancillary costs). They are amortised on a straight line basis over 

the useful life of a temporary right to real estate income fixed for 10 years. 

(g) Investment property 

The real estate portfolio consists of investment property to be held on a long-term basis. These real estate assets are 

held to obtain rent from them and to increase the value of the invested capital. 

Capitalised cost of investment properties: 

In accordance with the option provided by IAS 40, investment property may be accounted for at the entry cost less 

the cumulative total of depreciation and any impairment losses. 

The cost of investment property is made up of: 

- the purchase price expressed in the deed, or the construction cost, including non-recoverable taxes, after 

deducting any discounts, commercial rebates and payment discounts,  

- all attributable costs incurred in putting the investment property into lettable condition depending on the use 

planned by management. Therefore, the transfer rights, fees, commissions and registration expenses 

relating to the acquisition are included in the cost. 

The gross value is divided into four separate components: land, structure/shell, roof/façade and technical 

installations. These represent a breakdown, by building trade, of the true construction cost of a commercial property. 

The value of land corresponds to the valuation carried out by an independent valuer for buildings acquired prior to 31 

December 2006 and other buildings are valued on a case-by-case basis, mainly based on the geographic location of 

the property. 

The cost of other components has been estimated on the following basis for the entire real estate portfolio: 

- Structure/Shell:   65% 

- Roof/Façade: 20% 

- Technical Installations: 15% 
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Depreciation: 

Depreciation has been calculated on the basis of the fair value of the property, either at the acquisition date for 

properties and for shares in SCIs acquired since 1 January 2007, or on the basis of the adjusted value at 31 

December 2006 for properties and for shares in SCIs existing at this date. Allocations to depreciation are calculated 

as follows: 

                                                           Existing buildings  

Structure/Shell 30 to 50 years  

Roof/Façade 20 years  

Technical Installations 10 years  

The straight-line depreciation method adopted is standard in view of the nature and age of the materials used in 

constructing the building. 

Works: 

The costs of restructuring, renovating and modernising certain premises, and of modernising the real estate portfolio, 

are capitalised. The costs of building refurbishment (replacing windows, heating systems, etc.) are also capitalised. 

Conversely, the costs of work carried out to maintain the real estate portfolio (cost of refurbishment of communal 

areas for an entire development or a single building) and the refurbishment of premises during re-letting are 

expensed for the period, unless charged to the tenant under the lease. 

At each financial year-end or interim reporting date, the net asset value of investment property is based on its 

depreciated cost. 

Finance leases for investment property: 

Rentals of tangible non-current assets under which virtually all the risks and benefits inherent in the property belong 

to the group are classified as finance leases. The fair value of buildings covered by a finance lease is recorded as an 

asset. The capital debt owed to the lessor is booked as current and non-current liabilities.  

The amount of the fair value relating to the contracts acquired with fixed terms is determined according to a 

depreciation plan established on the contract acquisition date so as to book, throughout the term of the contract, an 

interest charge representing the fixed rate and the acquirer's marginal debt on the contract acquisition date.  

Each payment under the rental contracts is broken down into the financial expense and the amortisation of the 

remainder of the debt. 

(h) Non-current assets held for sale 

In compliance with IFRS 5, when the Group has decided to sell an asset or group of assets, it is classified as an 

asset held for sale if: 

- The asset or group of assets is available for immediate sale in its current state, subject only to the normal 

and customary terms and conditions for sale of such assets; 

- the sale is likely to occur within one year. 

For the group, only those assets which meet the above criteria and for which a formal decision for disposal has been 

taken (such as a signed contract for sale) are classified as current assets held for sale. 

(i) Inventory and works in progress 

Inventory and works in progress are booked at their acquisition or production cost. At each closing, they are valued at 

the lower of their cost price and the net realisation value. 

The net realisation value represents the estimated sale price in the normal course of business, less the costs 

expected for completing or realising the sale.  

An impairment loss is booked if the net realisation value is lower than the booked cost.  
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Inventory is exclusively comprised of unsold units from the property trading business. 

(j) Trade receivables 

Trade receivables mainly comprise short-term receivables. An impairment is created when the booked outstanding 

sum is higher than the recoverable amount. Trade receivables are impaired on a case-by-case basis depending on 

various criteria such as the existence of collection difficulties, disputes, or the debtor's financial position. 

(k) Loans and non-current receivables 

Loans and non-current receivables mainly comprise deposits and payments of collateral which have a maturity of 

more than twelve months. They are booked according to the amortised cost method. 

(l) Cash and cash equivalents 

Because cash is managed at group level, cash and cash equivalents comprise the group’s debit and credit bank 

balances. Surplus cash is either held in interest-bearing bank accounts (term deposit) or in a marketable securities 

investment account made up exclusively of UCITS. UCITS which do not meet the criteria for classification as cash 

equivalents are accounted for at fair value through profit or loss.  

(m) Revenue 

The leases signed by the group are mainly commercial leases regulated by legislation introduced in 1953. They are 

classified as operating leases within the meaning of IAS 17, since Terreïs retains most of the risks and rewards 

relating to ownership of the leased property. 

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in a straight line over the entire term of the lease agreement. Rent 

holidays granted are spread over operating leases by addition or subtraction from the rental income for the year and 

in accordance with the most probable term of the lease. 

The recovery of rental expenses from tenants is deducted from charges, since this is not considered as revenue 

within the meaning of IAS 18. 

(n) Earnings per share 

In accordance with IAS 33, undiluted earnings per share (basic earnings per share) represent group share of net 

income attributable to shares as a function of the weighted average number of outstanding shares for the period. The 

number of outstanding shares for the period is the number of shares outstanding at the beginning of the year, 

adjusted by the number of shares bought or issued during the period. 

Diluted earnings per share are calculated on the basis of the number of shares in circulation adjusted to take into 

account the dilutive effect of equity securities issued by the Company which could result in increasing the number of 

shares in circulation. 

(o) Income tax 

The companies of the Terreïs group benefit from the specific tax status of listed property investment companies 

(SIIC), with the exception of Terreïs Valorisation, Terreïs Real Estate, and Imodam, which fall under the tax regime 

which applies normal rates. 
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Tax regime for SIICs: 

Terreïs and its subsidiaries which qualify for SIIC tax status have opted to adopt this regime. Two separate taxable 

sectors have been identified within the group: 

- an SIIC sector exempted from tax on current income or capital gains from sales and on dividends received 

from subsidiaries subject to the SIIC regime, 

- a sector taxable at normal rates for other operations. 

In return for tax exemption, the application of the SIIC regime entails, at the time of the option, specific obligations 

regarding payment of and liability for a 19% Exit Tax calculated on the potential gains relating to the investment 

properties. This tax is payable annually in quarters: the first payment is due on 15 December of the year of the option, 

and the balance is spread over the next three years. 

Note that the debt relating to the Exit Tax has not been discounted to present value. 

Normal rate regime: 

Tax payable: The payable tax expense is determined on the basis of applicable rules and rates which apply to the 

companies of the group which do not have SIIC status and for transactions which do not fall within under the 

exempted SIIC sector. 

Deferred taxes: In accordance with IAS 12, deferred taxes are recognised in the temporary differences between the 

book value of the asset or liability components and their tax base. According to the variable carry forward method, 

they are calculated on the basis of the tax rate expected to apply to the financial year during which the asset or 

liability will be realised. The effects of the changes in tax rates from one financial year to another are recorded in the 

results of the financial year during which the change was made. Deferred tax assets and liabilities from the same tax 

entity are offset when they concern income taxes paid to the same tax authority. 

Deferred taxes relating to items accounted for directly as shareholders’ equity are also recognised as shareholders’ 

equity. 

As regards the timing differences relating to holdings in subsidiaries which have not opted for the SIIC regime and to 

holdings accounted for under the equity method or consolidated proportionally, a deferred tax liability is recognised if: 

- the group is in a position to control the date on which the timing difference will be reversed, 

and 

- the timing difference is not reversed in the foreseeable future. 

Deferred tax assets resulting from timing differences, tax losses and tax credits which can be carried forward are 

limited to the estimated amount of the recoverable tax. 

This is determined at the end of the financial year, on the basis of forecast of the taxable revenues of the entities 

concerned. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not discounted to present value. 

Contribution to the added value of companies: 

The group has chosen to expense the contribution to the added value of companies under operating expenses. 

(p) Provisions 

Provisions for risks and charges: According to IAS 37, a provision is recognised when the group has a present 

obligation to a third party, as a result of a past event, the settlement of which is expected to result in an outflow of 

resources representative of economic benefits, and the amount of which can be reliably estimated. 

Any kind of identified risks, particularly operational and financial risks, are regularly reviewed to determine the amount 

of provisions that may be required. 

Provisions for retirement and other employee benefits: In view of the negligible amount of entitlements, no provision 

for retirement and other employee benefits is recognised.  
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(q) Bank borrowings and financial instruments 

Financial liabilities: Borrowings and other interest-bearing financial assets are valued, after their initial recognition, 

according to the amortised cost method using the effective interest rate of the loan. In accordance with IAS 23, loan 

arrangement expenses are deducted from loans and financial liabilities and are deferred on a straight line basis over 

the term of the loans concerned. 

Derivative instruments and hedge accounting: The group uses derivative instruments to hedge its floating-rate debts 

against interest rate risk (hedging of future cash flows) and applies hedge accounting when the preconditions of 

documentation and effectiveness are met (IAS 39). The effective part of the change in fair value of the hedging 

instrument is booked against shareholders’ equity, and the change in value of the ineffective part is immediately 

booked to income for the period.  

The fair value of derivative instruments is measured by commonly accepted models based on market inputs.  

Derivatives are classified as non-current assets or liabilities, or as current assets or liabilities, depending on their 

maturity date.   

Hierarchy of the fair value of financial instruments: Pursuant to IFRS 13, the hierarchy of fair value which reflects the 

importance of the data used in the valuations comprises the following three levels:  

 Level 1: Non-adjusted market prices on active markets for identical assets or liabilities available on the 

valuation date; 

 Level 2: Input data other than market prices included in Level 1, which are directly or indirectly observable 

on an active market. 

 Level 3: Input data which are not observable on an active market. 

(r) Definition of the group’s ordinary business activity 

The ordinary business activity of the Terreïs Group is the leasing of properties in its real estate portfolio. All activity 

contributing to the development, management and marketing of the group’s real estate portfolio are part of current 

business activity. Current assets are defined as assets which the Company expects to be able to realise, sell or 

consume in the 12 months following the financial year-end. All other assets are non-current assets. Current liabilities 

are defined as liabilities that the Company expects to settle in the 12 months following the financial year-end. All 

other liabilities are non-current liabilities. 

II. Management of sectoral and financial risks 

The group's operational and financial activities expose it to the following risks: 

(a) Sectoral risks 

Terreïs operates in the commercial real estate sector, particularly in offices in the Central Business District of Paris. 

As a result, Terreïs is exposed to risks of fluctuation in the value of its real estate assets and its rents. These 

fluctuations may have a positive or negative material impact on its business activity, its earnings, its solvency and its 

development outlook. 

 

Risks relating to fluctuations in the property market:  

The value of the real estate portfolio depends on the balance between supply and demand for offices by property 

investors. In addition to the general economic environment, the availability of modern buildings, the level of interest 

rates, and the terms on which credit is granted are key factors for this market; they are outside Terreïs’s control and 

changes in them are difficult to predict. 

Furthermore, the assets are held for the long term and are valued in the accounts at their net amortisation cost, since 

short-term changes in value have no direct impact on earnings. They do, however, have an impact on the Adjusted 

Net Asset Value.  

 



 

  Terreïs 2014 Annual Report 
59 

The risk of fluctuation in rents:  

Invoiced rents are based on long-term rental commitments which are indexed each year to changes, both upwards 

and downwards, in the French Construction Cost Index published by INSEE. 

At the expiry of existing leases (3, 6, 9 years), possibly renewed, the Company is subject to the uncertainties of the 

rental market when re-letting the vacated premises. In this competitive market, macro-economic conditions and, in 

particular, changes in business activity and employment in the Ile de France region have an impact both on the 

length of time required for, and on the price of, re-letting (rental value). Furthermore, premises that need to be 

adapted to demand may, in certain cases, lead to a period of extended vacancy of buildings. 

Impact of a change in rents: 

The calculation was made based on the assumption of a decrease in rents and not an increase in vacant lots. 

(in € 000s)   
Impact of a 5% 

decline in rents 
Published rents 

Impact of a 5% 
increase in rents 

Rents     68,327 71,923 75,519 

Theoretical consolidated income 30,649 34,322 37,995 

Theoretical net position 203,639 207,312 210,985 

Environmental risks:  

Terreïs’s business activity is subject to various regulations on the environment and public health. Its assets may be 

exposed to problems linked to asbestos, termites and lead, in particular. Terreïs may be held liable in the event of a 

breach of its obligation to supervise and inspect its facilities. Should Terreïs be found liable in any such 

circumstances, this would have a negative impact on its business activity, outlook and good standing. To limit these 

risks, Terreïs has adopted a preventive policy which consists in carrying out diagnostic checks, and upgrades if 

necessary, to become compliant with environmental standards.  

(b) Counterparty risks 

Customer risk:  

As the Company has a non-localised client portfolio both in terms of number and sectoral breakdown, Terreïs is not 

exposed to a major customer credit risk, even though occasional payment defaults or late payments cannot be 

excluded.  

When the lease is signed, the solvency of clients is assessed by the Terreïs’s General Management and by the 

property manager, Imodam, based on the payment history of clients already present in the portfolio, and credit 

checks for new customers. 

During a lease, the credit risk of clients is monitored regularly by Imodam, the property manager, and by Terreïs’s 

internal services. 

Banking counterparty risk:  

Financial transactions, mostly involving bank borrowings, purchases of derivatives to hedge interest rate risk and 

short-term drawdowns on a line of credit, are executed with leading French financial institutions. 

The failure of one or more of these counterparties may have a significant impact on the Company's liquidity. 

However, no banking counterparty owns more than one third of the financial resources or the derivative instruments 

used by the group. 
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Insurance counterparty risk:  

The buildings in the portfolio are covered by a comprehensive new-for-old insurance policy taken out through an 

insurance broker, Gras Savoye. 

(c) Financial liquidity risk 

Terreïs implements a strategy that seeks to use bank debt to finance its growth. Therefore, the group is subject to 

liquidity risk, in the context of financing for its development programme. Financing needs and terms are studied when 

each investment property is acquired. The same applies to the monitoring of the covenants linked to the existing 

debt. 

Therefore, a significant and sustained restriction of the terms and conditions for access to the bank markets and/or 

the capital markets could slow Terreïs’s growth. 

Access to credit is contingent on, for bank resources, compliance with several financial ratios mainly connected to the 

structure of the balance sheet (Loan to Value, or LTV) and the capacity of the business to cover the cost of its debt. 

These ratios are reported to the banks, in accordance with contractual commitments, either every six months or every 

year. 

(d) Interest rate risk 

Changes in the financial markets may lead to fluctuations in interest rates, which may result in an increase in the cost 

of financing. 

To finance its investments, Terreïs may use floating rate borrowings. To avoid the risk of increases in interest rates, 

Terreïs systematically hedges these floating rate borrowings over their entire life in order to fix a favourable 

differential between the profitability of the property assets acquired and the cost of financing. 

During 2014, Terreïs continued its prudent debt management policy by putting in place appropriate hedging 

agreements (swaps) for each loan borrowed at a floating rate with a term of more than one year. Debts due in less 

than one year are not hedged.  

The derivative instruments used for hedging interest rate risk are valued in the accounts at their fair value; any 

fluctuation in value over time may have a positive or negative material impact on consolidated income or equity. The 

estimated value of interest rate derivative instruments is a direct function of their maturity and interest rate 

expectations. 

Sensitivity of the fair value of derivative instruments: 

(in € 000s) 
Fair value 

assuming a 0.5% 
fall in rates 

Fair value 
adopted at 

31.12.14 

Fair value 
assuming a 0.5% 
increase in rates 

Interest Rate Swap: payer of fixed rate / receiver of 3-month 
Euribor floating rate 

94,808 75,086 52,253 

(e) Other risks 

Legal and regulatory risks:  

Terreïs must comply with many regulations in various areas such as urban planning, construction, operating permits, 

health, safety and the environment, leasehold rights (especially the indexation of rents), company law and tax, in 

particular as regards the provisions for the SIIC regime. Changes in the regulatory framework might require Terreïs to 

adapt its business, assets or strategy, which could affect the value of its real estate portfolio, its financial position or 

earnings, raise expenses or slow down or prevent the development of certain investment projects. 
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Risk of losing SIIC tax status: 

Terreïs is subject to the tax regime for SIICs, which enables it to benefit from an exemption on corporation tax for its 

companies’ real estate activity, provided it complies with certain obligations, particularly on distribution. If Terreïs 

were to fail to comply with these obligations, it would be subject to corporation tax at the normal rate for the financial 

years in question, which would have a negative impact on its earnings. The same would apply if it exceeds the 60% 

threshold of ownership by a single shareholder of the equity capital or voting rights. 

In this respect, it should be noted that Terreïs was subject to a tax inspection in respect of the financial years ended 

31 December 2009 and 31 December 2010 and that no comment was made by the Tax Administration which might 

jeopardise the SIIC tax regime. 

Risk relating to the shareholding structure: 

At 31 December 2014, Ovalto Investissement held more than 50% of the equity capital and voting rights of Terreïs. It 

is likely to exercise significant influence over General Meetings of Shareholders, enabling it to adopt or reject 

proposed resolutions.  

III. Highlights of the year 

 Trading the real estate portfolio of the Terreïs group: 

Terreïs continued to pursue its strategy of gradually refocusing its real estate portfolio on top quality commercial 

property in the Central Business District of Paris (‘CBD’).  For example, it has disposed of part of its real estate 

portfolio outside the Paris region and continues to sell off its residential real estate assets as and when they are 

vacated by tenants.   

During the year, the amount of disposals totalled €35.4 million, for a value higher than the valuations made in 2013. 

They generated an accounting capital gain of €26.5 million. 

 New investments: 

 Terreïs increased its commercial property assets, mainly in the Paris CBD, in particular by buying an office building 

6,157 m² (+ 40 parking lots) located in the heart of the CBD, 41 avenue de Friedland (Paris 8th), as well as 900 m² of 

building(+ 24 parking lots), 43-47 avenue de la Grande Armée (Paris 16e). 

 Main impacts of the absorption of the property administration company: 

Terreïs acquired a 60% stake in Imodam, the traditional manager of its property assets. The takeover took place at 

the end of 2013. 

The main impacts on consolidated income were as follows: 

- The cancellation of management fees paid to Imodam (-€1,509,000 in 2013) 

- The absorption of the company's income and expenses (a net impact of -€168,000 in 2014) 

(in € 000s) 31/12/2014 31/12/2013 

Rental income 1,754   

Imodam management fees   -1,509 

Payroll costs -1,152   

External charges -326   

Miscellaneous -34   

Corporation taxes -410   

Impact on profit (loss) -168 -1,509 

The acquisition of Imodam on 31 December 2013 generated net savings of €1,341,000 for the group in 2014. 
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IV. Scope of consolidation 

The scope at 31 December 2014 was as follows: 

Name 
Date of 

consolidati
on 

Address 
Siren 

number 

% 
interes

t ‘n’ 

% 
interes
t ‘n-1’ 

Consolidation 
method (1) 

SAS Terreïs Valorisation 20/09/2006 
29 rue Marbeuf - 

Paris 
491,933,727 100% 100% IG  

SCI de 29 Taitbout Immobilier 29/09/2006 
29 rue Marbeuf - 

Paris 
379,789,274 100% 100% IG  

SCI de 20 rue Louis Philippe in Neuilly 29/09/2006 
29 rue Marbeuf - 

Paris 
338,787,435 100% 100% IG  

SCI Les Fleurs de Damrémont 29/09/2006 
29 rue Marbeuf - 

Paris 
351,818,356 100% 100% IG  

SCI 102 rue du Faubourg Saint Honoré 29/09/2006 
29 rue Marbeuf - 

Paris 
345,263,404 100% 100% IG  

SCI des 11 à 15 avenue Lebrun 29/09/2006 
29 rue Marbeuf - 

Paris 
451,895,940 100% 100% IG  

EURL Terreïs Invest 18/12/2007 
29 rue Marbeuf - 

Paris 
501,560,023 100% 100% IG  

SAS Terreïs Real Estate 01/01/2011 
29 rue Marbeuf - 

Paris 
529,674,426 51% 51% IG  

SAS Imodam 31/12/2013 
29 rue Marbeuf - 

Paris 
408,825,635 60% 60% IG  

(1) Full consolidation             

The property investment companies (SCIs) are involved in property leasing. Terreïs Valorisation (SAS) is a property 

trading company. Terreïs Invest was set up with the sole purpose of holding orphan shares of the property 

investment companies. The main business of Terreïs Real Estate is selling residential and service sector units from 

the Terreïs real estate portfolio. Imodam's main business is managing the group’s real estate asset. 

The SCIs Le Foch and Dupaty ceased legally to exist following a complete merger with and the transfer of their 

assets and liabilities to Terreïs during the second half of 2014. 

V. Notes to the consolidated income statement 

Note 1. Sectoral revenue and reporting 

Terreïs’s rental income reached €71.9 million in 2014, up 16.4% compared with 2013. This increase is primarily due 
to the net increase in the real estate portfolio.  

By category: 
Offices / 

Commercial 
Residential Total 

31/12/2014 
Rent (€ 000s) 66,830 5,093 71,923 

As a percentage 93% 7% 100% 

31/12/2013 
Rent (€ 000s) 55,783 6,015 61,798 

As a percentage 90% 10% 100% 

 

By geographic region: Paris Paris region Outside Paris Total 

31/12/2014 
Rent (€ 000s) 56,245 12,434 3,245 71,923 

As a percentage 78% 17% 5% 100% 

31/12/2013 
Rent (€ 000s) 45,615 12,443 3,740 61,798 

As a percentage 74% 20% 6% 100% 

Rent from Terreïs’s core business, Office/Commercial, was €66.8 million, i.e. 93% of total rental income. The 19.8% 
increase in rents from one year to another relates mainly to the acquisition of 50-52 Boulevard Haussmann (Paris 
9th) in late 2013, and of 41 avenue de Friedland (Paris 8th) in the second quarter of 2014. 
 

Like for like, Office/Commercial rents rose 0.3% thanks to strict management of leases, against a backdrop of falling 
indices.  
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Residential rents stood at €5.1 million. This planned decline reflects the policy to sell residential assets as and when 
they are vacated. 

Note 2. Other revenue from ordinary activities 

This item mainly represents technical fees received by Imodam from group tenants. Please note that Imodam was 

added to the scope of consolidation on 31 December 2013. 

Note 3. Rental expenses  

Rental expenses include costs relating to the day-to-day operation of buildings (e.g. maintenance, utilities, etc.), 

insurance and taxes (office tax in Ile-de-France, and property taxes), which are contractually made the responsibility 

of the tenants, depending on the lease.  

These expenses changed as follows: 

(in € 000s) 

31/12/2014 31/12/2013 

Rental 
expenses re-
invoiced (A) 

True rental 
expenses 

(B) 

Rental 
expenses 

borne (A)+(B) 

Rental 
expenses re-
invoiced (A) 

True rental 
expenses 

(B) 

Rental 
expenses 

borne (A)+(B) 

Rental expenses 15,192 -16,133 -942 12,051 -14,127 -2,076 

Maintenance and repairs   -544 -544   -422 -422 

Total 15,192 -16,678 -1,486 12,051 -14,550 -2,499 

The rental expense recovery rate improved from 82.83% to 91.09%. 

Note 4. Management and rental fees 

(in € 000s) 31/12/2014 31/12/2013 

Management fees -53 -1,606 

Rental fees -505 -351 

Total -558 -1,957 

The change in management fees is due to the entry of Imodam into the scope of consolidation on 31 December 

2013. 

Note 5. Payroll costs 

(in € 000s) 31/12/2014 31/12/2013 

Gross salaries -1,368 -520 

Social security charges -586 -224 

Total -1,954 -745 

Staff costs rose €1,209,000 between 2013 and 2014 as a result of the absorption of Imodam employees within of the 

group on 31 December 2013. 

The group's full-time equivalent staff was 22 persons on 31 December 2014, compared with 19 persons on 31 

December 2013.  
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Note 6. External charges 

(in € 000s) 31/12/2014 31/12/2013 

General expenses -508 -346 

Fees -1,602 -1,024 

Accounting, legal and financial services -303 -280 

Directors’ fees -85 -90 

Total -2,497 -1,740 

Note 7. Other operating income and expenses 

(in € 000s) 31/12/2014 31/12/2013 

Compensation received on rental    647 

Loss on bad debts -96 -75 

Other 2   

Total -94 572 

Note 8. Profit/loss from disposals of investment property 

The profit/loss from the sale of investment property is linked to trading in the residential real estate portfolio and the 

disposal of part of the portfolio of offices/retail properties located in the provinces, outside the Ile de France region. 

  31/12/2014 31/12/2013 

(in € 000s) Residential 
Offices / 

Commercial 
Total Residential 

Offices / 
Commercial 

Total 

Sale price 33,724 1,655 35,379 25,284 16,815 42,099 

Net book value -7,482 -1,218 -8,701 -3,926 -13,175 -17,101 

Expenses linked to disposals -135 1 -134   -1,330 -1,330 

Net total 26,106 438 26,544 21,358 2,309 23,667 

Breakdown of net book value between ‘Investment Properties’ and ‘Non-current Assets Held for Sale’: 

(in € 000s)   Investment property 
Non-current assets 

held for sale 
Total 

Gross value   -7,625 -4,455 -12,080 

Amortisation 1,613 1,767 3,380 

Net book value -6,012 -2,689 -8,701 

Note 9. Profit on sale of short-term assets 

This item represents disposals linked to the business of trading property held by the dedicated subsidiary, Terreïs 

Valorisation. There was no sale of inventory during the period (see Note 19: Inventory). 

(in € 000s) 31/12/2014 31/12/2013 

Revenue  224 

Net book value -19 -258 

Profit on sale of short-term assets -19 -35 
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Note 10. Other operating income and expenses  

(in € 000s) 31/12/2014 31/12/2013 

Negative goodwill (SAS Imodam)   1,061 

Tax dispute -387   

Other -35 -4 

Total -422 1,057 

Note 11. Financial income 

Financial income is set out as follows: 

(in € 000s) 31/12/2014 31/12/2013 

Cash and cash equivalents 252 411 

Interest expense -28,055 -23,191 

Cost of net financial debt -2,803 -22,780 

Allocations to depreciation for loan arrangement expenses and mortgage 
expenses 

-283 -196 

Other   -44 

Other financial income and expenses -283 -239 

Total -28,086 -23,019 

The increase in interest expense is due to: 

- the full-year effect of the acquisition of 50-52 boulevard Haussmann in Paris (9th arrondissement) at the end 

of 2013,  

- the financing of 41 avenue de Friedland in Paris, 

Note 12. Corporation tax 

(in € 000s) 31/12/2014 31/12/2013 

Current tax liability -721 -416 

Total -721 -416 

Relationship between the tax charge and the book profit: 

(in € 000s) 31/12/2014 31/12/2013 

Net income 34,322 32,452 

Tax expense recognised -721 -416 

Pre-tax profit 35,043 32,868 

Theoretical tax rate 33.33% 33.33% 

Total theoretical tax charge -11,680 -10,955 

Savings relating to SIIC status 11,227 10,185 

Other -268 354 

Total true tax expense -721 -416 
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Note 13. Net income /share 

(in € 000s) 31/12/2014 31/12/2013 

Consolidated net income, group share 33,794 32,164 

Net income /share €1.33 €1.27 

Diluted net income per share €1.32 €1.27 

 

  31/12/2014 31/12/2013 

Number of outstanding shares (1) 25,251,095 25,252,918 

Number of ordinary treasury shares (2) 8,655 6,832 

Number of Series 2 Preference Shares (3) 210,000   

Number of shares (1) + (2) + (3) = (4) 25,469,750 25,259,750 

Number of net treasury shares (4) - (2) = (5) 25,461,095 25,252,918 

Number of potential ordinary shares obtained from the conversion of the Series 2 
Preference Shares (6) 

420,000   

Number of net treasury and diluted shares (1) + (6) 25,671,095 25,252,918 

VI. Notes to the consolidated financial statements 

Note 14. Statement of changes in intangible assets 

(in € 000s) 31/12/2013 Acquisitions  Disposals 31/12/2014 

Temporary rights to real estate income 507     507 

Other (1) 607 28   635 

Total gross values 1,114 28 0 1,142 

  31/12/2013 Allocations Write-backs 31/12/2014 

Depreciation of temporary rights to real 
estate income 

-261 -54   -315 

Other (1) -406 -50   -456 

Total depreciation -666 -104 0 -771 

Total net values 448     373 

(1): Including, at 31/12/2014, compensation for the redemption of the finance lease at Cambrai for a net book value of €71,000. 

Note 15. Statement of changes in investment property  

(in € 000s) 31/12/2013 Acquisitions Disposals Other (1) 31/12/2014 

Investment property 1,083,878 87,458 -7,625 5,350 1,169,061 

Total gross values 1,083,878 87,458 -7,625 5,350 1,169,061 

  31/12/2013 Allocations Write-backs Other 31/12/2014 

Depreciation of buildings -87,483 -28,105 1,613 -419 -114,394 

Depr. Investment property -308 -168 33   -443 

Total depreciation and provisions -87,791 -28,273 1,647 -419 -114,837 

Total net values 996,087       1,054,224 

 

(1) Breakdown of the line item ‘Other’ =       

Asset under sale agreement in 2014 and scheduled for completion in 2015 -772 

Asset under sale agreement in 2013 and not completed in 2014   965 

Capitalisation of completed works in progress     4,357 

Additional acquisition costs on previous acquisitions 382 

Total      4,931 
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Note 16. Works in progress 

There are two renovation works currently in progress on the buildings located at 10-12 avenue de Messine and 

6 boulevard Malesherbes in Paris. 

Note 17. Other non-current assets 

(in € 000s) 31/12/2014 31/12/2013 

Rent deposits and working capital 413 429 

Unavailable cash equivalents 7,640 9,595 

Other 205 159 

Total 8,258 10,183 

Unavailable cash equivalents represent non-current liquidity reserve accounts required for maintaining bank 

covenants (cash reserve).  

Note 18. Buildings held for sale 

The line item ‘Assets Held for Sale’ represents the investment properties for which a contract for sale was signed 

before 31 December but where completion is expected in the following financial year. 

(in € 000s) 31/12/2013 
Completion in 

2014 

Asset sales 
not completed 

in 2014 (1) 

Sales not 
completed in 

2014  
31/12/2014 

Offices / Commercial 2,403 -1,251 0 116 1,268 

Residential 1,251 -1,438 -965 656 -496 

Total 3,654 -2,689 -965 772 772 

Note 19. Inventory of short-term assets 

This inventory is made up of residential property held as part of the property trading business. 

Note 20. Trade receivables and related accounts payable 

(in € 000s) 31/12/2014 31/12/2013 

Trade receivables 5,312 2,867 

Gross bad debts 1,789 1,049 

Provisions for bad debts -1,399 -706 

Total 5,703 3,210 

 

(in € 000s) 31/12/2013 Increase Decrease 31/12/2014 

Gross bad debts 1,049 4,003 -3,263 1,789 

  31/12/2013 Allocation Write-back 31/12/2014 

Provision for bad debts -706 -781 88 -1,399 

Bad net trade receivables 344     391 

Receivables have a maturity of less than 1 year. Bad debts are provisioned at 100% of their value net of VAT, after 

deducting guarantee deposits paid by tenants. 
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Note 21. Other current assets 

(in € 000s) 31/12/2014 31/12/2013 

Prepaid expenses 980 540 

Down payments to lawyers 40 2,468 

Non-group client accounts 2,786 0 

Other debtors 2,097 1,003 

Total 5,903 4,011 

Note 22. Cash and cash equivalents 

(in € 000s) 31/12/2014 31/12/2013 

Money-market UCITS 620 950 

Term deposits   1,650 

Cash and cash equivalents 5,634 4,826 

Total 6,254 7,426 

Note 23. Ordinary and treasury shares 

The number of shares issued by the Company has changed as follows: 

  Number of shares 

31/12/2005 Initial share capital 2,500 

29/09/2006 

Division of the nominal value of shares 1,000,000 

Capital increase: Contribution to capital of SCIs and buildings  2,632,861 

Capital increase: initial public offering 1,423,517 

22/12/2006 Conversion of convertible bonds 2,815,315 

10/01/2011 Merger with Avenir Investissement and DAB Expansion 8,880,549 

18/02/2011 Capital increase 8,375,326 

13/05/2012 Bonus shares 132,182 

30/06/2014 Series 2 Preference Shares 210,000 

31/12/2014 Total number of shares  25,469,750 

At 31 December 2014, the share capital was divided into: 

- 25,259,750 shares with a par value of 3 euros each, of which 24,944,232 ordinary shares and 315,518 

preference shares; 

- 210,000 Series 2 Preference Shares with a par value of €2 each.  

A liquidity contract was signed with a stock brokerage firm, Exane – BNP Paribas. Movements in treasury shares for 

the period were as follows: 

(in € 000s) 

On transaction date On value date 

Number of 
shares 

Gross book 
value 

Number of 
shares 

Gross book 
value 

Treasury shares held at 31/12/2013 6,832 137 6,832 137 

Purchases for the period 89,430 2,239 89,078 2,230 

Sales for the period -92,262 -2,273 -87,255 -2,139 

of which, capital gains or losses realised   37   29 

Treasury shares held at 31/12/2014 4,000 103 8,655 228 

Cash balance    124   0 

Total   228   228 
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Note 24. Net debt 

Gross financial debt rose to €786 million at 31 December 2014, compared with €743 million as at 31 December 2013, 

an increase of €43 million.  

This difference is primarily due to the following non-recurring items: 

- €87 million for the financing of acquisitions of the period; 

- early repayment of a €2 million bullet loan which was signed to finance the acquisition of premises located at 

Chartres, which were sold during the year. 

- amortisation of the bank debt for €42 million. 

The overdraft and the loan to Ovalto Investissement as well as the line of credit from Banque Privée 1818 were 

refinanced via a €150 million bullet loan signed with Natixis. 

Breakdown of net debt: 

All borrowings were arranged either at a fixed rate or at a swapped floating rate.  

(in € 000s)   31/12/2014 31/12/2013 

Fixed-rate loans, with repayment by instalments 22,940 38,430 

Hedged floating-rate loans, with repayment by instalments 492,383 480,225 

Fixed-rate bullet loans  24,900 24,900 

Hedged floating-rate bullet loans  165,400 17,700 
Finance 
Lease   1,653 2,161 

Lines of credit 0 20,000 

Arrangement expenses for net loans -5,143 -3,004 

Loans (non-current part) 702,134 580,411 

Fixed-rate loans, with repayment by instalments 3,998 4,500 

Hedged floating-rate loans, with repayment by instalments 39,552 31,630 

Finance Lease  507 487 

Accrued interest on loans 1,396 1,025 

Lines of credit 38,364 125,288 

Loans (non-current portion) 83,817 162,930 

Total financial liabilities 785,950 743,341 

Cash and cash equivalents (current and non-current) -13,894 -17,020 

Net debt 772,057 726,321 

 

        31/12/2014 31/12/2013 

Cash and cash equivalents (current) 6,254 7,426 

Cash and cash equivalents (non-current) 7,640 9,595 

Total       13,894 17,020 

 

(in € 000s) 31/12/2014 31/12/2013 

Total financial liabilities  785,950 743,341 

Finance lease (non-current portion) -1,653 -2,161 

Finance lease (current portion) -507 -487 

Arrangement expenses for net loans 5,143 3,004 

Accrued interest on loans -1,396 -1,025 

Total financial debts excluding arrangement costs, interest accrued on 
borrowings and finance leases 

787,537 742,673 
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Statement of changes in financial debts excluding arrangement costs, and interest accrued on borrowings and 

finance lease: 

(in € 000s) 31/12/2013 Increase Decrease 31/12/2014 

Fixed-rate loans repayable by instalments (1) 42,930   -15,992 26,938 

Hedged floating-rate loans, with repayment by instalments 511,856 57,900 -37,821 531,935 

Fixed-rate bullet loans 24,900     24,900 

Hedged floating-rate bullet loans 17,700 150,000 -2,300 165,400 

Lines of credit 145,287   -106,923 38,364 

Total financial debts excluding arrangement costs, interest 
accrued on borrowings and finance leases 

742,673 207,900 -163,036 787,537 

(1) of which, under the ‘Decrease’ heading, €12,133,000 relating to the loan granted by Ovalto Investissement and fully repaid 

over the period. 

 

Payment schedule of financial liabilities (principal): 

(in € 000s) Total < 1 year 1 to 5 years > 5 years 

Fixed-rate loans, with repayment by instalments 26,937 3,998 16,820 6,119 

Hedged floating-rate loans, with repayment by instalments 531,935 39,552 212,675 279,708 

Fixed-rate bullet loans 24,900     24,900 

Hedged floating-rate bullet loans 165,400   90,400 75,000 

Lines of credit 38,364 38,364 0   

Total financial debts excluding arrangement costs, 
interest accrued on borrowings and finance leases 

787,536 81,914 319,895 385,728 

 

(in € 000s) 
Financial assets 

Financial 
liabilities 

Net exposure 
before hedging 

Interest rate 
hedges 

Net exposure after 
hedging 

(A) (B) ( C ) = ( A ) - ( B ) ( D ) ( E ) = ( C ) + ( D ) 

  
Fixed 
rate 

Floating 
rate 

Fixed 
rate 

Floating 
rate 

Fixed 
rate 

Floating 
rate 

Fixed 
rate 

Floating 
rate 

Fixed 
rate 

Floating 
rate 

Less than one 
year 

6,254   42,362 39,552 -36,109 -39,552 -39,552 39,552 -75,660 0 

From 1 to 5 
years 

7,640   16,820 303,075 -9,180 -303,075 -303,075 303,075 -312,255 0 

More than 5 
years 

    31,019 354,708 -31,019 -354,708 -354,708 354,708 -385,728 0 

Total 13,894 0 90,202 697,335 -76,308 -697,335 -697,335 697,335 -773,643 0 

 

Financial covenants: 

Some loans taken out by the Terreïs Group are subject to covenants based on financial ratios (Loan To Value and 

the Debt Service Coverage Ratio) or other commitments that may, particularly in the event of a change of control, 

result in an obligation to lock-in further funds or to make early repayment. 

At 31 December 2014, LTV was 48% while the Overall DSCR (including liquidity reserves) was 124%. 

The company has set up a system for monitoring these ratios periodically.  

Note 25. Derivative instruments 

Change in derivative instruments: 

(in € 000s) 
Fair value 

31/12/2014 
Fair value 

31/12/2013 
Change in 
fair value 

of which recognised  

as equity as income 

Interest Rate Swap: payer of fixed rate / 
receiver of 3-month Euribor floating rate 

75,086 36,178 -38,908 -38,680 -228 

Total of derivative instrument liabilities 75,086 36,178       
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(in € 000s) 
Fair value 

31/12/2014 
Fair value 

31/12/2013 
Change 

Current portion 13,917 13,055 862 

Non-current portion 60,004 22,186 37,818 

subtotal  73,921 35,241 38,680 

Accrued coupons 1,165 938 228 

Total 75,086 36,178 38,908 

Ranking of fair values at 31 December 2014: 

Financial instruments at fair value are ranked by hierarchical level as follows: 

(in € 000s) Level 1 Level 2 Total 

Share of SICAV units held for sale 620   620 

Assets valued at fair value at 31/12/2014       

Derivative instruments   75,086 75,086 

Liabilities measured at fair value at 31/12/2014       

Level 1: Financial instruments traded on an active market 

Level 2: Financial instruments the valuation of which requires the use of valuation techniques based on observable inputs 

Note 26. Exit tax 

The choice of SIIC status involves immediate payment of a 19% exit tax on unrealised gains existing on the adoption 

date and relating to properties and shares in partnerships not subject to corporation tax. 

(in € 000s) 

Date of 
option 

Adjusted 
property 

value 

Fiscal 
value 

Difference Exit tax 

  A B A-B=C Cx19% 

Assets contributed as part of the merger with Avenir & 
Investissement  

10/01/2011 74,742 13,948 60,794 11,551 

Assets resulting from the mergers with Terreïs Building 
AGV and Terreïs Rue de la Paix 

01/01/2011 214,420 59,352 155,068 29,463 

Assets derived from the merger with EURL 103 rue 
Réaumur 

15/09/2012 23,348 17,972 5,376 1,021 

Assets resulting from the merger with SAS 41 avenue 
Friedland 

16/06/2014 68,567 45,265 23,302 4,427 

Total   381,077 136,537 244,540 46,463 

A quarter of this tax must be paid on 15 December of the year of the option and the balance spread over the next 

three years. 

Amount remaining to be paid as at 31/12/2014: 

(in € 000s) 

Amount 
remaining to 
be paid as at 
31/12/2013 

Amount of 
options 
realised 

during the  
year 

Amount paid 
during the 

year 

Amount 
remaining to 
be paid as at 
31/12/2014 

Total 10,763 4,427 11,616 3,575 

 

Loan repayment schedule: 

(in € 000s) 

Amount 
remaining to 
be paid as at 

31/12/14 

15/12/2015 15/12/2016 15/12/2017 

Total 3,575 1,362 1,107 1,107 
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Note 27. Other current liabilities 

(in € 000s) 31/12/2014 31/12/2013 

Trade receivables - Advances and down payments received 985   

Tax and social security payables 4,366 1,337 

Non-group management and co-ownership accounts 4,186   

Other liabilities 2,900 1,725 

Prepaid income 254   

Total 12,691 3,062 

Note 28. Adjusted net asset value per share 

At end December 2014, the real estate portfolio stood at €1,596 million compared with €1,427 million at the end of 

2013, or a 12% increase based on the valuations conducted by BNP Paribas Real Estate. 

The results of this valuation have been summarised in the table below: 

  31/12/2014 31/12/2013 

(in € 000s) Fair value 
Consolidat

ed value 
Difference  Fair value 

Consolidat
ed value 

Difference  

  A B A-B A B A-B 

Investment property 1,587,797  1,054,224  533,573  1,410,431  996,087  414,344  

Non-current assets held for sale 4,023  772  3,251  13,173  3,654  9,520  

Inventory of short-term assets 3,722  3,722    2,905  2,905    

Total 1,595,542  1,058,718  536,824  1,426,509  1,002,646  423,864  

Restated Net Asset Value was determined according to the EPRA NAV key indicator defined by the EPRA (European 

Public Estate Association): 

(in € 000s) 31/12/2014 31/12/2013 

Consolidated equity capital (Group share) 206,303  229,236  

Fair value of financial instruments 73,921  35,258  

Unrealised capital gain on asset portfolio (excluding fees) 536,824  423,864  

Net Asset Value adjusted for liquidation  817,048  688,357  

Theoretical acquisition costs 101,544  88,444  

Net Asset Value adjusted for replacement  918,592  776,801  

Number of diluted shares excluding treasury shares 25,671,095  25,252,918  

Net Asset Value per share adjusted for liquidation   31.83 € 27.26 € 

Net Asset Value per share adjusted for replacement purposes  35.78 € 30.76 € 

Sensitivity of the valuation to changes in average yield: 

(in € 000s) 
Impact of a 

5% decrease 
in yield 

Average yield 
of the asset 

portfolio 

Impact of a 
5% increase 

in yield 

Yield 4.76% 5.01% 5.26% 

Gross rent from the assets in a full year    79,983   

Change in value of the assets  1,679,518 1,595,542 1,519,564 

Impact on the Adjusted NAV per share for liquidation purposes 33.50 € 31.83 € 30.31 € 
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VII. Notes to the statement of cash flows 

Note 29. Net depreciation, amortisation and provisions 

(in € 000s) 31/12/2014 31/12/2013 

Depreciation and amortisation on investment properties -28,105 -22,749 

Change in provisions for depreciation on investment properties -135 -308 

Change in provisions for trade receivables -693 -393 

Change in provisions for risks and costs 20 -20 

Other -150 -75 

Total depreciation, amortisation and provisions -29,063 -23,545 

Transfers to impairments and provisions on financial income -283 -196 

Negative goodwill on SAS Imodam   1,061 

Total -29,346 -22,679 

 

Note 30. Capital gains or losses on assets sold net of income tax 

(in € 000s) 31/12/2014 31/12/2013 

Profit/loss from sales of investment property (see, Note 8) -26,546 -23,667 

Restatement of costs linked to disposals -134 -1,330 

Profit on sale of short-term assets (see, Note 9) -19 35 

Total -26,699 -24,963 

 

Note 31. Determining current net cash flow per share 

(in € 000s) 31/12/2014 31/12/2013 

Current cash flow after net cost of financial debt and tax 36,968 30,169 

Current cash flow per share 1.45 € 1.19 € 

Diluted current cash flow per share 1.44 € 1.19 € 

 

Note 32. Change in working capital requirement for operations 

(in € 000s) 31/12/2014 31/12/2013 

Change in trade receivables and related accounts payable -2,492 1,386 

Change of management agents 4,186 889 

Change in trade payables and related accounts payable -79 -1,059 

Change in tax and social security payables 3,029   

Change in inventories -817 -2,465 

Exit Tax on Friedland building 4,427   

Cash outflow linked to the Exit Tax  -11,616 -10,509 

Costs linked to the issuance of debt and to mortgages -2,417 -890 

Earn-out paid -1,943   

Change in principal's cash  -2,786   

Change in deposits 781 2,465 

Other -700 319 

Total -10,427 -9,864 
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Note 33. Cash outflows linked to the acquisition of investment property 

(in € 000s)   31/12/2014 31/12/2013 

Cash outflow linked to the acquisition of investment property (see, Note 14) -86,103 -252,398 

Cash outflow linked to acquisition expenses of prior acquisitions   -382 -130 

Cash outflow linked to works in progress (see, Note 15)   -8,590 -4,523 

Total   -95,074 -257,051 

 

Note 34. Other flows linked to financing transactions 

(in € 000s) 31/12/2014 31/12/2013 

Change in loan advanced by SAS Ovalto Investissement -12,133   

Change in current account made by SAS Ovalto Investissement -77,027 86,748 

Repayment of Bullet loan -2,300   

Change in lines of credit -29,992 21,500 

Total -121,452 108,248 

 

VIII. Off-balance sheet commitments, assets and contingent liabilities 

(€ millions) 31/12/2014 31/12/2013 

Commitments linked to the Group's scope:     

 . Guarantees given:     

   -None- 

 . Guarantees received :     

 - guarantees provided by Ovalto Investissement to banks in connection with 
capital expenditure financing for Terreïs Group (pledges of financial securities 
and fixed-term deposit account) 

27 26 

Commitments linked to the financing:     

 . Guarantees given:     

 - mortgages 248 102 

 - preferential rights of cash lenders 497 369 

 - bank guarantees 66 76 

 - covenants (see, Note 24)     

 . Guarantees received:     

   - None - 

Commitments made to operating business activities:     

 . Guarantees given:     

 - potential cash outflow on signed offers to purchase 0 0 

 . Guarantees received:     

 - potential cash inflow on signed offers to sell  4 13 

 - guarantees received in connection with leases signed with tenants 2 2 

IX. Events after December 31, 2014 

No major event has occurred since 31 December 2014 which might have a material impact on the group's earnings 

or financial position. 
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X. Related parties 

 Remuneration of the executive and governance bodies: 

(in € 000s) 31/12/2014 31/12/2013 

Short-term benefits (salaries, bonuses, etc.) 155 155 

Senior management comprises: persons present at the balance sheet date or who had been present during the year, 

and directors or members of Terreïs’s Audit Committee. 

 Related party transactions: 

Related party transactions are executed on normal market terms and conditions. Thus, on 11 December 2014 Terreïs 
acquired a property for the price of €2.9 million, located at 35 rue Houdan in Sceaux (92350), held by SCI 35 rue 
Houdan of which Jacky Lorenzetti is an associate manager. This price is taken from the valuation made by BNP 
Paribas Real Estate. This acquisition was authorised by the Board of Directors of Terreïs on 22 September 2014. 
 

 Transactions executed with Ovalto Investissement: 

(in € 000s) 31/12/2014 31/12/2013 

Income statement:     

Accounting, legal and administrative services  -303 -280 

Interest on cash advance and loan -1,481 -564 

Liabilities:     

Cash advance and loan 16,864 106,024 

Trade payables and related accounts payable     

XI. Remuneration of the Statutory Auditors 

  Deloitte & Associés (1) Sofideec Baker Tilly Rödl & Partner  

(amount in €, excluding tax) 31/12/2014 31/12/2013 31/12/2014 31/12/2013 31/12/2014 31/12/2013 

Audit:             

 . Statutory audits, certification, 
examination of corporate and 
consolidated accounts 

            

 - Issuer 73,000 42,000 47,000 39,000   39,000 

 - Fully consolidated subsidiaries     9,400 9,000     

. Other services and steps taken directly 
relating to the task of the statutory 
auditors 

           

Subtotal 73,000  42,000  56,400  48,000  0  39,000  

Other services provided by networks 
to fully consolidated subsidiaries: 

            

 . Legal, financial and employee-related             

. Other if >10% of audit fees             

Subtotal 0  0  0  0  0  0  

Total 73,000 42,000 56,400 48,000 0 39,000 

(1): Deloitte & Associés was appointed by the General Shareholders’ Meeting of 14 May 2013 
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STATUTORY AUDITORS’ REPORT ON THE CONSOLIDATED 

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

 

To the Shareholders, 

In accordance with the mandate conferred on us by your General Shareholders’ Meeting, we present to you our 
report for the year ended 31 December 2014 on: 

 the audit of the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Terreïs; 

 the basis of our assessment; 

 the specific verification procedure required by law. 

The Board of Directors has approved the consolidated financial statements. Our responsibility is to express an 
opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. 
 
These accounts have been prepared in accordance with IFRS, as adopted by the European Union. 

I.  Opinion on the consolidated financial statements 

 
We conducted our audit according to professional standards applicable in France. These standards require us to take 
the necessary steps so as to obtain reasonable assurance that the consolidated financial statements are free of 
material misstatement. An audit consists in examining, on a test basis or using other selection methods, the evidence 
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. It also includes an assessment of the accounting 
policies applied, the significant estimates made and the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the 
financial statements. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our assessment. 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements for the financial year, in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the 
European Union, give a true and fair view of the assets, financial position and results of operations of the group of 
persons and entities included in the consolidated financial statements. 

II.   Basis for our assessments  

 
In accordance with Article L. 823-9 of the French Commercial Code relating to the basis of our assessment, we report 
to you that: 

 The section ‘Inventory value of investment properties’ in Note 1.B. and Note 28 to the financial 
statements specify that the investment property is subject to valuations to estimate the fair value of the 
investment properties and any impairment. Our work entailed examining the methodology implemented 
by the independent real estate valuer and ensuring that any impairments and the fair value of the 
buildings were determined on the basis of these assessments. 

 Note ‘1.Q. Bank Loans and Financial Instruments’ of the notes to the financial statements presents the 
accounting rules and methods for calculating the fair value of the derivative instruments as well as the 
characteristics of the group's hedging instruments. We have examined the classification criteria and the 
documentation specific to IAS 39 and have checked the appropriateness of these accounting methods 
and information supplied in the attached notes. 

These assessments thus form part of our audit of the consolidated financial statements, taken in their entirety, and 
have thus contributed to the formulation of our opinion as expressed in the first part of this report. 

III.   Specific verification procedure 
 

In accordance with professional standards applicable in France, we have also verified the specific information about 
the group contained in the Management Report.  
We have no comments as to its accurate presentation and conformity with the consolidated financial statements. 
 

Signed at Neuilly-sur-Seine and Paris, on 30 March 2015 

Statutory Auditors 
 

DELOITTE & ASSOCIES SOFIDEEC BAKER TILLY 

Christophe POSTEL-VINAY Jean-Fabrice SUBIAS            Pierre FAUCON 
  



 

  Terreïs 2014 Annual Report 
77 

2014 CORPORATE ACCOUNTS 
 

Income statement 

 

(in € 000s) Notes 31/12/2014 31/12/2013 

Sales of services 1 82,849 70,182 

Net revenue   82,849 70,182 

Write-backs of depreciation and provisions, and transferred charges 2 2,109 1,111 

Other income   3 0 

Operating income   84,961 71,293 

Other purchases and external charges 3 23,886 21,419 

Taxes, duty and similar payments   927 659 

Wages and salaries 4 287 256 

Social security charges 4 126 109 

Fixed asset depreciation expense   27,169 21,760 

Allocation to provisions   781 498 

Other expenses   182 163 

Operating expenses   53,358 44,865 

OPERATING PROFIT/(LOSS)   31,603 26,428 

Joint ventures: profit allocated   1,705 4,891 

Joint ventures: loss incurred   0 25 

Investment income   970 319 

Other interest and similar income   221 437 

Write-back from impairment and financial provisions   4,077 0 

Financial income    5,268 756 

Interest and similar expenses   30,699 22,166 

Allocation to impairment and provisions   3,024 1,054 

Financial expenses   33,723 23,220 

NET FINANCIAL INCOME/EXPENSE   -28,455 -22,464 

PROFIT/(LOSS) ON ORDINARY ACTIVITIES BEFORE TAX   4,853 8,830 

Extraordinary income from operations 5 595 123 

Extraordinary income from capital operations 5 35,442 38,379 

Write-back from impairment, provisions and transfers of charges 5 94 12 

Extraordinary income   36,131 38,514 

Extraordinary operating expenses 5 68 16 

Extraordinary capital expenses 5 8,876 13,589 

Extraordinary allocation to amortisation and provisions 5 224 365 

Extraordinary expenses   9,168 13,969 

EXTRAORDINARY PROFIT/(LOSS)   26,963 24,544 

Tax expense  6 89 121 

PROFIT/(LOSS)   31,727 33,253 
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Balance sheet  

ASSETS (in € 000s) Notes Gross amount Depreciation 31/12/2014 31/12/2013 

Intangible assets           

Licenses, patents and similar rights 7 6 4 2 0 

Commercial goodwill 7 10,919   10,919 4,136 

Other 7 994 710 284 355 

Property, plant and equipment           

Land 8 448,292   448,292 406,989 

Buildings 8 638,871 99,124 539,747 533,694 

Other 8 13,310 3,266 10,044 8,273 

Fixed assets in progress 8 14,989   14,989 10,501 

Long-term investments           

Other equity investments 9 26,842   26,842 29,876 

Other long-term investments 9 395   395 391 

FIXED ASSETS   1,154,618 103,104 1,051,514 994,216 

Advances and down payments paid on orders     0 14 

Trade receivables and related accounts 
payable 

10 7,070 1,399 5,671 4,787 

Other receivables 11 6,034   6,034 10,539 

Investment securities 12 8,236   8,236 10,031 

Cash and cash equivalents 13 3,550   3,550 3,038 

Prepaid expenses 14 945   945 742 

CURRENT ASSETS   25,835 1,399 24,436 29,151 

Deferred bond issuance premium 15 4,513   4,513 2,378 

GRAND TOTAL   1,184,966 104,503 1,080,463 1,025,745 

 
LIABILITIES (in € thousand)   Notes 31/12/2014 31/12/2013 

Share capital   16 76,199 75,779 

Share issuance, merger, and acquisition premiums   16 110,939 112,754 

Revaluation reserve   16 11,547 11,547 

Legal reserve   16 6,038 4,322 

Other reserves   16 155 155 

Retained earnings   16 44,732 29,917 

Profit/(loss) for the year     31,727 33,253 

Regulated provisions   17 171 177 

EQUITY     281,508 267,903 

Liabilities         

Bank borrowings 18 744,047 610,867 

Borrowings and other financial liabilities   19 13,813 13,047 

Advances and down payments received on orders in 
progress 

  985 377 

Trade creditors and related accounts payable   20 1,294 1,417 

Tax and social security payables    21 7,438 11,601 

Other liabilities   22 31,132 120,429 

Prepaid income     246 104 

Total liabilities     798,955 757,842 

TOTAL LIABILITIES     1,080,463 1,025,745 
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Notes to the Financial Statements  

 

Unless otherwise specified, all figures are expressed in thousands of euros (€ 000s). 

I. Accounting policies 

(a) Accounting principles 

The annual accounts are presented in accordance with the principles and methods defined by Regulation no. 99-03 

of 29 April 1999 regarding the rewording of the General Chart of Accounts in France. 

General accounting conventions have been adopted on a prudent basis and in accordance with the following basic 

assumptions: 

- going concern basis,  

- consistency of accounting policies from one financial year to the next,  

- independence of reporting periods, in accordance with financial reporting standards. 

The valuation rule used in preparing these accounts was the historical cost method. 

The valuation methods were not amended compared with the previous year. 

Terreïs is the holding company of the Terreïs group. Its accounts, in turn, are consolidated with those of the Ovalto 

Investissement group. 

(b) Intangible assets 

Intangible assets consist mainly of: 

- rights to real estate income limited in time: Rights to real estate income limited in time are valued at cost 

(purchase price including ancillary costs). They are amortised on a straight line basis over the term of such 

rights, fixed at 10 years; 

- Technical losses arising from the mergers with the Terreïs Participation and Friedland Holding sub-groups, 

and with EURL 103 rue Réaumur; these technical losses are assessed every year; 

- compensation for the termination of a finance lease agreement, which relates to a property located at rue de 

Cambrai in Paris. This intangible item is amortised on the same principles adopted by Terreïs to amortise its 

property assets. 

(c) Property, plant and equipment 

Land and buildings: 

The real estate portfolio of Terreïs consists of investment property to be held on a long-term basis. These real estate 

assets are held to obtain rent from them and to increase the value of the invested capital. 

Investment properties are recognised at entry costs, less accumulated amortisation and any losses in value. 

The acquisition cost of investment properties comprises: 

- the purchase price expressed in the deed or the construction cost, including non-recoverable taxes, after 

deducting any discounts, commercial rebates and payment discounts,  

- all attributable costs incurred in putting the investment property in a leasable condition in accordance with 

the use planned by management. Therefore, the transfer rights, the fees and the commissions and 

registration expenses relating to the acquisition are included in the cost. 

The gross value is broken down into four separate components: land, structure/shell, roof/façade and technical 

installations. These correspond to a breakdown, by building trade, of the true construction cost of a commercial 

property. 

The value of the land is determined case-by-case depending specifically on the geographical location of the asset. 
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The cost of the other components has been estimated on the following basis for the entire real estate portfolio: 

- Structure/Shell:   65% 

- Roof/Façade: 20% 

- Technical Installations: 15% 

Amortisation was calculated on the basis of the fair value of the buildings on their acquisition date. The depreciation 

expense is calculated as follows: 

Structure/Shell 30 to 50 years  

Roof/Façade 20 years  

Technical Installations 10 years  

The straight line depreciation method adopted is standard in view of the nature and age of the components used in 

the building. 

Investment property is depreciated based on the valuation carried out by an independent valuer as at the balance 

sheet date. If the carrying amount is higher than the valuation amount, an impairment loss is recorded. 

Property, plant and equipment in progress: 

The costs of property restructuring, renovation and modernisation are capitalised. The same applies to work of 

replacing building components (waterproofing, heating, etc.). 

Conversely, the costs of work carried out to maintain the real estate portfolio (cost of refurbishment of communal 

areas for an entire development or a single building) and the refurbishment of premises during re-letting are 

expensed for the period, unless charged to the tenant under the lease. 

(d) Long-term investments 

Long-term equity investments and other long-term securities are recognised in the balance sheet at their acquisition 

cost or contribution value. 

Acquisition costs of investments are recognised under assets and are subject to accelerated depreciation over five 

years. 

Long-term equity investment securities corresponding to award companies are subject to accelerated depreciation 

according to the same principle as investment properties. 

At year-end, the inventory value of the securities is determined based on the percentage of the equity capital held, 

taking account of any underlying capital gains or losses and the business outlook.  

If necessary, the gross value of securities is reduced by the establishment of a provision for impairment. 

(e) Trade receivables and related accounts payable 

Trade receivables are valued at their nominal value. They are primarily made up of short-term receivables. An 

impairment is created when the accounted outstanding sum is higher than the recoverable amount. Trade 

receivables are impaired on a case by case basis depending on various criteria such as the existence of collection 

difficulties, disputes or the debtor's financial position. 

(f) Investment securities 

Transferrable investment securities are posted in the balance sheet at their acquisition value. When their inventory 

value is lower than their acquisition cost, a provision for impairment is accrued for the amount of the difference.  

(g) Income tax 

Terreïs benefits from a tax regime specific to listed property investment companies (SIICs) that applies normal tax 

rates. 
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Tax regime for SIICs: 

- Terreïs and its subsidiaries which are eligible for the SIIC tax status have adopted this regime. Two separate 

taxable sectors have been identified within the group: 

- an SIIC sector exempted from tax on current income or capital gains from sales and on dividends received 

from subsidiaries subject to the SIIC regime, 

- a sector which is taxable under the conditions of normal rates for other transactions. 

In exchange for the tax exemption, the application of the SIIC regime results in specific obligations concerning the 

distribution and due date, at the time of the option, of a 19% exit tax calculated on unrealised gains relating to the 

investment properties. A quarter of this tax must be paid on 15 December of the year of the option, and the balance is 

spread over the next three years. 

(h) Provisions 

Provision for risks and charges: Obligations towards third parties, whether statutory, regulatory, contractual or 

implicit, are the subject of a provision for risks and charges if they exist at the balance sheet date and if it is 

established that they will give rise to an outflow of resources without equivalent consideration from the third parties 

concerned. A regular review of the components of these provisions is carried out for adjustment purposes. All kinds 

of identified risks, particularly operational and financial risks, are regularly reviewed to determine the amount of 

provisions which may be required. 

Provisions for retirement and other employee benefits: In view of the negligible amount of entitlements, no provision 

for retirement and other employee benefits is recognised.  

(i) Financial instruments 

Financial instruments: Terreïs uses derivatives to hedge its floating rate debts against interest rate risk (hedging 

future cash flows). In this way, the Company has no interest rate risk. 

(j) Accounting for the profits of property investment companies (SCIs): 

An article in the Articles of Association of subsidiary SCIs requires associates to allocate profits at year-end. The net 

profit of SCIs for the financial year ended 31 December 2014 is therefore reported in Terreïs’ income statement.  

(k) Bank loans  

Financial liabilities: After their initial recognition in the accounts, borrowings and other interest-bearing financial 

liabilities are valued according to the amortised cost method using the same interest rate as the borrowing. Borrowing 

arrangement expenses are deducted from the borrowings and financial liabilities and are spread out, on a straight 

line basis, over the term of the borrowings concerned. 
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II. Financial year highlights 

 Trading in Terreïs’s real estate portfolio: 

Terreïs continues with its strategy of selling part of its provincial real estate assets and of continuing to sell its 

residential real estate assets, as and when they are vacated. The Company therefore continues to pursue its goal of 

gradually refocusing its real estate portfolio on top quality commercial property in the Central Business District of 

Paris. 

The total of sales during the financial year reached €35.4 million. The sales were made at prices above the 2013 

valuations and generated an accounting capital gain of €25.3 million. 

(in € 000s) 31/12/2014 31/12/2013 

Sale price 35,379 38,331 

Net book value -8,701 -13,567 

Charges relating to sales -1,323 -2,572 

Total 25,355 22,192 

 Continuation of the acquisitions strategy: 

Terreïs increased its commercial real estate portfolio, primarily in the Central Business District. Acquisitions for the 

period amounted to €84.5 million excluding fees, and €87.5 million including fees. 

These acquisitions will generate at least €2.5 million in rents in 2015, while waiting for complete re-letting of the 

building on avenue de Friedland, refurbished at year end. 

 Refinancing of the debt of shareholder Ovalto Investment: 

Terreïs signed with Natixis a bullet loan agreement for €150 million at a hedged floating rate. 

This financing comprises two tranches:  

- the first, of €75 million, with interest hedged at a fixed rate of 2.85%, repayable in 2021;  

- the second tranche, of €75 million, repayable in 2019, with interest hedged at a fixed rate of 2.48%. 

III. Notes to the Income Statement  

Note 1. Revenue from the Sale of Services 

This item is detailed as follows: 

(in € 000s) 31/12/2014 31/12/2013 

Rents  68,159 58,008 

Indemnities received  2 647 

Re-invoiced rental charges 14,688 11,527 

Total 82,849 70,182 

The breakdown of rents by type and by geographic region is as follows: 

By type:   
Offices / 

Commercial 
Residential Total 

31/12/2014 
Rent (€ 000s) 63,076 5,084 68,159 

As a percentage 93% 7% 100% 

31/12/2013 
Rent (€ 000s) 52,002 6,005 58,008 

As a percentage 90% 10% 100% 
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By geographic region: Paris Paris region Outside Paris Total 

31/12/2014 
Rent (€ 000s) 55,751 9,173 3,235 68,159 

As a percentage 82% 13% 5% 100% 

31/12/2013 
Rent (€ 000s) 45,059 9,231 3,717 58,008 

As a percentage 78% 16% 6% 100% 

Note 2. Transfers of charges 

(in € 000s) 31/12/2014 31/12/2013 

Loan arrangement expenses 1,992 969 

Write-back of provisions 88 105 

Other 29 37 

Total 2,109 1,111 

Note 3. Other purchases and external charges 

This item includes:  

 general expenses (rent, telephone, etc.),  

 fee charges unable to be re-invoiced to tenants, 

 rental expenses borne and re-invoiced rental charges, 

 third-party accounting, legal and financial services. 

Note 4. Salaries, wages and social security expenses 

At 31 December 2014, the company had two full-time equivalent employees. 

Note 5. Extraordinary income 

(in € 000s) 31/12/2014 31/12/2013 

Miscellaneous 595 123 

Subtotal ‘Extraordinary income from management operations’ 595 123 

Income from disposals of investment property 35,379 38,331 

Gain on repurchase of treasury shares 63 48 

Subtotal ‘Extraordinary Income from Capital Transactions’ 35,442 38,379 

Write-back from provisions for impairment of investment properties 33   

Write-backs from accelerated depreciation on securities  61 12 

Subtotal ‘Write-back from Impairments, Provisions and Transfers of Charges’ 94 12 

Total extraordinary income 36,131 38,514 

Restatement of the Exit Tax:     

Reversal expenses     

Miscellaneous 68 16 

Subtotal ‘Extraordinary Expenses from Management Operations’ 68 16 

Net book value of investment properties sold 8,851 13,567 

Loss on repurchase of treasury shares 25 22 

Subtotal ‘Extraordinary Expenses from Capital Transactions’ 8,876 13,589 

Transfers to provisions for impairment of investment properties 168 308 

Transfers to accelerated depreciation on securities of allocation companies 56 57 

Subtotal ‘Extraordinary Transfers to Depreciations, Impairments and Provisions’ 224 364 

Total extraordinary expenses 9,168 13,970 
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Extraordinary income 26,963 24,545 

Note 6. Income tax 

(in € 000s) 31/12/2014 

Corporation tax (rate: 33.33%) 89 

Total 89 

Relationship between the tax charge and the book profit: 

(in € 000s) 31/12/2014 

Net income 31,727 

Corporation tax (rate: 33.33%) -89 

Pre-tax profit 31,816 

Theoretical tax rate 33.33% 

Total theoretical tax charge -10,605 

Share of revenue subject to the SIIC tax regime 11,227 

Share of revenue subject to the parent-subsidiary company regime (dividends exempted from 
tax)    

297 

Share of revenue subject to the +/-LT regime. -1,008 

Total actual tax expense -89 

 

IV. Notes to the Balance Sheet  

Note 7. Intangible assets 

(in € 000s) 31/12/2013 Acquisitions Decrease 31/12/2014 

Software 3 3   6 

Subtotal ‘Licences, Patents and Similar Rights’ 3 3 0 6 

Technical loss from the EURL 103 rue Réaumur 
merger 

1,684     1,684 

Technical loss from the Terreïs Participation sub-
group merger 

2,452     2,452 

Technical loss from the Friedland merger 0 6,783   6,783 

Subtotal ‘Goodwill’ 4,136 6,783 0 10,919 

Rights to real estate income 535     535 

Finance lease rue de Cambrai  459     459 

Miscellaneous 1     1 

Subtotal ‘Other’ 994 0 0 994 

Total gross values 5,134 6,786 0 11,920 

  31/12/2013 Allocation  Write-back 31/12/2014 

Software -3 -1   -4 

Subtotal ‘Licences, Patents and Similar Rights’ -3 -1 0 -4 

Rights to real estate income -268 -54   -322 

Finance lease rue de Cambrai -370 -17   -387 

Miscellaneous -1     -1 

Subtotal ‘Other’ -639 -71 0 -710 

Total depreciation -642 -72 0 -714 

Total net values 4,492     11,206 
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Summary of works concerning the valuation of technical losses: 

(in € 000s) 103 rue Réaumur 
Terreïs 

Participation sub-
group 

41 avenue de 
Friedland 

Valuation at year end (A) 28,756 119,472 80,393 

Net book value 22,715 70,138 68,155 

Technical loss from merger 1,684 2,452 6,783 

Subtotal  (B) 24,399 72,590 74,938 

Difference (A)-(B) 4,357 46,882 5,455 

Note 8. Property, plant and equipment 

(in € 000s) 31/12/2013 Acquisition Decrease Line-by-line 31/12/2014 

Land 385,449 44,405 -3,487   426,367 

Land acquisition costs 21,540 456 -72   21,924 

Subtotal ‘Land’ 406,990 44,861 -3,559 0 448,292 

Buildings 578,260 35,450 -6,992   606,718 

Building acquisition costs 31,686 665 -198   32,153 

Subtotal ‘Buildings’ 609,946 36,115 -7,190 0 638,871 

Fixtures and fittings 10,637   -1,200 3,669 13,106 

Miscellaneous 204       204 

Subtotal ‘Other’ 10,841 0 -1,200 3,669 13,310 

Work in progress 10,501 8,395 -238 -3,669 14,989 

Subtotal ‘Work in Progress’ 10,501 8,395 -238 -3,669 14,989 

Total gross values 1,038,278 89,371 -12,187 0 1,115,462 

  31/12/2013 Allocation  Write-back Line-by-line 31/12/2014 

Buildings -72,919 -24,450 2,991   -94,378 

Building acquisition costs -3,026 -1,325 46   -4,305 

Subtotal ‘Buildings’ -75,944 -25,775 3,037 0 -98,682 

Fixtures and fittings -2,385 -1,037 343   -3,079 

Miscellaneous -182 -4     -186 

Subtotal ‘Other’ -2,568 -1,041 343 0 -3,266 

Total depreciation -78,512 -26,816 3,380 0 -101,948 

Land -73 -43 8   -108 

Buildings -234 -127 28   -333 

Total depreciation -308 -170 36 0 -442 

Total amortisations + depreciations -78,820 -26,986 3,416 0 -102,390 

Total net values 959,458       1,013,072 
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Note 9. Long-term investments 

(in € 000s) 31/12/2013 Acquisition Decrease 
Impact of 
mergers 

31/12/2014 

EURL Terreïs Invest 40       40 

SAS Terreïs Real Estate 5       5 

SAS Terreïs Valorisation 37       37 

SCI 102 rue du Faubourg Saint Honoré 1,842       1,842 

SCI des 11 à 15 avenue Lebrun 14,555       14,555 

SCI du 20 rue Louis Philippe in Neuilly 2,510       2,510 

SCI du 29 Taitbout Immobilier 613       613 

SCI Dupaty 801     -801 0 

SCI Le Foch 3,287     -3,287 0 

SCI Les Fleurs de Damrémont 4,793       4,793 

SA Imodam Property 180       180 

SAS Friedland Holding 0 45,823   -45,823 0 

SAS 41 avenue de Friedland 0 19,434   -19,434 0 

Co-ownership company SC 7 Ancienne Comédie 1,617       1,617 

Co-ownership company SC 22 Cadet 650       650 

Subtotal ‘Other Equity Investments’ 30,929 65,257 0 -69,345 26,842 

Accrued interest on security deposits * 57 5     62 

Deposits on rents 166       166 

Working capital 170 10 -12   168 

Subtotal ‘Other’ 392 15 -12 0 395 

Total gross values 31,321       27,237 

* Included in ‘Other Long-term Securities’ in 2013, reclassified in 2014   

The property investment companies (SCIs) are involved in property leasing. Terreïs Valorisation (SAS) is a property 

trader. Terreïs Invest was set up with the sole purpose of holding orphan shares of the property investment 

companies. The main business of Terreïs Real Estate is selling residential and service sector units from the Terreïs 

real estate portfolio. The main business of Imodam is managing the group's real estate assets. 

During the second half of 2014, the SCIs Le Foch and Dupaty ceased legally to exist following a complete merger 

with, and the transfer of their assets and liabilities to, Terreïs. 

During the year, Terreïs purchased the building located 41 avenue de Friedland. This building was owned through 

the Friedland sub-group. In the interests of simplifying the organisation chart, mergers were arranged so that the 

building would be directly registered as part of Terreïs’s assets and not under ‘Investment Securities’. 

Note 10. Trade receivables and related accounts payable 

The trade receivables have maturities of less than 1 year.  

(in € 000s) 31/12/2014 31/12/2013 

Receivables 5,127 4,215 

Gross bad debts 1,789 1,049 

To be invoiced 154 229 

Subtotal gross receivables 7,070 5,493 

Provisions for bad debts -1,399 -706 

Total 5,671 4,787 
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(in € 000s) 31/12/2013 Increase Decrease 31/12/2014 

Gross bad debts 1,049 836 -96 1,789 

  31/12/2013 Allocation  Write-back 31/12/2014 

Provision for bad debts -706 -780 87 -1,399 

Net bad trade receivables 343     390 

Note 11. Other receivables 

(in € 000s) 31/12/2014 31/12/2013 

‘Group’ current accounts 2,162 1,598 

Corporation tax 1,266 0 

State - Other 162 132 

Share of earnings of the SCIs 1,705 4,866 

Down payments to lawyers relating to acquisitions 40 2,468 

Impact of re-invoicing relating to tenants 686 343 

Other 13 1,133 

Total 6,034 10,539 

The other receivables have a maturity of less than 1 year.  

Note 12. Investment Securities 

Treasury shares: 

A liquidity contract was signed with Bourse Exane – BNP Paribas, a stock brokerage firm. Transactions on treasury 

shares for the period were as follows: 

 Transaction date Value date 

(in € 000s) 
Number of 

shares 
Gross book 

value 
Number of 

shares 
Gross book 

value 

Treasury shares held at 31/12/2013 6,832 137 6,832 137 

Purchases during the period 89,430 2,239 89,078 2,230 

Sales during the period -92,262 -2,273 -87,255 -2,139 

of which, realised capital gains or losses       29 

Treasury shares held at 31/12/2014 4,000 103 8,655 228 

Cash balance    125   0 

Total liquidity account   228   228 

Other securities: 

(in € 000s) 31/12/2014 31/12/2013 

Term deposits 6,990 9,022 

SICAV 753 787 

Liquidity contract (cash) 124 7 

Liquidity contract (investment) 369 214 

Total 8,236 10,030 

Please note that a part of ‘other securities’ (€7,640,000 at 31/12/2014) has been deposited on the cash reserve 
accounts required to maintain the bank covenants. 
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At 31 December 2014, the fungible components of current assets were: 

(in € 000s) Book value Market value 
Unrealised 

capital gain 

Treasury shares 103 107 4 

Other SICAVs 650 661 11 

Subtotal ‘SICAV’ 753 768 15 

Liquidity contract (investment) 369 369 0 

Total 1,122 1,137 15 

Note 13. Cash and cash equivalents 

(in € 000s) 31/12/2014 31/12/2013 

Cash and cash equivalents 3,413 2,953 

Accrued interest receivable 137 85 

Cash at hand 0 0 

Total 3,550 3,038 

Note 14. Prepaid expenses 

Prepaid expenses break down as follows: 

(in € 000s) Period 31/12/2014 

Finance lease fee Cambrai Q1 2015 132 

Costs on assets held for sale Depending on disposals 658 

Other   155 

Total   945 

Note 15. Deferred loan arrangement costs 

(in € 000s) 31/12/2013 Acquisitions Decreases 31/12/2014 

Loan arrangement costs 2,631 1,413   4,044 

Mortgage arrangement costs 159 1,004 -48 1,115 

Total gross values 2,790 2,417 -48 5,159 

  31/12/2013 Allocations Write-backs 31/12/2014 

Loan arrangement costs -412 -234   -646 

Total depreciation -412 -234 0 -646 

Total net values 2,378     4,513 
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Note 16. Statement of changes in equity 

(in € 000s) 
Share 

capital 

Share 
premiums 

and  
revaluation 
difference 

Legal 
reserve 

Other 
reserves 

and 
retained 
earnings 

Results 
Regulated 
Provisions 

Total 

Equity at 31/12/2013 75,779 124,301 4,322 30,072 33,253 177 267,904 

Appropriation of earnings     1,716 31,537 -33,253     

Preference shares  420 128         548 

Other changes   -1,943         -1,943 

Dividends (2013 balance)       -8,138     -8,138 

Dividends (2014 interim 
dividend) 

      -8,584     -8,584 

Profit/(loss) for the year         31,727   31,727 

Change in regulated 
provisions 

       -6 -6 

Equity at 31/12/2014 76,199 122,486 6,038 44,887 31,727 171 281,508 

The share capital at 31 December 2014 was divided into: 

- 25,259,750 shares each with a par value of €3, of which 24,944,232 ordinary shares and 315,518 

preference shares 

- 210,000 Series 2 Preference Shares with a par value of €2 each. 

The number of shares issued by the Company has changed as follows: 

  Number of shares 

31/12/2005 Initial share capital 2,500 

29/09/2006 

Division of the nominal value of shares 1,000,000 

Capital increase: Contribution to capital of SCIs and buildings  2,632,861 

Capital increase: initial public offering 1,423,517 

22/12/2006 Conversion of convertible bonds 2,815,315 

10/01/2011 Merger with Avenir Investissement and DAB Expansion 8,880,549 

18/02/2011 Capital increase 8,375,326 

13/05/2012 Bonus shares 132,182 

31/12/2012 Total number of shares  25,259,750 

31/12/2013 Total number of shares  25,259,750 

30/06/2014 Series 2 Preference Shares 210,000 

31/12/2014 Total number of shares  25,469,750 

Note 17. Regulated provisions 

(in € 000s) 31/12/2013 
Impact of 
mergers 

Allocations  Write-back 31/12/2014 

Accelerated depreciation on acquisition cost of 
investment securities 

58   3 -61 0 

Accelerated depreciation on the shares of co-
ownership companies 

119   52   171 

Provisions for major repairs 0       0 

Regulated provisions 177 0 55 -61 171 

Note 18. Bank borrowings 

All borrowings were arranged either at a fixed rate or at a swapped floating rate. The borrowings used to finance 

property acquisitions are mainly guaranteed by lenders’ rights to preferential repayment or mortgages (see: Part V: 

Off-balance sheet commitments). 
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(in € 000s)   31/12/2014 31/12/2013 

Fixed-rate loans repayable by instalments  15,528 18,203 

Hedged floating-rate loans repayable by instalments  497,483 486,576 

Hedged floating-rate bullet loan 165,400 17,700 

Lines of credit 0 20,000 

Bank borrowings and loans from long-term credit institutions  678,411 542,479 

Fixed-rate loans repayable by instalments  2,573 2,482 

Hedged floating-rate loans repayable by instalments  40,803 32,815 

Interest accrued on borrowings 2,255 1,710 

Bank accounts with a negative balance 0 1,383 

Interests accrued on bank accounts  5 6 

Lines of credit 20,000 29,992 

Bank borrowings and loans from short-term credit institutions 65,636 68,388 

Total   744,047 610,867 

 

(in € 000s) 31/12/2014 31/12/2013 

Total financial liabilities  744,047 610,867 

Interest accrued on borrowings -2,255 -1,710 

Bank accounts with a negative balance 0 -1,383 

Interests accrued on bank accounts  -5 -6 

Total bank borrowings, excluding accrued interest and bank accounts 
with a negative balance 

741,787 607,768 

Statement of bank borrowings excluding accrued interest and bank accounts with a negative balance: 

Gross financial debt amounted to €741,787,000 at 31 December 2014, up by €134,019,000 compared with 31 

December 2013. This change is explained mainly by: 

- the signing of new loans (€207,900,000) 

- repayments of loans and amortisation of debt in a total sum of €73,881,000.  

 

(in € 000s) 31/12/2013 
Impact of 
mergers 

Increase Decrease 31/12/2014 

Fixed-rate loans repayable by instalments  20,685     -2,584 18,101 

Hedged floating-rate loans repayable by 
instalments  

519,391   57,900 -39,005 538,286 

Hedged floating-rate bullet loans 17,700   150,000 -2,300 165,400 

Lines of credit 49,992     -29,992 20,000 

Total bank borrowings, excluding accrued 
interest and bank accounts with a negative 
balance 

607,768 0 207,900 -73,881 741,787 

Schedule of repayments of bank borrowings and debts from banks (principal): 

(in € 000s) Total < 1 year 1 to 5 years > 5 years 

Fixed-rate loans repayable by instalments  18,101 2,573 9,408 6,120 

Hedged floating-rate loans repayable by instalments  538,286 40,803 219,158 278,325 

Hedged floating-rate bullet loans 165,400 0 90,400 75,000 

Lines of credit 20,000 20,000 0   

Total bank borrowings, excluding accrued interest 
and bank accounts with a negative balance 

741,787 63,376 318,966 359,445 
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Financial covenants: 

Some loans taken out by the Terreïs Group are subject to covenants based on financial ratios (Loan To Value and 

Debt Service Coverage Ratio) or other commitments that may, particularly in the event of a change of control, result 

in an obligation to lock-in further funds or to make early repayment. 

At 31 December 2014, the LTV stood at 48% and the Overall DSCR (including cash reserves) at 124%. 

The company has set up a system for the periodic monitoring of these ratios. 

  Covenants 

LTV (Loan To Value) Minimum < 55% 

DSCR (Debt Service Coverage Ratio) Minimum > 1.10 

Derivative instruments: 

Change in derivative instruments: 

(in € 000s) 
Fair value 
31/12/2014 

Fair value 
31/12/2013 

Change 

Of which, less than one year 13,917 13,055 862 

Of which, more than one year 60,004 22,186 37,818 

Subtotal  73,921 35,241 38,680 

Accrued coupons 1,165 938 227 

Total of derivative instrument liabilities 75,086 36,179 38,907 

Sensitivity of the fair value of derivative instrument liabilities: 

(in € 000s) 
Fair value with 

assumption of a 
0.5% fall in rates 

Fair value 
adopted at 
31/12/2014 

Fair value with 
assumption of 

0.5% increase in 
rates 

Interest Rate Swap: payer of fixed rate / receiver 3-month 
Euribor floating rate 

94,808 75,086 52,253 

Information on the risk of fluctuation in the value of financial instruments: the derivative instruments used to hedge 

interest rate risk are not valued in the accounts at their fair value. However, information on the valuation of these 

swaps can be found in the notes to the accounts since changes in value over time may have a significant positive or 

negative impact if the Company were to decide to “unwind” these swaps. The estimated value of interest rate 

derivative instruments is directly linked to their maturity and to interest rate expectations. 

Note 19. Borrowings and other financial liabilities 

The ‘Borrowings and Other Financial Liabilities’ line item is solely comprised of security deposits received from 

tenants. These deposits are returned to tenants when they leave the property. 

Note 20. Trade accounts payable and related accounts payable 

(in € 000s) 31/12/2014 31/12/2013 

Trade accounts payable 1,031 1,187 

Invoices not received 263 229 

Total 1,294 1,417 

‘Trade Accounts Payable and Related Accounts Payable’ have a maturity of less than 1 year. 
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Note 21. Tax and social security payables 

(in € 000s)   31/12/2014 31/12/2013 

Social security organisations 45 45 

Employees - charges payable 6 7 

Subtotal  ‘Social Security Liabilities’ 51 52 

Exit Tax 3,574 10,763 

Corporation tax   -1,301 

VAT   3,229 1,694 

Tax dispute (formerly ‘Avenir & Investissement’) 254 254 

State - expenses payable 330 138 

Subtotal  ‘Tax Liabilities’ 7,387 11,548 

Total    7,438 11,600 

‘Tax and Social Security Liabilities’ have a maturity of less than 1 year, with the exception of Exit Tax. 

Exit Tax:  

The adoption of SIIC status involves the immediate payment of a 19% exit tax on unrealised capital gains existing on 

the adoption date relating to properties and shares in partnerships not subject to corporation tax. 

(in € 
000s) 

  
Date of 
option 

Adjusted 
property 

value 
Fiscal value Difference Exit tax 

      A B A-B=C C*19% 

Assets resulting from the mergers of Terreïs 
Building AGV and Terreïs Rue de la Paix 

01/01/2011 74,742 13,948 60,794 11,550 

Assets contributed as part of the merger 
with Avenir & Investissement 

10/01/2011 214,420 59,352 155,068 29,462 

Assets resulting from the merger with EURL 
103 rue Réaumur 

15/09/2012 23,348 17,972 5,376 1,021 

Assets resulting from the merger with SAS 
41 avenue Friedland 

16/06/2014 68,567 45,265 23,302 4,427 

Total     381,077 136,537 244,540 46,460 

A quarter of this tax must be paid on 15 December of the year of the option and the balance spread over the next 

three years. 

Amount remaining to be paid as at 31.12.2014: 

(in € 000s) 
Amount remaining to be 

paid as at 01/01/2014 

Amount of options 
realised during the  

year 

Amount paid during the 
year 

Amount remaining to be 
paid as at 31/12/2014 

Total 10,763 4,427 -11,616 3,574 

Loan repayment schedule: 

(in € 000s) 15/12/2015 15/12/2016 15/12/2017 Total 

Total 1,360 1,107 1,107 3,574 
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Note 22. Other liabilities 

(in € 000s) 31/12/2014 31/12/2013 

‘Group’ current accounts 11,199 12,990 

Ovalto Investissement advance and loan 16,864 106,024 

Debts to heirs and successors (formerly Avenir & Investissement) 267 572 

Trade credit balances 117   

Other 2,685 844 

Total 31,132 120,429 

The ‘Other Debts’ mature in less than one year. 

V. Off-balance sheet commitments 

(€ millions) 31/12/2014 31/12/2013 

Commitments relating to Terreïs:     

 . Guarantees given:     

   - None - 

 . Guarantees received :     

 - commitments provided by Ovalto Investissement to the banks in connection with 
the financing of Terreïs’s capital expenditure (pledges of financial securities and 
deposit account) 

27 26 

Commitments relating to the financing:     

 . Guarantees given:     

 - mortgages 248 102 

 - lenders’ rights to preferential repayment  497 369 

 - bank guarantees 66 76 

 - covenants: see note 18     

. Guarantees received:     

   - None - 

Commitments made to operating business activities:     

. Guarantees given:     

 - potential disbursement on signature of offers to purchase 0 0 

. Guarantees received:     

 - potential cash inflow on signature of offers to sell  4 13 

 - guarantees received in connection with leases signed with tenants 2 2 

* NC: not communicated     

VI. Events after 31 December, 2014 

No major event has occurred since the balance sheet date which might have a significant impact on the Company's 

earnings or financial situation. 
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VII. List of subsidiaries and equity interests 

At 31 December 2014, the list of consolidated companies was as follows: 

Name Address Siren number 

SAS Terreïs Valorisation 29 rue Marbeuf - Paris 491 933 727 

SCI du 29 Taitbout Immobilier 29 rue Marbeuf - Paris 379 789 274 

SCI du 20 rue Louis Philippe in Neuilly 29 rue Marbeuf - Paris 338 787 435 

SCI Les Fleurs de Damrémont 29 rue Marbeuf - Paris 351 818 356 

SCI 102 rue du Faubourg Saint Honoré 29 rue Marbeuf - Paris 345 263 404 

SCI des 11 à 15 avenue Lebrun 29 rue Marbeuf - Paris 451 895 940 

EURL Terreïs Invest 29 rue Marbeuf - Paris 501 560 023 

SAS Terreïs Real Estate 25 rue Marbeuf - Paris 529 674 426 

SAS Imodam  29 rue Marbeuf - Paris 408 825 636 

SCI Le Foch and SCI Dupaty, together with SAS Friedland, were merged into Terreïs in 2014. 

(in € 000s) Share capital 
Shareholder

s’ equity 

Share of 
capital held  

(%) 

Gross book 
value of 

investments 

Net book 
value of 

investments 

EURL Terreïs Invest 40 18 100.00% 40 40 

SAS Terreïs Real Estate 10 605 51.00% 5 5 

SAS Terreïs Valorisation 37 -384 100.00% 37 37 

SCI 102 rue du Faubourg Saint Honoré 15 550 99.90% 1,842 1,842 

SCI des 11 à 15 avenue Lebrun 727 3,098 99.99% 14,555 14,555 

SCI du 20 rue Louis Philippe in Neuilly 2 493 99.00% 2,510 2,510 

SCI du 29 Taitbout Immobilier 13 365 99.89% 613 613 

SCI Les Fleurs de Damrémont 15 1,556 99.90% 4,793 4,793 

SAS Imodam  270 1,774 60.00% 180 180 

No guarantees or sureties were given or received during the year 

(in € 000s) 

Loans and 
advances 

granted by the 
company and 
not yet repaid 

Profit/loss for 
the previous 

year 

Net revenue 
for the 

previous year 

Dividends 
received by 

the company 
during the 

year 

EURL Terreïs Invest 36 -33   31 

SAS Terreïs Real Estate   443 1,198 300 

SAS Terreïs Valorisation 2,078 -533 9   

SCI 102 rue du Faubourg Saint Honoré   148 187   

SCI des 11 à 15 avenue Lebrun   1,168 3,552   

SCI du 20 rue Louis Philippe in Neuilly   143 230   

SCI du 29 Taitbout Immobilier 48 43 76   

SCI Les Fleurs de Damrémont   206 449   

SAS Imodam    770 2,846 639 

 

  



 

  Terreïs 2014 Annual Report 
95 

(in € 000s) Amount concerning related companies 

Long-term investments   

Long-term equity investments 24,576 

Receivables   

Other receivables 2,162 

Liabilities   

Other liabilities 11,199 

Share of profits of SCIs consolidated by Terreïs 1,705 

Financial income and expenses   

Investment income 970 

Financial expenses 7,147 

Financial income 4,115 

VIII. Remuneration for senior management and governance bodies 

The senior management comprises persons present at the balance sheet date, or who had been present during the 

year, directors or members of Terreïs’s Audit Committee. 

(in € 000s) 31/12/2014 31/12/2013 

Short-term benefits (salaries, bonuses, etc.) 155 155 

IX. Related party transactions 

Related party transactions are executed on normal market terms and conditions. Thus, on 11 December 2014 Terreïs 

acquired a property for the price of €2.9 million, located at 35 rue Houdan in Sceaux (92350), held by SCI 35 rue 

Houdan of which Jacky Lorenzetti is an associate manager. This price is taken from the valuation made by BNP 

Paribas Real Estate. This acquisition was authorised by the Board of Directors of Terreïs on 22 September 2014. 

 Transactions executed with Ovalto Investissement: 

Jacky Lorenzetti, Chairman of the Board of Directors of Terreïs, is the Chairman and Founder of Ovalto 

Investissement. 

(in € 000s) 31/12/2014 31/12/2013 

Income statement:     

Accounting, legal and administrative services -250 -250 

Interest on cash advance and loan -1,473 -565 

Balance sheet:     

Cash advance and loan -16,864 -106,024 

Trade payables and related accounts payable -150 -150 
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X. Remuneration of the Statutory Auditors 

  Deloitte & Associés (1) Sofideec Baker Tilly Rödl & Partner  

(amount in €, excluding tax) 31/12/2014 31/12/2013 31/12/2014 31/12/2013 31/12/2014 31/12/2013 

Audit:             

 . Statutory audits, certification, 
examination of corporate and 
consolidated accounts 

            

 - Issuer 73,000 42,000 47,000 39,000   39,000 

 - Fully consolidated subsidiaries     9,400 9,000     

. Other services and steps taken directly 
relating to the task of the statutory 
auditors 

            

Subtotal 73,000  42,000  56,400  48,000  0  39,000  

Other services provided by networks 
to fully consolidated subsidiaries: 

            

 . Legal, financial and employee-related             

. Other if >10% of audit fees             

Subtotal 0  0  0  0  0  0  

Total 73,000 42,000 56,400 48,000 0 39,000 

(1): Deloitte & Associés was appointed by the General Shareholders’ Meeting of 14 May 2013 

XI. Finance Lease 

On 23 April 1999, Avenir & Investissement purchased a real estate finance lease contract, effective from 1 April, 

relating to a building of commercial premises located at 32 rue Cambrai in the 19th arrondissement of Paris. 

Terreïs took over this finance lease contract after the merger with Avenir & Investissement on 10 January 2011.  

After renegotiating the contract with effect from 1 January 2007, the terms and conditions are as follows: 

 Contract expiry date:  31 December 2018 

 Term of finance lease:   12 years 

 Interest rate:  3-months Euribor 

 Quarterly instalments remaining to be paid as at 31/12/2014:  16 

 Instalments, net of tax, paid in 2014:  €522,000 

 Net Q1 2015 instalment, provided for information: €132,000 

 Original value of assets included in the finance lease:  €7,622,000 

 Residual value:  € 0 

The financial commitments of this finance lease at 31/12/2014 are detailed in the table below (depending on 

provisional variable data): 

 

(in € 000s) 
Amount of instalments 

for previous years 
Amount of instalments 

paid in 2014 
Amount of instalments 
to pay within one year 

Amount of  
instalments to pay 

between 1 and 5 years 

Finance Lease 10,096 522 512 1,524 

Total 10,096 522 512 1,524 
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The table below restates the aforesaid finance lease transaction as if it were a direct acquisition of a building effective 

from the conclusion of the contract. 

(in € 000s) 
Value of 
property 

Amount of 
amortisation at 
the start of the 

financial year 

Provision for the 
year (1) 

Cumulative total 
at end of year 

Net value 

Land 2,668       2,668 

Building 4,955 -2,652 -125 -2,777 2,178 

Total 7,622       4,846 

(1): Theoretical amount based on an average usage time of 40 years for the building. 

XII. Comparative analysis of results 

In the interests of a clearer overview of our activity, you will find below a comparative analysis of our income 

statement. 

(in € 000s) 31/12/2014 31/12/2013 Change 

Gross rents 68,159 58,008 18% 

Rental expenses incurred -1,331 -2,557 -48% 

Management and rental fees -1,569 -1,911 -18% 

Total of net triple net 65,259 53,539 22% 

Payroll costs  -413 -365 13% 

External charges -2,639 -1,815 45% 

Taxes -927 -659 41% 

Allocations to impairments and provisions -25,876 -22,871 13% 

Other operating income and expenses -1,156 -114 911% 

Current operating income 34,248 27,715 24% 

Share in SCI earnings 1,705 4,866 -65% 

Operating income 35,953 32,580 10% 

Profit/loss from disposals of investment property 25,356 22,191 14% 

Other operating income and expenses  15 13 15% 

Operating income 61,324 54,785 12% 

Cash and cash equivalents -4,411 -218 1924% 

Finance costs -25,097 -21,192 18% 

Financial income -29,508 -21,410 38% 

Tax expense  -89 -121   

Net income 31,727 33,253 -5% 
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STATUTORY AUDITORS’ REPORT ON THE CORPORATE FINANCIAL 

STATEMENTS 
 

 

To the Shareholders, 

In accordance with the mandate conferred on us by your General Shareholders' Meeting, we present to you our 
report for the year ended 31 December 2014, on: 

 the audit of the annual financial statements of TERREÏS, as attached to this report; 

 the basis of our assessments; 

 the specific disclosures and verification procedures required by law. 

The annual financial statements have been approved by the Board of Directors. It is our responsibility to express an 
opinion on these financial statements, based on our audit. 

I. Opinion on the annual financial statements 

 
We conducted our audit in accordance with the professional standards applicable in France. These standards require 
us to take the steps enabling us to obtain a reasonable assurance that the annual financial statements are free of 
material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis or using other selection methods, evidence 
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. It also includes an assessment of the accounting 
policies applied, the significant estimates made and the overall adequacy of the presentation of information in the 
financial statements. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our assessment. 

In our opinion, the annual financial statements are true and fair as regards French accounting rules and principles, 
and give an accurate view of the results of the Company’s operations and its financial position and of the Company’s 
assets at the end of this financial year. 

II.   Basis for our assessments  
 
In accordance with Article L. 823-9 of the French Commercial Code relating to the basis of our assessment, we report 
to you that: 

 As indicated in section ‘1.C.  Property, plant and equipment’ in the Notes, the company's real estate portfolio has 
been assessed by an independent real estate valuer in order to determine any impairments. Our work consisted 
mainly in reviewing the valuation methodology implemented by the valuer and verifying that any impairments 
made were based on valuations by external parties. 

Our assessments therefore fall within the scope of our audit of the annual financial statements, taken as a whole, and 
therefore contributed to the formation of our opinion expressed in the first part of this report. 

III.   Specific verifications and disclosures 
 
In accordance with the professional standards applicable in France, we have also performed the specific verification 
procedures required by law. 

We have no comments to make on the accuracy and consistency with the annual financial statements of the 
disclosures contained in the Board of Directors’ management report and in the documents sent to shareholders with 
respect to the financial position and the annual financial statements; 

Regarding the disclosures made as required by Article L.225-102-1 of the Commercial Code on the remuneration 
paid and benefits given to corporate officers and on commitments granted for their benefit, we have checked their 
consistency with the financial statements or with the underlying data used to prepare these financial statements and, 
if necessary, with the data collected by your company from companies with controlling interests in your company or in 
which your company has controlling interests. Based on this work, we certify that these disclosures are accurate and 
fair. 

In accordance with the law, we verified that the information relating to long-term equity investments and taking 
control, and to the identity of holders of capital and voting rights, have been properly disclosed to you in the 
management report. 
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In accordance with the law, we inform you that the company did not appoint an independent third-party organisation 
charged with checking the environmental and corporate social responsibility information presented in the 
management report, as required by Article L.225-102-1 of the Commercial Code.  

Signed at Neuilly-sur-Seine and Paris, on 30 March 2015 

Statutory Auditors 

DELOITTE & ASSOCIES SOFIDEEC BAKER TILLY 

Christophe POSTEL-VINAY Jean-Fabrice SUBIAS            Pierre FAUCON 
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OTHER INFORMATION ABOUT THE ISSUER 
 

Issuer’s company name 

 

The name of the Company is ‘Terreïs’. 

 

 

Place of registration of the issuer and its registration number 

 

The Company is entered in the Trade and Companies Register of Paris under number 431 413 673. 

 

 

Date of incorporation and the length of life of the issuer 

 

The Company was established on 17 April 2000 for a period of ninety-nine (99) years, ending on 12 May 2099. 

 

 

Registered office and legal status of the issuer and governing law 

 

The Company's registered office is at 29 rue Marbeuf, Paris 75008. Its administrative headquarters are at 11, avenue 

Paul Langevin, Le Plessis Robinson 92350 – (telephone: 01 82 00 95 00). 

 

The Company was set up as a société par actions simplifiée (a simplified joint stock company) and became a société 

anonyme (a joint stock company) on 29 September 2006. It is governed by the legislative and regulatory provisions 

applicable to French joint stock companies and by its Articles of Association. 

 

 

Corporate purpose 

 

In accordance with Article 2 of its Articles of Association, the Company’s main purpose is the acquisition or 

construction of rental property or the direct or indirect acquisition of shareholdings in companies with this same 

purpose. 

 

It may also lease any premises, sublet property, acquire shareholdings or equity interests in any French or foreign 

commercial, financial or other companies and enterprises with the same corporate purpose; exceptionally it may 

dispose of Company assets, in particular by sale or contribution, and more generally may enter into any industrial, 

commercial, financial, investment, land or property transaction directly or indirectly related to its corporate purpose. 

 

 

Dividend distribution policy 

 

The Company has opted for a dividend to be paid twice a year: 

- an interim dividend based on the interim results, 

- a final dividend paid after the Annual General Meeting of the shareholders. 
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OTHER INFORMATION CONCERNING CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
 

Administration 

 

By a decision of the Board of Directors dated 13 March 2012, the Company decided to refer to the Middlenext Code 

and to rewrite its corporate governance charter. 

 

The main stipulations of this corporate governance charter are summarised below. 

 

Organisation of the Board 

 

The Company is administered by a Board of Directors composed of at least six and of no more than eighteen 

members, subject to the exemptions granted by law in the event of mergers. The term of office of directors is three 

years and may be renewed. 

 

The number of individual directors and permanent representatives of legal entities aged 75 and above may not, on 31 

December of each year, exceed one third of the directors in office, rounded up to the nearest whole number. When 

this proportion is exceeded, the oldest director shall automatically be considered to have resigned. 

 

The Board of Directors must include at least two independent members specifically elected or co-opted as such. 

 

The independence of directors is characterised by the absence of a significant financial, contractual or family 

relationship likely to alter the independence of their judgement. 

 

To qualify one of its members as independent, the Board of Directors examines the position of each director, case by 

case, on the following criteria, namely that he/she:  

 is not an employee or executive officer of the Company or a company in its group, and has not held such a 

position in the previous three years; 

 is not a significant customer, supplier or banker of the Company or its group, or for which the Company or its 

group represents a significant part of its business; 

 is not a major shareholder of the Company; 

 does not have a close family connection with a company officer or a major shareholder; 

 has not been a company auditor during the previous three years. 

 

Provided that it provides grounds for its position, the Board of Directors may however consider that a director who 

meets all the foregoing criteria shall not be qualified as independent, and vice versa.  

 

Functioning and powers of the Board of Directors 
 

The Board of Directors is a collegiate body which represents all the shareholders collectively and sets itself the 

obligation to act in the Company’s corporate interest at all times. 

 

In exercising its legal prerogatives, the Board of Directors determines the Company’s business strategy and ensures 

its implementation. Subject to the powers expressly granted by the General Meetings of Shareholders and within the 

limits of the corporate purpose, the Board assumes jurisdiction over all matters affecting the smooth running of the 

Company and governs, through its deliberations, the matters which concern it.  

 

In particular, the Board of Directors: 

 determines the Company's management model, with either the Chairman of the Board of Directors or by a 

natural person, who may or may not be a director, appointed by the Board and bearing the title of Chief 

Executive Officer;  

 appoints the company officers responsible for the management and management control of the Company; 

 defines, if necessary the limitations on the power of the Chief Executive Officer and the Executive Vice-

Presidents;  

 examines and decides the operations of strategic importance, whether they are large investments for 

external growth or internal restructuring operations; 

 approves, prior to their implementation, all significant operations not included in the announced corporate 

strategy;  
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 keeps itself informed about the Company’s financial position, cash position and its major commitments;  

 monitors the quality of the information provided to shareholders and financial markets through the financial 

statements, which it approves, and the annual report as well as on the occasion of important transactions;  

 calls the General Meetings of Shareholders and sets their agenda;  

 examines regulated agreements and rules on their prior authorisation;  

 defines the list of directors considered as independent;  

 examines all reports intended for Ordinary or Extraordinary General Meetings of Shareholders;  

 makes any such checks and audits as it may deem appropriate.  

 

Lastly, as part of its supervisory powers, the Board of Directors sees to it that all shareholders are taken into 

consideration and that their interests are safeguarded. It also makes sure that the general management is capable of 

running the Company in a sustainable manner. 

 

The members of the Board of Directors shall perform their duties with loyalty and good faith, professionalism and 

commitment.  

 

They may not take any action which might be harmful to the interests of the Company and must act in good faith at all 

times. 

 

In addition to the discretion required by Article L. 225-37 of the French Commercial Code, members of the Board of 

Directors must consider themselves bound by professional secrecy with respect to any non-public information that 

they may have acquired in their professional capacity. They shall personally undertake to respect the confidentiality 

of the information they receive, the discussions in which they participate and the decisions taken. 

 

Each member of the Board of Directors shall: 

 undertake to devote the necessary time and attention to their duties, 

 be diligent and attend all the meetings of the Board of Directors and of the committees of which they are 

members, unless this is impossible. 

 learn about the activities and specific aspects of the Company’s business, its challenges and its values, 

 endeavour to update the knowledge he/she needs for the performance his/her duties in a satisfactory 

manner, 

 ask for, and make every effort to obtain, within the appropriate deadlines, the information which he/she 

considers essential to making informed decisions at Board meetings. 

 inform the Board of any conflict of interest, whether direct or indirect or even potential, with the Company. In 

such a situation, he/she shall abstain from voting on any deliberation of the Board of Directors, and from the 

debate preceding this vote, 

 undertake to inform the Board of Directors of all draft agreements which must be submitted to the approval 

procedure for regulated agreements set out in Article L. 225-38 of the French Commercial Code, prior to its 

conclusion, and to send to the Chairman of the Board of Directors the agreements on current operations 

which have been reached on normal terms and conditions, 

 undertake to attend Annual General Meetings. 

 

Each member of the Board of Directors shall refrain from using the privileged information to which he/she has access 

for his/her personal profit or for the benefit of anyone else. In particular, when he/she possesses information which 

has not been made public, he/she shall refrain from using it to execute, either him/herself or by a third party, 

transactions involving the Company’s shares.  

 

Non-voting directors 

 

The Board of Directors may appoint one or more individuals or companies as non-voting directors, the number of 

which may not exceed three (3). Non-voting directors are selected from outside the members of the Board of 

Directors. They may be shareholders or not. They are bound by the same duties as the other members of the Board 

of Directors. 

 

Non-voting directors are appointed for a period of one (1) year ending after the Ordinary General Meeting of 

Shareholders which approved the financial statements for the prior year and held in the year in which the non-voting 

director's appointment ends. Non-voting directors may be re-appointed. 
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Non-voting directors attend Board of Directors' meetings, and participate in proceedings, in an advisory capacity and 

their absence has no impact on the validity of the Board's proceedings. They may make any comments at meetings 

of the Board of Directors which they consider necessary. Non-voting directors are at the service of the Board of 

Directors and its Chairman to give their opinion on questions of all kinds. They may be charged with studying 

questions which the  Board of Directors or the Chairman of the Board may submit to their review, for an opinion. 

 

The remuneration of the non-voting directors is decided by the Board of Directors. 

 

Special committees 
 

On 29 September 2006, the Board of Directors unanimously approved the creation of the following three committees: 

 Investment Committee 

The Investment Committee assists the Board of Directors by monitoring the Company’s investment and disposal 

strategy and by examining its main transactions. 

 

The Investment Committee meets at least once a month and whenever it considers it necessary, as well as prior to 

meetings of the Board of Directors at which the agenda includes the examination of a matter within its remit. 

 

The Committee has five members: Jacky Lorenzetti, Fabrice Paget-Domet, Olivier Froc, Jacques Soyer and Yves 

Thibault. 

 Audit and Risk Management Committee 

The Audit and Risk Management Committee helps the Board of Directors to monitor the accuracy and fairness of the 

corporate and consolidated financial statements and the quality of the information supplied. When the annual or 

interim corporate accounts and consolidated financial statements are being prepared, and when any decision 

concerning the Company’s or the group’s accounts are being prepared, the main role of this committee is to make 

recommendations or proposals to the Board of Directors in the following areas: 

 

 With respect to the financial statements: 

 the accounting policies adopted by the Company and the group, 

 the corporate accounts and the consolidated annual financial statements and accompanying observations, 

before these are referred to the Board of Directors, 

 the nature, scope and results of the examination of the accounts by the Statutory Auditors, 

 the interim and preliminary results and the accompanying observations. 

 

 With respect to the external audit: 

 the process for the selection of the Statutory Auditors, 

 the amount and allocation of the fees of the Statutory Auditors, and the scope and nature of the work they 

do in addition to their task of auditing the accounts. 

 
 With respect to internal control and risk management: 

 it ensures satisfactory application of the internal controls and reporting procedures, 

 it issues an opinion on the organisation of the internal audit. For this purpose it must receive internal audit 

reports or a periodic summary of these reports in order for it to be able, in particular, to help identify any 

major risks, 

 it supervises the main financial risks of the Company. 

 

The members of the Audit Committee are: François Lepicard, Valérie Guillen and Jacques Soyer. 

 Appointments and Remuneration Committee 

The Appointments and Remuneration Committee issues recommendations to the Board of Directors in the following 

areas: 

 every candidate for the role of independent member of the Board of Directors, 

 all significant changes in the arrangements for, and amounts of, executive pay, 

 all plans to dismiss and appoint senior executives,  

 the replacement of directors in the event of an unexpected vacancy on the board, 

 the general stock options policy, and all proposals to grant senior executives options to purchase or subscribe to 

stock options. 
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The Appointments and Remuneration Committee may also issue any observations it considers useful concerning the 

arrangements for, and amounts of, remuneration for senior executives other than the corporate officers. 

 

In view of the number of employees of the Company and the outsourcing of certain tasks to property managers and 

Ovalto Investissement, which, as service providers, monitor the principal risks to which the Company is exposed, the 

duties of the Appointments and Remuneration Committee were performed by the Board of Directors for the year 

ended 31 December 2014. 

 

Remuneration of the Board of Directors 
 

Directors may receive a fixed annual remuneration, the total amount of which is determined by the Ordinary General 

Meeting of Shareholders. The Board of Directors makes its allocation, in the form of directors’ fees, in the amounts 

which it defines independently, taking into account, if applicable, the attendance by directors at one of the committees 

which the Board has created.  

 

 

Senior management 

 
General procedures 
 

In accordance with the Articles of Association, the general management of the Company is the responsibility either of 

the Chairman of the Board of Directors, or of another individual appointed by the Board of Directors and bearing the 

title of Chief Executive Officer. 

 

The Board of Directors may choose either of these two general management models. 

 

The choice made by the Board of Directors applies for two years. At the end of this period, the Board of Directors 

shall again deliberate on the model for general management. A change in the general management model does not 

require an amendment to the Articles of Association. 

 

The individual appointed as Chief Executive Officer may be chosen from among directors or non-directors. 

 

The term of office of the Chief Executive Officer is determined by the Board upon his appointment. However, if the 

Chief Executive Officer is a director, his term of office may not exceed that of his directorship. 

 

No one over the age of 75 may be appointed as Chief Executive Officer. If the Chief Executive Officer reaches this 

age limit, he shall be deemed to have resigned from office. 

 

The Chief Executive Officer may be dismissed at any time by the Board of Directors. If the dismissal is decided 

without just cause, it may give rise to the payment of damages, except when the Chief Executive Officer assumes the 

role of Chairman of the Board of Directors. 

 

The Chief Executive Officer is fully empowered to act for and on behalf of the Company in any situation. He exercises 

his powers within the bounds of the corporate purpose and subject to the powers expressly granted by law to 

shareholders’ meetings. 

 

He represents the Company in its dealings with third parties. The Company is also bound by the acts of the Chief 

Executive Officer which are ultra vires  in regard to the corporate purpose, unless it can prove that the third party was 

aware that the act exceeded this purpose or that, in view of the circumstances, the third party should have been 

aware of this. The publication of the Articles of Association is not on its own sufficient basis for such proof. 
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Plurality of office 
 
The limitation on holding office both as a director and a chief executive officer applies under the conditions and 

subject to the derogations provided for by law. 
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ADDITIONAL INFORMATION ABOUT THE SHARE CAPITAL AND THE 

SHAREHOLDERS 
 

Most of the information below is taken from the Articles of Association. 

 

Rights and obligations attached to shares – Category of shares 

 

Subject to the stipulations of Articles 11.2 and 11.3 of the Articles of Association, described below, each share gives 

a right, proportionate to the amount of capital which it represents, to the Company’s profits, assets, and surplus in 

liquidation. 

 

It also entitles the holder to vote and be represented at General Meetings, as well as the right to be kept informed of 

the Company’s performance and to receive certain corporate documents at the times and in the manner recognised 

by law and by the Articles of Association.  

 

No share shall receive a double voting right. 

 

The corporate liability of shareholders is limited to the amount of their contribution. The rights and obligations follow 

the share, whoever the holder may be. 

 

Ownership of a share automatically implies agreement with the Company’s Articles of Association and with the 

decisions taken at General Meetings. 

 

Whenever it is necessary to own a certain number of shares in order to exercise any right whatsoever, the owners 

who do not own this number shall be personally responsible for seeing they gather together and, if necessary, buy or 

sell the number of shares required in each category. 

 

There exist preference shares, the rights and characteristics of which, by virtue of Article 11.2 of the Articles of 

Association, are as follows: 

- preference shares grant the holder the right to a dividend of €0.18 per share in priority over ordinary shares. 

The preferred dividend is stipulated to be non-cumulative (i.e. if the distributable profits of a financial year do 

not allow payment of it in full, the holders of preference shares may definitely not claim payment of the 

unpaid portion in subsequent years); 

- preference shares will be automatically converted into ordinary shares and shall thereby lose their special 

rights in the event of the transfer, in any manner whatsoever, of their full title, or of their life interest in the 

event of the death of their holder; 

- if the ownership of the preference shares is split and if  ownership of the said shares are reconstituted in the 

hands of the bare owner, the reconstituted shares shall automatically be converted into ordinary shares and 

shall automatically lose their special rights; 

- preference shares shall be registered in the name of the owner or bare owner, as applicable, and shall not 

be admitted for trading on the Euronext Paris regulated market; 

- all the rights attached to Company’s shares which grant the holders of preference shares the right to 

subscribe to or be allotted, in any manner whatsoever, shares and/or securities giving access to the 

Company's equity capital by reason of their preference shares (in particular, pre-emptive rights, or the right 

to receive the dividend in the form of new shares) may well result only in the delivery of ordinary shares or 

securities giving access to the Company’s ordinary shares, except in the event of the creation of new shares 

resulting from the splitting of the nominal value of shares. In this last case, the amount of the preferred 

dividend attached to the preference shares shall be adjusted accordingly; 

- each holder of preference shares may at any time ask for the conversion of all or part of its preference 

shares into ordinary shares, if the Company pays a conversion premium calculated on the basis of an 

actuarial table created by the Board of Directors once a year; and 

- the Company shall ask for the shares obtained from the conversion of preference shares to be admitted for 

trading on the NYSE Euronext Paris regulated market after any transfer of the shares, the death of their 

holder or a request for conversion by a holder. 

 

Furthermore, there exist Series 2 Preference Shares with a par value of two euros per share, the rights and 

characteristics of which, by virtue of Article 11.3 of the Articles of Association, are as follows: 
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- the Series 2 Preference Shares include a voting right proportionate to the percentage of capital they 

represent; 

- the Series 2 Preference Shares are registered in the holder’s name and are admitted to trading on the NYSE 

Euronext Paris regulated market; 

- in the event of the conversion of Series 2 Preference Shares into ordinary shares, the Company will request 

admission for trading of the said ordinary shares on the regulated market of NYSE Euronext Paris; 

- in the event of the conversion of Series 2 Preference Shares into ordinary shares, the capital increase which 

may, if applicable, be caused by the conversion ratio of Series 2 Preference Shares, shall be achieved by 

capitalising premiums or available reserves; 

- between the issue date and their conversion date, the Series 2 Preference Shares will not confer a right to 

dividends paid by the Company; 

- in the event of judicial or voluntary liquidation of the Company, the holders of Series 2 Preference Shares 

which have not been converted into ordinary shares shall not receive any amount per Series 2 Preference 

Share, except for the par value of those Series 2 Preference Shares transferred for repayment of the par 

value; 

- in the event of the winding up of the Company without liquidation, the holders of unconverted Series 2 

Preference Shares shall not receive any amount per Series 2 Preference Share, except for the par value of 

those Series 2 Preference Shares transferred for repayment of the par value; 

- Series 2 Preference Shares will be automatically be converted into the Company's ordinary shares in the 

following cases: 

a. At 31 December 2014 

If the Terreïs ordinary share’s value, which results from the NAV per share calculated at 31 December 

2014, were 10% higher than the NAV per share at 31 December 2013, then half the Series 2 

Preference Shares would be converted into the Company's ordinary shares in accordance with a 

conversion ratio of one Series 2 Preference Share for two ordinary shares. Non-converted Series 2 

Preference Shares would be maintained. 

Failing an increase of at least 10% of the NAV per share calculated at 31 December 2014 compared 

with the NAV per share at 31 December 2013, then half of the Series 2 Preference Shares shall be 

converted on the basis of one ordinary share for 25,000 Series 2 Preference Shares, with the 

unconverted Series 2 Preference Shares being maintained. 

b. At 31 December 2018 

If the Terreïs ordinary share’s value, which results from the NAV per share calculated at 31 December 

2018, were 10% higher than the NAV per share at 31 December 2013, then half the Series 2 

Preference Shares unconverted at this date will be converted into the Company's ordinary shares in 

accordance with a conversion ratio such that: (a) with 10% growth in the NAV, all the unconverted 

Series 2 Preference Shares will together be converted into one ordinary share; and at (b) with 25% 

growth in the NAV, all the unconverted Series 2 Preference Shares will together be converted into a 

number of ordinary shares equal to twice the number of unconverted Series 2 Preference Shares, with 

the conversion ratio parity changing overall on a straight line between these two limits and any odd-lot 

shares being calculated on each block of shares held by separate holders.  

Failing an increase of at least 10% of the NAV per share calculated at 31 December 2018 compared 

with the NAV per share at 31 December 2013, then all the unconverted Series 2 Preference Shares will 

be converted at this date on the basis of one ordinary share for 25,000 Series 2 Preference Shares. 

c. Adjustment of the calculation for the reference NAV 

Account shall be taken of the transactions involving the Company's equity capital which occur until 31 

December 2014 and which result in a change in the number of the Company's shares by more than 5% 

(a ‘Transaction’), in order to adjust, in the event of the completion of a Transaction, the NAV per share 

at 31 December 2013, which will be replaced by the NAV resulting from the last Transaction that 

occurs. 

 

  



 

  Terreïs 2014 Annual Report 
109 

Changes to shareholder rights 

 

The rights of shareholders as indicated in the Articles of Association may only be amended by the Extraordinary 

General Meeting of the Company's shareholders. Every increase in shareholder commitments must be approved 

unanimously. 

 

 

General Meetings of Shareholders 

 Notice of meeting 

Shareholders’ meetings shall be convened in the manner and within the time limits set out in current legal provisions 

and regulations. 

 

When the Company is being wound up, Meetings shall be convened by the liquidator(s). 

 

General Meetings shall be held at the registered office or at any other location in France or abroad, as indicated in 

the notice of meeting. 

 

 Agenda 

The agenda of Meetings is determined by the person issuing the notice of meeting. 

 

One or more shareholders, representing at least the percentage of share capital required by law and acting in the 

manner and within the time limits set by law, have the right to ask for draft resolutions to be included in the Meeting’s 

agenda. 

 

The Meeting may not discuss business which is not on the agenda. Nevertheless, it may, at any time, dismiss one or 

more directors and appoint a replacement(s). 

 

 Right to information, communication and consultation of the shareholders 

 

Every shareholder has the right to information, communication and consultation on the terms and conditions and in 

the manner provided for by legal and regulatory dispositions. 

 

 Access to Meetings – Powers 

Every shareholder is entitled to attend General Meetings and to take part in the proceedings, either in person or 

through a proxy, whatever of the number of shares he/she holds. Nevertheless, the right to attend, to make a postal 

vote, or to be represented at Meetings, is subject to registration of the shares in the name of the shareholder or 

his/her authorised representative by midnight, Paris time, on the second business day prior to the Meeting, either in 

the registered share accounts kept by the Company, or in the bearer share accounts kept by the authorised 

intermediary. 

 

The Board of Directors may, if it sees fit, provide shareholders with personal named admission cards and to require 

that these cards be produced. 

 

A shareholder may be represented by another shareholder or by his/her spouse, by the partner with whom he has 

signed a civil partnership agreement or by any other natural person or legal entity of his choice. 

 

A shareholder may also send the Company a proxy form without indicating a representative. In this case, the 

Chairman of the General Meeting votes in favour of draft resolutions tabled or approved by the Board of Directors 

and against all other draft resolutions. 

 

The shareholders referred to in Article L. 228-1, paragraph 7, of the French Commercial Code may be represented by 

an intermediary registered on the terms and conditions and in the manner provided for by law. 

 

Every shareholder may submit a postal vote using a form containing the information fixed by decree. 

 

The shareholders may, on the terms and conditions and in the manner provided for by the laws and regulations, send 

their proxy form or postal voting form either in writing by post, or if permitted by the Board of Directors and indicated 

in the notice of meeting, by electronic means. 
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 Attendance sheet – Presiding officers – Minutes 

At each Meeting, an attendance sheet shall be kept containing the information prescribed by statutory and regulatory 

dispositions. 

 

This attendance sheet, initialled by the shareholders present and by the proxies, to which are attached the powers 

given to each proxy and, if applicable, the postal voting forms, shall be certified as true by the presiding officers of the 

Meeting. 

 

Meetings are chaired by the Chairman of the Board of Directors or, in his absence, by a member of the Board of 

Directors specifically appointed for this purpose by the Board. Failing this, the Meeting shall elect its own chairman. 

 

The functions of scrutineers shall be performed by the two shareholders who have the most votes, in their own name 

and as proxies, provided they are present and agree. 

 

The presiding officers, comprising the Chairman of the Meeting and the two scrutineers, shall appoint a secretary by 

a majority vote of its members. The secretary need not be a shareholder. 

 

Minutes are prepared and copies or excerpts of the deliberations are issued and certified as required by law. 

 

 Quorum – Voting 

At Ordinary and Extraordinary General Meetings, a quorum shall be calculated based on all shares comprising the 

share capital and, at Special Meetings, on all shares in the category concerned, less the shares stripped of the right 

to vote in accordance with the statutory provisions. 

 

For postal voting, only forms received by the Company at least three days prior to the Meeting shall be counted when 

calculating a quorum.  

 

Forms without instructions on how to vote or indicating abstention are considered to be negative votes. 

 

 Ordinary General Meeting 

The Ordinary General Meeting takes place at least once a year, within six (6) months of the financial year-end, to 

approve the accounts for that year. This time limit may be extended by a court decision. 

 

At first notice it only deliberates validly if the shareholders present or represented possess at least one fifth of the 

voting shares. At second notice, no quorum is required. 

 

It adopts resolutions by a simple majority of the votes of the shareholders present or represented or voting by post. 

 

 Extraordinary General Meeting 

The Extraordinary General Meeting may amend any provisions of the Articles of Association and in particular change 

the legal or commercial status of the Company. 

 

However, it may not increase the commitments of shareholders, except for transactions resulting from a reverse 

share split which has been formally authorised and executed, it being understood that shareholders’ commitments 

may be increased by unanimous decision of the shareholders themselves. 

 

The Extraordinary General Meeting may only adopt resolutions if the shareholders present or represented possess at 

least one quarter of voting shares at first notice, and one fifth at second notice. 

 

In the absence of the latter quorum, the second meeting may be postponed for no more than one month from the 

date on which it was originally convened. 

 

It adopts resolutions by a two-thirds majority of the votes of the shareholders present or represented, including the 

shareholders who voted by post. 

 

By legal derogation from the foregoing provisions, a General Meeting which resolves to authorise a capital increase 

by the incorporation of reserves, profits or share premiums, may do so on the same conditions as to quorum and 

majority as an Ordinary General Meeting. 
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Provisions of the Articles of Association, a charter or a regulation of the Company which may have the effect 

of delaying, postponing or preventing a change in its control 

 

There are no provisions of the Articles of Association, a charter or a regulation of the Company which may have the 

effect of delaying, postponing or preventing a change in its control. Nevertheless, Terreïs' shareholding structure will 

make it difficult to take control, since Jacky Lorenzetti and Ovalto Investissement control 54.38% of the equity capital. 

 

 

Crossing legal thresholds 

 

Any natural or legal person who possesses, either individually or jointly, bearer shares and who comes into 

possession of a number of shares representing a percentage of the capital or voting rights of the Company exceeding 

any of the thresholds stipulated by law, must inform the Company of the total number of shares and voting rights, and 

securities giving access to the capital or voting rights, which he holds, by registered letter, with confirmation of 

receipt, sent to the registered office within the statutory timeframe. 

 

He must also inform the French Financial Markets Authority (AMF) within the statutory timeframe. 

 

In the event of direct or indirect crossing of the threshold of 10% of the Company's capital (understood as holding 

10% or more of the rights to dividends paid by the Company), any shareholder other than an individual is required to 

indicate in its threshold crossing declaration whether or not it is a Deduction Shareholder (as defined in Article 25 of 

the Articles of Association). Should the shareholder declare that it is not a Deduction Shareholder, such shareholder 

will be required to justify this claim at the Company's request, and provide, if the Company so requests, a legal 

opinion from an internationally-renowned tax firm. Any shareholder other than an individual, having reported the 

direct or indirect crossing of the 10% threshold of the Company's capital, shall notify the Company immediately of any 

change in its tax status which might make it acquire or lose the status of Deduction Shareholder. 

 

Any individual or corporation is also required to declare, when the 10% or 20% threshold of the capital or voting rights 

is exceeded, his or its intentions for the subsequent 12 months. This declaration must indicate whether the buyer is 

acting alone or jointly, whether he plans to continue buying shares or to acquire control of the Company, or to seek 

his own appointment or that of one or more persons as a director or member of the executive committee or 

supervisory board.  

 

This declaration must be sent to the Company and to the AMF within the statutory timeframe. 

 

If the declaration is not made in accordance with the foregoing conditions, pursuant to Article L. 233-7 of the French 

Commercial Code, the right to vote at shareholders’ meetings will be forfeited for a period of two years following the 

date of submission of the proper notification in respect of shares exceeding the declaration threshold, in accordance 

with Article L. 233-1 4 of the French Commercial Code. Voting rights attached to these shares may not be exercised 

or delegated by the defaulting shareholder. 

 
If a shareholder, crossing the thresholds of 10% or 20% of the capital or voting rights, makes no declaration 

concerning his intentions for the subsequent 12 months, the defaulting shareholder shall forfeit the voting rights 

attached to the shares exceeding the declaration threshold at any shareholders’ meeting which takes place for a 

period of two years following the date of submission of the proper notification. 

 

 

Particular stipulations governing changes to the share capital 

 

There are no particular stipulations in the Company’s Articles of Association governing changes to its share capital. 
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CHAIRMAN'S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL AND CORPORATE 

GOVERNANCE 
 

 
This report is produced in accordance with Article L. 225-37, final paragraph of the French Commercial Code. It aims 
to report on: 
 

 the composition, preparation and organisation of the work of the Board of Directors; 

 the principles and rules adopted to calculate the remuneration of corporate officers; 

 the internal control and risk management procedures instituted by the Company. 

 
Composition, preparation and organisation of the works of the Board of Directors 

 

 Composition 

The Board is composed of nine (9) directors. At 31 December 2014, the Board members were: 
 

- Jacky Lorenzetti, Chairman 

- Fabrice Paget-Domet, Chief Executive Officer 

- Valérie Guillen 

- François Lepicard 

- Michelle Pédel 

- Jacques Soyer 

- Du Thi Two, represented by Yves Thibault,  

- Ovalto Investissement, represented by Olivier Froc. 

 
Each director must hold at least one share in the Company. The term of office of each director is three (3) years. 
 
The list of other appointments and directorships held by our directors can be found in the Board of Director’s 
management report. 
 
The Board of Directors must include at least two independent members specifically elected or co-opted as such 
(Middlenext recommendation). 
 
Four directors meet the criteria set out in the Middlenext code to justify the independence of Board members. They 
are Valérie Guillen, Michelle Pédel, Jacques Soyer and Yves Thibault, representing Du Thi Two. 
 
No member of the Board is currently an employee of the Company. 
 

 Organisational and operating procedures 

The Board of Directors regularly debates and rules on the Company's policy, in particular with respect to the choice of 
property acquisitions and the strategy of merging with other property companies. It also makes sure that there are no 
serious malfunctions. 
 
The Chairman or, failing this, the Chief Executive Officer, convenes the Board and directs the proceedings. 
 
Meetings are convened in writing or by email with reasonable notice. 
 
A calendar of Board meetings is produced at the start of each year so that directors can be fully informed in advance, 
although if an important matter arises which requires a decision of the Board, an emergency meeting will be called. 
 
A file describing the content of business on the agenda, prepared by the Chief Executive Officer, is sent out before 
each meeting. In addition, the Chairman will endeavour to send directors any necessary documents prior to the 
Board meeting to allow them to prepare for meetings. 
 
Decisions are taken by majority of the members present or represented. 
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 Board activities during 2014 

The Board of Directors met eight (8) times in 2014. 
 
The Statutory Auditors, properly convened, were present at meetings where the approval of the interim and annual 
accounts was on the agenda. 
 
In addition to the regular business of the Board of Directors (approval of the annual and interim accounts, 
authorisation of regulatory agreements, convocation of the shareholders’ general meeting), in 2014 the agenda of 
these meetings also included: 

- the renewal of the term of office of the Chief Executive Officer, Fabrice Paget-Domet, 

- the composition of the Audit Committee, 

- the composition of Investment Committee, 

- the implementation of the delegation of authority for the issuance of Series 2 Preference Shares, 

- the merger by absorption of the subsidiaries ‘41, avenue Friedland’ and ‘Avenue Friedland Holding’. 

 
Board meetings and decisions are recorded in minutes produced at the end of each meeting, submitted for approval 
to the Board at the next meeting and then signed by the Chairman and a director. 
 
The physical presence of members at meetings is required subject to their availability and the nature of the meetings. 
The attendance rate was 92.2%. 
 

 Special committees 

The Board has decided to enlist the help of special committees and has therefore set up an Investment Committee 
and an Audit and Risk Management Committee. 
 
The composition of the Investment Committee was changed by decision of the Board on 29 April 2014. 
 
It members are: Jacky Lorenzetti, Fabrice Paget-Domet, Olivier Froc, Jacques Soyer and Yves Thibault. 
 
It meets at least once a month to examine investment projects, their methods of implementation and any asset 
arbitrage decisions. 
 
The composition of the Audit Committee was changed by decision of the Board on 29 April 2014. 
 
It members are: François Lepicard, Valérie Guillen and Jacques Soyer. 
 
Its task is to assist the Board in: 

- the analysis of the corporate and consolidated accounts, 

- an evaluation of the internal control system, 

- an examination with the external auditors of the scope and results of their audit, 

- financial reporting. 

 
In performing its duties during the financial year 2014, the Audit Committee drew on accounting and financial 
documents comprising classic financial statements and summary notes explaining certain sections.  
 
It met four times in 2014 and received the audit report from the Statutory Auditors on the performance of their tasks 
and on the annual and interim accounts. 
 
As part of its internal control duties, the Audit Committee reviewed the changes in manual data input procedures 
currently in force using data processing software selected by Imodam for managing the properties and accounts of 
principals. 
 
The Audit Committee also met senior management to identify the operational risk factors linked to Terreïs and to 
request the preparation of risk mapping. 
 
It submitted its own report on this to the Board of Directors. 
 
Furthermore, the Investment Committee, extended to two other members of the Board of Directors, Jacques Ferranti 
and Yves Thibault, meets every fortnight to ensure the correct monitoring of: 

- the acquisition processes decided by the Investment Committee 

- any trading proposals 
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- the management of vacant premises 

- the handling of past due rents 

 
and to oversee the general organisation and subcontractors for the rental management part. It also oversees the 
smooth functioning of Terreïs Real Estate. 
 

 Restrictions on the powers of the Chief Executive Officer 

On 29 April 2014, the Board of Directors reappointed Fabrice Paget-Domet as Chief Executive Officer for the 
remaining term of his directorship, subject to the continuing separation of the offices of Chairman of the Board of 
Directors and Chief Executive Officer of the Company. 
 
The powers vested in him are those envisaged by law and by Article 17.2 of the Articles of Association, which 
stipulates that: 
 
“The Chief Executive Officer shall be fully empowered to act in any situation on behalf of the Company. He exercises 
his powers within the limits of the corporate purpose and subject to the powers expressly granted by law to Meetings 
of shareholders and to the Board of Directors. 
 
He shall represent the Company in its dealings with third parties. The Company is also bound by the acts of the Chief 
Executive Officer which are ultra vires in regard to the corporate purpose, unless it can prove that the third party was 
aware that the act exceeded this purpose or that, in view of the circumstances, the third party should have been 
aware of this. The publication of the Articles of Association is not on its own sufficient basis for such proof.” 
 
Consequently, Fabrice Paget-Domet retains all powers to make binding decisions on behalf of the Company in 
acquiring and selling real estate assets, taking out bank loans and putting in place guarantees with credit institutions. 
 
Principles and rules adopted to calculate the remuneration of corporate officers 

 
In determining the overall remuneration of executive directors, the Board of Directors must take the following 
principles into account:  

 Exhaustiveness: the determination of the remuneration of executive directors must be exhaustive: The fixed 

portion, variable portion (bonus), stock options, bonus shares, directors’ fees, pension benefits and special 

benefits must be included in the overall assessment of the remuneration. 

 Balance between the remuneration components: each remuneration component must be justified and 

correspond to the general interest of the Company. 

 Benchmark: the remuneration must be measurable, inasmuch as possible, against a reference profession 

and market and in proportion to the Company's position. 

 Consistency: the remuneration of the executive director must be determined to be consistent with that of the 

Company's other executives and employees. 

 Clarity of rules: the rules must be simple and transparent; the performance criteria used to determine the 

variable portion of the remuneration or, if applicable, for awarding stock options or bonus shares, must 

correspond to the Company's objectives, be strict, explainable and, as much as possible, constant over time. 

 Measurement: the determination of the remuneration and allocation of stock options or bonus shares must 

strike a balance and take into account the general interest of the Company, market practices and the 

performance of company directors. 

 
In the case of Terreïs, only Olivier Froc, the permanent representative of Ovalto Investissement, and Fabrice Paget-
Domet, the Chief Executive Officer, receive remuneration from the Company.  
 
The remuneration of Fabrice Paget-Domet was approved by the Board of Directors on 13 May 2008, when his gross 
basic annual pay was determined. This pay was reviewed in 2011. No performance-related pay or special benefits, 
particularly for retirement, have been stipulated. 
 
The remuneration of Olivier Froc is linked to his employment contract as Head of Financial Communications, a 
position he held prior to his appointment as permanent representative of Ovalto Investissement on the Board of 
Directors of Terreïs. 
 
The other directors receive no remuneration from the Company other than directors’ fees. 
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The management report, which is part of the registration document for the 2014 financial year prepared by 
Management, contains details of the remuneration of corporate officers in accordance with the AMF 
recommendations. 
 
Internal control and risk management procedure 

 
The Company has chosen the AMF's internal control reference framework, which states that: 
 
"Internal control is a system of the Company, defined and implemented under its responsibility, which seeks to 
ensure: 

- compliance with laws and regulations; 

- the application of instructions and guidelines set by Senior Management or the Executive Board; 

- the correct functioning of internal processes, in particular those that contribute to the safekeeping of assets; 

- the reliability of financial data (....)". 

 
The documents which Terreïs uses for its internal control are as follows: 

For commercial leases: 
French Commercial Code: 
Legislative section: Article L.145-1 to L.145-60 
Regulatory section: Article R.145-1 to R.145-33 
 

For co-ownership arrangements: 
Law 65-557 of 10 July 1965 on the co-ownership status of buildings 
Decree 67-223 of 17 March 1967 
 

For land registration: 
Decree 55-22 of 4 January 1955 
Decree 55-1350 of 14 October 1955 

 

 Company operation 

The Company operates through its Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer. The latter two are also members of the 
Investment Committee. 
 
Investment decisions are taken by the Investment Committee and are implemented by the Chief Executive Officer 
with the help of a qualified advisor. 
 
The Company also operates through the following formalised and appropriate delegations: 

- for the real estate management primarily to Imodam; 

- for the processing of accounting and financial information to Ovalto Investissement. 

 
These delegated responsibilities are recorded in formal agreements. 
 
The recording in writing of building acquisitions is provided by a Notary’s Office. 
 
Furthermore, an enlarged committee chaired by the Company’s Chairman meets each week to examine the various 
operating aspects of the Company: acquisitions, disposals, leases, lease renewals, major works (with the architect), 
property management, etc. 
 
This weekly meeting is the first level of internal control within the Company. 
 
The resources and procedures used to achieve the Company’s internal control objectives mean that the following 
major risks are covered: 
 

 Asset protection risks 

Buildings, whether owned directly or through property investment companies, are insured under a proprietary non-
occupant policy. 
 
For co-owned property, the Company confirms with the building management association that the property is insured. 
 
The Company also ensures that the tenant’s obligation under the lease to insure the rental risks has been fulfilled. 
 
In the event of major building works, the Company purchases a special general insurance policy. 
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Finally, technical inspections regularly ensure that technical installations conform to fire safety and other security 
regulations. 
 

 Internal control procedures linked to rental management  

Regular rental management is entrusted to property management companies and primarily to Imodam.  
 
Tenant risk is not insured. 
 
Rent is set by the Investment Committee and updated by the property management company, subject to the approval 
of the Company’s accredited agent. 
 

 Legal and litigation risks 

The Company’s business involves the signing of property purchase and sale agreements. These contracts are 
notarised, which makes them more secure and limits any liability for Terreïs. 
 
Compliance with environmental regulations is verified by our solicitors during each transaction. The Company uses 
accredited experts to conduct the necessary inspections and searches. 
 
The disputes, which are few, are monitored by the Chief Executive Officer, together with Imodam, and are defended 
by lawyers. 
 

 Accounting and financial procedures 

Financial and accounting information is processed by Ovalto Investissement. Accordingly, each quarter, property 
management companies send accounting data relating to asset management to the accounts department concerned, 
which is then responsible for preparing the Company’s separate accounts as well as the consolidated accounts. 
 
The Company's financial statements are prepared in accordance with the rules and principles of IFRS. 
 
Each account closing is reviewed by General Management, particularly for the following two aspects: 

- budget 

- consistency between rent charged and leases. 

 
The group’s consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with the rules and principles of IFRS. 
Since nearly all companies within the area of consolidation are wholly owned by Terreïs and are involved in the same 
business activity, these companies are fully consolidated. 
 
All group entities use the same reporting system and, like Terreïs, their financial statements are prepared by the 
accounts department of Ovalto Investissement to ensure uniform accounting treatment. 
 
The corporate and consolidated accounts are reviewed every six months (limited audit) and 12 months (full audit) by 
the statutory auditors. 
 
They are also examined by the Audit Committee. 
 

 Financial Disclosure 

This is the responsibility of the Chief Executive Officer, who checks the information prior to its release.  
 
Regulatory information is used to draw up a provisional calendar for the market. 
 
Each year the Company produces a Registration Document. 
 
 

The Chairman of the Board  
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AUDITOR’S REPORT PREPARED IN ACCORDANCE WITH ARTICLE L. 

225-235 OF THE FRENCH COMMERCIAL CODE 
 

 

To the Shareholders, 

In our capacity as Statutory Auditors of Terreïs and in accordance with Article L. 225-235 of the French Commercial 
Code, we hereby present our report on the report prepared by the Chairman of your Company in accordance with 
Article L. 225-37 of the French Commercial Code for the year ended 31 December 2014. 
 
It is the Chairman’s responsibility to prepare and submit for the Board of Directors’ approval a report on internal 
control and risk management procedures implemented by the Company and to provide other information required by 
Article L. 225-37 of the French Commercial Code relating to matters such as corporate governance. 
 
Our role is to: 

• report to you our observations on information contained in the Chairman’s report in respect of internal 
control and risk management procedures relating to the preparation and processing of accounting and 
financial information, and 

• confirm that this report also includes the other information required by Article L. 225-37 of the French 
Commercial Code. It should be noted that our role is not to verify the fairness of this other information. 

 
We performed our audit in accordance with the professional standards applicable in France. 
 
Information on internal control and risk management procedures relating to the preparation and processing 
of accounting and financial information 

 
The professional standards require that we perform the necessary procedures to assess the fairness of the 
information provided in the Chairman’s report in respect of internal control and risk management procedures relating 
to the preparation and processing of accounting and financial information. These measures specifically consist of: 

• obtaining an understanding of the internal control and risk management procedures relating to the 
preparation and processing of accounting and financial information underlying the information presented in 
the Chairman’s report, in addition to the existing documentation; 

• obtaining an understanding of the work involved in the preparation of this information and of the existing 
documentation; 

• determining whether the major shortcomings in internal controls and risk management relating to the 
preparation and processing of accounting and financial information which we highlighted during the audit 
were appropriately communicated in the Chairman's report. 

 
On the basis of our audit, we have nothing to report on the information in respect of the Company’s internal control 
and risk management procedures relating to the preparation and processing of the accounting and financial 
information contained in the report prepared by the Chairman of the Board of Directors in accordance with Article L. 
225-37 of the French Commercial Code. 
 
Other information 

 
We confirm that the report prepared by the Chairman of the Board of Directors also contains other information 
required by Article L. 225-37 of the French Commercial Code. 
 

Signed at Neuilly-sur-Seine and Paris, on 30 March 2015 

Statutory Auditors 

DELOITTE & ASSOCIES SOFIDEEC BAKER TILLY 

Christophe POSTEL-VINAY Jean-Fabrice SUBIAS            Pierre FAUCON 
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AUDITORS' REPORT ON REGULATORY AGREEMENTS  
 

 

To the Shareholders, 

In our capacity as your Company’s Statutory Auditors, we present to you our report on regulatory agreements and 

commitments. 

Our duties include reporting to you, on the basis of the information at our disposal, on the characteristics and 

essential terms of the agreements of which we have been informed, or which we discovered during our audit, without 

expressing an opinion concerning their usefulness and validity or searching for the existence of any such agreements 

and commitments. It is your responsibility, pursuant to Article R. 225-31 of the French Commercial Code, to assess 

the value of entering into these agreements and commitments in order for you to approve them.  

 

It is also our duty, if necessary, to provide you with the information provided in Article R. 225-31 of the French 

Commercial Code on the performance of agreements and commitments during the year under review that have 

already been approved by the General Meeting. 

 

We also carried out the necessary investigation in accordance with the professional guidelines of the French Institute 

of Statutory Auditors (Compagnie nationale des commissaires aux comptes). This consisted of verifying that the 

information given to us tallied with the original documents. 

 

I - AGREEMENTS AND COMMITMENTS SUBJECT TO THE APPROVAL OF THE GENERAL MEETING 

Agreements and commitments authorised during the period just ended 

 

Pursuant to Article L.225-40 of the French Commercial Code, we have been informed about the agreements and 

commitments, which received prior authorisation from your Board of Directors. 

 Subordination agreement concluded with OVALTO INVESTISSEMENT: 

Persons concerned 

Jacky Lorenzetti: Chairman of the Board of Directors of TERREÏS and Chairman of OVALTO INVESTISSEMENT. 

Furthermore, this is an agreement in which OVALTO INVESTISSEMENT, shareholder with more than 10% of your 

company's voting rights, is directly interested. 

Nature and purpose 

Agreement, the main purpose of which is to organise between: 

- NATIXIS and LCL - LE CREDIT LYONNAIS and CREDIT FONCIER DE FRANCE, as lenders to TERREÏS, 

- OVALTO INVESTISSEMENT, 

- and any other person who may become a party to the agreement on the terms set out in the Subordination 

Agreement,  

the methods for exercising their respective rights as creditors of TERREÏS, by providing that the sums owed under 

the Loan Agreement to be regularised with TERREÏS shall be paid and reimbursed, in priority, preference and 

precedence to the sums owed to OVALTO INVESTISSEMENT or to any other person who might become a party to 

the Subordination Agreement. 

Authorisation date 

Board of Directors of 8 October 2014. 

Date of signature 

The agreement was signed on 21 October 2014. 
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Terms and conditions 

The agreement is valid until full reimbursement of the sums owed under the loan; it was not made in return for any 

fee. 

This agreement had no impact on financial year 2014. 

 Agreement to buy a property asset signed with SCI 35 RUE HOUDAN: 

Persons concerned 

Jacky Lorenzetti: Chairman of the Board of Directors of TERREÏS, and Manager and 50% shareholder in the capital 

of SCI 35 RUE HOUDAN. 

Nature and purpose 

Acquisition of property assets and rights located at SCEAUX (92330) - 35, rue Houdan from SCI 35 RUE HOUDAN. 

Authorisation date 

Board of Directors of 22 September 2014. 

Date of signature 

The agreement was signed on 11 December 2014. 

Terms and conditions 

The acquisition was completed on 11 December 2014 at a price of €2,900,000 which corresponds to the valuation 

made by BNP PARIBAS REAL ESTATE. 

II - AGREEMENTS AND COMMITMENTS ALREADY APPROVED BY THE GENERAL MEETING 

Agreements and commitments approved in prior fiscal years that continued to be implemented during the 

year 

Pursuant to the provisions of Article R. 225-30 of the French Commercial Code, we were informed that the execution 

of the agreements below, already approved by the General Meeting during the previous fiscal years, continued during 

the last fiscal year. 

 Market-making agreement signed with Ovalto Investissement: 

Persons concerned 

Jacky Lorenzetti: Chairman of the Board of Directors of TERREÏS and Chairman of OVALTO INVESTISSEMENT. 

Furthermore, this is an agreement in which OVALTO INVESTISSEMENT, shareholder with more than 10% of your 

company's voting rights, is directly interested. 

 

Nature and purpose 

A market-making agreement was signed with OVALTO INVESTISSEMENT defining its role, its duties to be 

performed on behalf of TERREÏS, and the manner in which it will be performed.  

This agreement was authorised by the Board of Directors on 03 January 2007.  

Terms and conditions 

The duties are carried out by OVALTO INVESTISSEMENT, with the assistance of its strategic committee.  

The agreement was signed for an indefinite period commencing on 29 December 2006; it was not made in return for 

any fee.   

 Collateral transfer agreement signed with OVALTO INVESTISSEMENT 

Persons concerned 

Jacky Lorenzetti: Chairman of the Board of Directors of TERREÏS and Chairman of OVALTO INVESTISSEMENT. 

Furthermore, this is an agreement in which OVALTO INVESTISSEMENT, shareholder with more than 10% of your 

company's voting rights, is directly interested. 
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Nature and purpose 

OVALTO INVESTISSEMENT transferred to your Company the benefit of all the declarations and warranties granted 

by the transferors of DAB EXPANSION. Accordingly, your Company undertakes to bear the expenses and honour 

the obligations undertaken by OVALTO INVESTISSEMENT towards the transferors as earn-out on the acquisition 

price of DAB EXPANSION which was taken over by the Company on 10 January 2011. 

This agreement was authorised by the Board of Directors on 21 January 2011.  

Terms and conditions 

This agreement had no impact on financial year 2014. 

 

 

Signed at Neuilly-sur-Seine and Paris, on 30 March 2015 

Statutory Auditors 

DELOITTE & ASSOCIES SOFIDEEC BAKER TILLY 

Christophe POSTEL-VINAY Jean-Fabrice SUBIAS            Pierre FAUCON 
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THIRD PARTY INFORMATION, STATEMENT BY EXPERTS AND 

DECLARATIONS OF ANY INTEREST 
 

The portfolio of the Company and its subsidiaries is valued each year by an independent expert, BNP Paribas Real 

Estate. Only one independent expert was selected to avoid the risk of significant differences between the individual 

valuations of each property. 

 

The valuations carried out are consistent with French industry standards enshrined in the Property Valuation Charter 

(Charte de l’Expertise en Evaluation Immobilière), drawn up under the aegis of the French Property Valuation 

Institute (IFEI), as well as the joint recommendations of the CNC/COB (February 2000). The valuations also comply 

with European TEGoVA standards and the principles of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (RICS). 

 

The methods used by BNP PARIBAS REAL ESTATE to value the property were as follows: 

- capitalisation of rental income: this method consists of applying a yield to actual or expected rent, taking into 

account the current level of rent compared with the corresponding market rental values. The yield is based on 

observations of rates applied on the property market; 

- by direct comparison with similar cases obtained from a study of transactions on the market. 

 

These two methods are not equally suited to each property: the method used depends on the type of property and its 

occupancy. The first method is more suited to the valuation of properties purchased by investors, where the primary 

concern is to obtain optimum return on invested capital. 

 

This can come from two sources: 

- steady rental yield; 

- long-term capital growth. 

 

Depending on their exact requirements, investors can opt for one or the other of these two components, bearing in 

mind that as a rule, rental yield is higher when long-term growth is less certain. 

 

Consequently, this method is mainly suited to commercial property (offices, warehouses, retail outlets, etc.) where 

the yield is generally higher, and where occupants avoid tying up cash in purchases wherever possible. It is also 

suited to certain types of residential apartment building. 

 

Generally the direct comparison method is better for residential premises, as it is more geared towards this market, 

regardless of whether potential buyers are property traders, users or developers, if the land value of the property 

makes it worthwhile. 

 

However, in many cases the two methods can be combined to produce a mid-range value which best reflects market 

trends. 

 

The various properties were valued by BNP Paribas Real Estate by considering each property in isolation. These 

valuations therefore differ from those in which the value of each unit in a building is calculated individually (since a 

block value is always less than the individual price). 

 

In return for its work, BNP Paribas Real Estate charged the Company €120,869 in fees excluding tax (compared with 

€77,519 in 2013). Please note that for the financial year ended 31 December 2014, Terreïs has carried out two 

valuations of its entire real estate portfolio, one at 30 June 2014 to prepare its interim position and other at 31 

December 2014 for its annual closing. 

 

Only the assets of Terreïs were valued by BNP Paribas Real Estate; the assets of Terreïs Valorisation were excluded 

from the valuation. 
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The yield of the asset portfolio, based on 2014 valuations, is as follows: 
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DOCUMENTS ON DISPLAY 
 

Copies of this registration document are available free of charge from the Company, as well as on the websites of 

Terreïs (http://www.terreis.fr) and the AMF (http://www.amf-france.org). 

 

All legal and financial documents relating to the Company and made available to shareholders under current 

regulations and the corporate governance charter can be consulted at the Company’s administrative headquarters at 

11, avenue Paul Langevin, Le Plessis Robinson 92350, France. 

 

In accordance with Article 28 of European Commission (EC) Regulation no. 809/2004 of 24 April 2014, the following 

information is incorporated by reference into this registration document: 

 The corporate and consolidated accounts for the year ended 31 December 2012, their analysis and the 

corresponding Statutory Auditors’ reports, which can be found in the 2012 registration document filed under 

number D.13-0355 with the AMF on 15 April 2013; 

 The corporate and consolidated accounts for the financial year ended 31 December 2013, their analysis and 

the corresponding Statutory Auditors’ reports, which can be found in the 2013 registration document filed 

under number D.14-0288 with the AMF on 4 April 2014. 

 

 

http://www.terreis.fr/
http://www.amf-france.org/
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AUDITORS 
 

The Company's Statutory Auditors are SOFIDEEC BAKER TILLY, whose appointment expires at the General 

Meeting convened to approve the financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2017 and DELOITTE ET 

ASSOCIES whose appointment expires at the General Meeting convened to approve the financial statements for the 

year ended 31 December 2018. 

 

Statutory Auditors: 

 

SOFIDEEC BAKER TILLY 

Represented by Pierre FAUCON and Jean-Fabrice SUBIAS 

138, Boulevard Haussmann 

75008 Paris 

 

Date appointed: 17 April 2000 

 

DELOITTE ET ASSOCIES 

Represented by Christophe POSTEL-VINAY  

Article III. 185, avenue Charles de Gaulle 

Article IV. 92200 NEUILLY SUR SEINE 

 

Date appointed: 14 May 2013 

 

 

 

Alternate Statutory Auditors: 

 

Jean-Loïc LEFAUCHEUX 

26, allée des Chênes 

69280 MARCY L’ETOILE 

 

Date appointed: 10 May 2012 

 

BEAS 

195 avenue Charles de Gaulle 

92200 NEUILLY SUR SEINE 

 

Date appointed: 14 May 2013 
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DECLARATION BY THE PERSON RESPONSIBLE FOR THE 

REGISTRATION DOCUMENT 
 

"Having made every reasonable effort in this respect, I hereby certify that the information contained in this registration 

document is, to the best of my knowledge, true and complete and free from any material misstatement. 

 

I certify that to my knowledge the accounts have been prepared in accordance with applicable accounting standards 

and provide a true reflection of the real estate portfolio, financial position and earnings of Terreïs and of all its 

consolidated companies, and that the management report accurately reflects the changes in business operations, 

earnings and financial position of Terreïs and of all its consolidated companies in addition to a description of the 

major risks and uncertainties they have to deal with. 

 

I have received a letter from the statutory auditors in which they confirm that they have verified the information 

relating to the financial position and accounts contained in this document and that they have reviewed the entire 

document." 

 

 

 

 

Fabrice Paget-Domet 

Chief Executive Officer 
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TABLE OF CONCORDANCE 
 

Commission Regulation (EC) No 809/2004 of 29 April 2004 

 

 Registration document headings  

1 PERSONS RESPONSIBLE  

1.1 Name and title of the persons responsible for the registration document 125 

1.2 Certification of the registration document by the persons responsible 125 

2 STATUTORY AUDITORS  

2.1 Names and addresses of the issuer’s auditors 124 

2.2 If auditors have resigned, been removed or not been re-appointed during the 

period covered by the historical financial information, indicate details of this 

information if it is material 

Not applicable. 

3 SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION  

3.1 Selected historical financial information regarding the issuer, presented for each 

financial year for the period covered by the historical financial information, and 

any subsequent interim financial period, in the same currency as the financial 

information. 

8, 12 to 17 

3.2 If selected financial information for interim periods is provided, comparative data 

from the same period in the prior financial year must also be provided 

Not applicable. 

4 RISK FACTORS 31 to 38, 58 to 61 

5 INFORMATION ABOUT THE ISSUER  

5.1 History and development of the Company 6 

5.1.1 Legal and commercial name of the issuer 101 

5.1.2 Place of registration of the issuer and its registration number 101 

5.1.3 Date of incorporation and the length of life of the issuer 101 

5.1.4 Registered office and legal form of the issuer, the legislation under which the 

issuer operates, its country of incorporation, and the address and telephone 

number of its registered office (or principal place of business if different from its 

registered office) 

101 

5.1.5 Important events in the development of the issuer's business 12, 61 and 82 

5.2 Investments  

5.2.1 Description (including the amount) of the issuer's principal investments for each 

financial year for the period covered by the historical financial information up to 

the date of the registration document 

12, 61 and 82 

5.2.2 Description of the issuer’s principal investments that are in progress Not applicable. 

5.2.3 Information concerning the issuer's principal future investments on which its 

management bodies have already made firm commitments 

Not applicable. 

6 BUSINESS OVERVIEW  

6.1 Principal activities  

6.1.1 Nature of the issuer’s operations and its principal activities 6, 12 to 17, 53 to 58 

6.1.2 Any significant new products and/or services that have been introduced Not applicable. 

6.2 Principal markets 6, 13 and 62 

6.3 Description of any unusual events that influenced the information provided under 

sections 6.1 and 6.2  

Not applicable. 

6.4 If material to the issuer's business or profitability, summary information regarding 

the extent to which the issuer is dependent on patents or licences, industrial, 

commercial or financial contracts or new manufacturing processes 

41 

6.5 The basis for any statements made by the issuer regarding its competitive 

position 

6 

7 ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE  

7.1 Brief description of the group and the issuer's position within the group 7 

7.2 List of the issuer’s significant subsidiaries 7, 62 and 86 
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8 PROPERTY, PLANTS AND EQUIPMENT  

8.1 Existing or planned material tangible fixed assets, including leased properties, 

and any major encumbrances thereon 

13 to 14, 66 to 67 and 

85 

8.2 Environmental issues that may affect the issuer’s use of the tangible fixed assets 41 to 42 

9 OPERATING INCOME AND FINANCIAL REVIEW  

9.1 Financial position 16 to 17 

9.2 Operating income  

9.2.1 Significant factors materially affecting the issuer's income from operations 16 to 17 

9.2.2 Reasons for material changes in net sales or revenues 12 to 17, 47, 62 to 63, 

77, 82 to 83 

9.2.3 Any governmental, economic, financial, monetary or political policies or factors 

that have materially affected, or could materially affect, directly or indirectly, the 

issuer's operations 

31 to 38, 58 to 61 

10 CAPITAL RESOURCES  

10.1 Information about the issuer’s capital resources (both short and long term) 51 

10.2 Sources and amounts of the issuer's cash flows and a description of the cash 

flows  

50 

10.3 Information on the borrowing requirements and funding structure of the issuer  14 to 15, 69 to 70, 89 

to 91 

10.4 Information regarding any restrictions on the use of capital resources that have 

materially affected, or could materially affect, directly or indirectly, the operations 

of the issuer 

Not applicable. 

10.5 Information regarding the anticipated sources of funds needed to fulfil 

commitments referred to in items 5.2.3 and 8.1 

Not applicable. 

11 RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT, PATENTS AND LICENCES 41 

12 TREND INFORMATION  

12.1 The most significant recent trends in production, sales and inventory, and costs  

and selling prices since the end of the last financial year to the date of the 

registration document 

12 to 17 

12.2 Known trends, uncertainties, demands, commitments or events that are 

reasonably likely to have a material effect on the issuer's prospects,  at least for 

the current financial year 

Not applicable. 

13 PROFIT FORECASTS OR ESTIMATES Not applicable. 

13.1 A statement setting out the principal assumptions underlying the issuer's forecast 

or estimate 

 

13.2 A report prepared by independent accountants or auditors stating that, in the 

opinion of the independent accountants or auditors, the forecast or estimate has 

been properly compiled on the basis stated and that the basis of accounting used 

for the profit forecast or estimate is consistent with the accounting policies of the 

issuer 

 

13.3 Profit forecast or estimate prepared on a basis comparable with the historical 

financial information 

 

13.4 Statement setting out whether or not that forecast is still correct as at the time of 

the registration document, and an explanation of why such a forecast is no longer 

valid if that is the case 

 

14 ADMINISTRATIVE, MANAGEMENT, AND SUPERVISORY BODIES AND 

SENIOR MANAGEMENT 

 

14.1 Identification of corporate officers 24 to 30, 112 

14.2 Conflicts of interest concerning administrative, management, supervisory bodies 

and senior management 

24 
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15 REMUNERATION AND BENEFITS  

15.1 The amount of remuneration paid (including any contingent or deferred 

compensation), and benefits in kind granted by the issuer and its subsidiaries for 

services of all kinds provided to them by corporate officers 

25 to 26, 75 and 95 

15.2 The total amount set aside or accrued by the issuer or its subsidiaries to provide 

pension, retirement or similar benefits 

Not applicable. 

16 BOARD PRACTICES  

16.1 Date of expiration of the current term of office, if applicable, and the period during 

which the person has served in that office 

24 

16.2 Information about the service contracts binding members of the administrative, 

management or supervisory bodies to the issuer or any of its subsidiaries and 

providing for benefits upon termination of such a contract, or an appropriate 

negative statement 

39 to 40, 75 and 95 

16.3 Information about the issuer's audit committee and remuneration committee, 

including the names of committee members and a summary of the terms of 

reference under which the committees operate 

104 and 113 

16.4 A statement as to whether or not the issuer complies with the corporate 

governance regime of its country of incorporation. In the event that the issuer 

does not comply with such a regime, the statement must be accompanied by an 

explanation 

102 

17 EMPLOYEES  

17.1 Number of employees at the end of the period or the average for each financial 

year for the period covered by the historical financial information up to the date of 

the registration document (changes in such numbers, if material) and, if possible 

and material, a breakdown of persons employed by main category of activity and 

site. If the issuer employs a significant number of temporary employees, average 

number of temporary employees during the most recent financial year 

42 to 43, 63 and 83 

17.2 Shareholdings and stock options Not applicable. 

17.3 Description of any arrangements for involving the employees in the capital of the 

issuer 

Not applicable. 

18 MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS  

18.1 Insofar as is known to the issuer, the name of any person other than a member of 

the administrative, management or supervisory bodies who, directly or indirectly, 

has an interest in the issuer’s capital or voting rights which is notifiable under the 

issuer's national law, together with the amount of each such person’s interest or, if 

there are no such persons, an appropriate negative statement 

21 

18.2 Different voting rights, or an appropriate negative statement 20 and 107 

18.3 To the extent known to the issuer, state whether the issuer is directly or indirectly 

owned or controlled and by whom; describe the nature of such control and the 

measures in place to ensure that such control is not abused 

21 

18.4 A description of any arrangements, known to the issuer, the operation of which 

may at a subsequent date result in a change in control of the issuer 

22 

19 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 30 to 40 

20 FINANCIAL INFORMATION CONCERNING THE ISSUER’S ASSETS AND 

LIABILITIES, FINANCIAL POSITION AND PROFITS AND LOSSES 

 

20.1 Historical financial information 8 

20.2 Pro forma financial information Not applicable. 

20.3 Financial statements  47 to 75, 77 to 97 

20.4 Auditing of historical annual financial information  

20.4.1 A statement that the historical financial information has been audited 38 to 39, 68 

20.4.2 Other information in the registration document which has been verified by the 

Statutory Auditors. 

Not applicable. 

20.4.3 Where financial data in the registration document is not extracted from the 

issuer's audited financial statements, state the source of the data and specify that 

the data is unaudited 

Not applicable. 

20.5 Date of latest financial information 125 
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20.6 Interim and other financial information  Not applicable. 

20.7 Dividend distribution policy / historic information  18 and 101 

20.8 Legal and arbitration proceedings  35 

20.9 Significant change in the issuer’s financial or trading position 12 to 17 

21 ADDITIONAL INFORMATION  

21.1 Share capital  

21.1.1 Amount of paid up capital  20 

21.1.2 Shares not representing capital  Not applicable. 

21.1.3 Shares in the issuer held by or on behalf of the issuer itself or by its subsidiaries  21, 34, 66 and 68 

21.1.4 The amount of any convertible or exchangeable securities, or securities with 

warrants, with an indication of the conditions governing and the procedures for 

conversion, exchange or subscription 

Not applicable. 

21.1.5 Information about the terms of any acquisition rights and/or obligations over 

authorised but unissued capital or an undertaking to increase the capital 

22 

21.1.6 Information about the capital of any member of the group which is under option or 

agreed conditionally or unconditionally to be put under option and details of such 

options including those persons to whom such options relate 

Not applicable. 

21.1.7 A history of the share capital, highlighting information about any changes, for the 

period covered by the historical financial information 

20, 68 and 89 

21.2 Memorandum and Articles of Association  

21.2.1 A description of the issuer’s objects and purposes  101 

21.2.2 A summary of any provisions of the issuer's Memorandum and Articles of 

Association, charter or regulations with respect to the members of the 

administrative, management and supervisory bodies 

102 to 106 

21.2.3 Rights, preferences and restrictions attaching to each class of the existing shares  107 to 108 

21.2.4 A description of what action is necessary to change the rights of the shareholders, 

indicating where the conditions are stricter than is required by law 

109 

21.2.5 A description of the conditions governing the manner in which annual general 

meetings and extraordinary general meetings of shareholders are called, 

including the conditions of admission 

109 to 111 

21.2.6 A brief description of any provision of the issuer's Memorandum and Articles of 

Association, charter or regulations that would have the effect of delaying, 

deferring or preventing a change in control of the issuer 

111 

21.2.7 An indication of the Memorandum and Articles of Association, charter or 

regulations, if any, governing the ownership threshold above which shareholder 

ownership must be disclosed 

111 

21.2.8 A description of the conditions imposed by the Memorandum and Articles of 

Association, charter or regulations governing changes in the capital, where such 

conditions are more  stringent than is required by law 

Not applicable. 

22 MATERIAL CONTRACTS 39 to 40 

23 THIRD PARTY INFORMATION AND STATEMENT BY EXPERTS AND 

DECLARATIONS OF ANY INTEREST 

 

23.1 Statement or report attributed to a person in their capacity as an expert 121 to 122 

23.2 Information from a third party Not applicable. 

24 DOCUMENTS ON DISPLAY 123 

25 INFORMATION ON HOLDINGS 62, 94 to 95 

 

 


